

Faculty of Law

Master's Degree Program: International and European Studies

Specialisation: European Law Academic Year: 2020-2021

Dissertation Konstantia Diamantopoulou R.N.: 7340012020003

Content and Role of the Rule of Law Mechanism in the EU Legal Order

Supervising Committee:

Revekka - Emmanuela Papadopoulou, Associate Professor, NKUA Metaxia Kouskouna, Assistant Professor, NKUA Emmanouil Perakis, Assistant Professor, NKUA

Copyright © [Konstantia Diamantopoulou, 2021] Με επιφύλαξη παντός δικαιώματος. All rights reserved. Απαγορεύεται η αντιγραφή, αποθήκευση και διανομή της παρούσας εργασίας, εξ ολοκλήρου ή τμήματος αυτής, για εμπορικό σκοπό. Επιτρέπεται η ανατύπωση, αποθήκευση και διανομή για σκοπό μη κερδοσκοπικό, εκπαιδευτικής ή ερευνητικής φύσης, υπό την προϋπόθεση να αναφέρεται η πηγή προέλευσης και να διατηρείται το παρόν μήνυμα.

Οι απόψεις και θέσεις που περιέχονται σε αυτήν την εργασία εκφράζουν τον συγγραφέα και δεν πρέπει να ερμηνευθεί ότι αντιπροσωπεύουν τις επίσημες θέσεις του Εθνικού και Καποδιστριακού

Πανεπιστημίου Αθηνών.

Table of Contents

List of abbreviations5
Abstract8
Introduction9
Part A. The EU Rule of Law Mechanism: Origins, Differentiations and Correlations between
its variants
Chapter I. The 'Stricto Sensu' EU Rule of Law Mechanism: Art. 7 TEU, the pre-Article 7
Commission Framework and the novel European Rule of Law Mechanism15
Paragraph 1. The path towards a political lever to regulate coherence in the EU15
Paragraph 2. The Preventive Arm – Monitoring in the Rule of Law Mechanism in the EU22
Paragraph 3. The Corrective Arm – The Nature of Sanctions
Chapter II. The EU Rule of Law Mechanism Lato Sensu
Paragraph 1. The intervention of the judiciary in safeguarding the rule of law in the EU33
Paragraph 2. The role of the infringement procedure in upholding the rule of law in the EU.39
Paragraph3. Judicial Independence as moving force of the EU Rule of Law Mechanism43
Part B. The effectiveness of the EU Mechanism in the Rule of Law Backsliding in Recent Years
Chapter I. Recent Cases of Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU and the Role of the Stricto Sensu
Mechanism47
Paragraph 1. The historic roots of the problem
Paragraph 2. The effectiveness of the Article 7 mechanism in the cases of Hungary and
Poland54
Paragraph 3. The role of sanctions in the cases of Hungary and Poland60
Chapter II. The effects of the judicial procedures of Articles 258 and 267 TFEU in the rule of law
crisis in the EU68
Paragraph 1. The use of the infringement procedure in the case of Hungary68
Paragraph 2. The importance of the principle of judicial independence in the Case of Poland
76
Paragraph 3. The way forward83

Tables	90
Bibliography	92

List of Abbreviations

AG Advocate General

Art. Article

ASJP Associação Sindical dos Juízes Portugueses

CEE Central Eastern Europe

CEU Central European University

CFSP Common Foreign and Security Policy

CJEU Court of Justice of the European Union

CoE Council of Europe

CVM Cooperation and Verification Mechanism

EAW European Arrest Warrant

ECHR European Convention on Human Rights

ECR European Conservatives and Reformists (Party)

ECtHR European Court of Human Rights

EEA European Economic Area

EFRIS EU Fundamental Rights Information System

EMU Economic and Monetary Union

ENCJ European Network of Councils for the Judiciary

EP European Parliament

EPP European People's Party

EU European Union

FRA Fundamental Rights Agency

GATS General Agreement on Trade in Services

IGC Inter – governmental Conference

MEP Member of the European Parliament

MFF Multiannual Financial Framework

MS(s) Member State(s)

NCJ National Council for the Judiciary

NGEU New Generation EU Fund

NGO Non-Governmental Organisation

OSCE Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe

PM Prime Minister

RQMV Reverse Qualified Majority Voting

TEU Treaty of the European Union

TFEU Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union

UN United Nations

UNHCR United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees

WTO World Trade Organization

"Laws are like spiders webs which, if anything small falls into them they ensnare it, but large things break through and escape"

Plutarch Parallel Lives "Solon", bk. 5, sect. 2

Abstract

This dissertation attempts to determine what the rule of law means in the context of EU law and how it is implemented throughout the Union. It takes a genealogical approach to establish the roots behind the 'transplantation' of this legal concept in the EU and aims at making a clear distinction between the branches of the mechanism the Union has developed in order to create a coherent rule of law 'line' in all expressions of its legal order. This distinction is based on the perception that there exists a stricto sensu rule of law mechanism, in which the original intention of the Member States is found in Article 7 TEU and the relevant soft law instruments developed to accompany it, and a lato sensu rule of law mechanism which includes the legal means that the Treaties provided for pressuring Member States to abide by the rules of the Union and specifically the infringement procedure of Article 258 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union. Their difference is mostly based on the width of the notions, since Article 7 TEU is directed towards specifically violations of EU values and therefore of the rule of law, while Article 258 TFEU is a procedure targeting all types of violations of EU law, including secondary law. It focuses on this duality and on the implementation of the different procedures, their effectiveness and the underlying contrast between the sovereignty of the MSs and the administrative powers of the EU.

Introduction

The legal concept of the Rule of Law (Rechtsstaat) firstly came up in the late 18th - early 19th century in German legal theory. It was defined by its contrast to: a) despotism, a system in which the will of the sovereign generates obligations for all members of society and it is actually equivalent to public authority and b) to the police state (Polizeistaat) where there is no difference between general rules (laws) and coincidental, conditional and local decisions of public authority (administrative measures) as far as their effect is concerned¹. As a result, in a state governed by the rule of law, the imperative aspect of public authority is the "will" of the law and not of the sovereign, its acts are valid only if they are provided by law and there is a difference in value and effect between general rules, laws, which are acts of sovereignty per se and individual decisions of public authority².

In the second half of the 19th century, there was an evolution of the rule of law, which contained institutional protection of citizens against public authority. As the state is subject to the rule of law, it is bound to respect the rights of the individual, which are prior and superior to those of the state³. The protection was to be provided by judicial institutions thus the problem of administrative courts emerged⁴. For some the creation and use of administrative courts was an imperative feature of the rule of law while for others and specifically for English scholars they could not be part of the rule of law as they descend from executive power hence they could not judge impartially. Subsequently, citizens should turn to ordinary justice for a remedy against arbitrary state acts⁵. Albert Van Dicey, one of the jurists who shared the view that administrative justice cannot be part of the rule of law was also the first in the English legal literature to define it in his 'Introduction to the Study of the Law of the Constitution (1885)'as the supremacy of law against arbitrary decisions and acts of the government⁶.

On the other hand, the French état de droit had an approach based on the validity of the choices of the parliament and thus gave an almost sacred character to the laws adopted by it (influenced by Rousseau) which could not be reviewed by a judge⁷. This remained a structural scheme for the French state until the Fifth French Republic (1958-now) during which the Conseil Constitutionnel gave binding legal force to the Declaration of the Rights of Man and the Preambles of the Constitution in order to protect the fundamental rights, which were infringed by statutory law⁸.

The German Rechtsstaat was a term primarily used to describe organized living in a community where all its members are protected and free to exercise their powers⁹. At the end of the

¹ Foucault, M. 2012. *The Birth of Biopolitics: Lectures at the College de France (1978—1979)* Athens: Plethron pp. 160-161

² Ibid.

³ Letourneur, M. and Drago, R. 1958. "The Rule of Law as Understood in France", *The American Journal Of Comparative Law*. Vol. 7 No. 2: p 147

⁴ Foucault, M. 2012. The Birth of Biopolitics: Lectures at the College de France (1978—1979) Athens: Plethron. p. 162

⁵ Ibid. pp. 162-163

⁶ Pech, L. 2003. Rule of law in France. In: Peenerboom, R. Asian Discourses of Rule of Law: Theories and implementation of rule of law in twelve Asian countries, France and the U.S. London: Routledge. p. 79

⁷ Ibid. p. 85

⁸ Ibid. p. 89-92

⁹ A definition provided by German jurist Robert Van Mohl

19th century, the term changed to a notion closer to the principle of legality according to which both the legislative and executive power's actions must have a basis in the law for them to be valid 10. For such an action to be lawful, it would also have to be made by the competent authority in the proper manner, reflecting the separation of powers, which is encompassed in the rule of law.

Another important component to the rule of law is legal certainty. This principle concerns the characteristics of the law and the containment of the legislative power. In a broad sense, it demands that laws are clear and specific enough so that they can guide a citizen's life¹¹. According to Joseph Raz, a law, which produces legal certainty and therefore abides by the rule of law, must be stable, not retrospective, guided by clear general rules and interpreted by an independent judge to whom access is available and not by a law enforcement instrument (whose discretion should be limited by the need to protect the purpose of the legal rule)¹².

However, all the aforementioned principles and characteristics of the rule of law are formal prerequisites and not substantial, meaning they are not concerned with the content of the law. Therefore, a law produced within the limits of the competence of the legislative institution, which is sufficiently clear and stable, is not necessarily just. Ronald Dworkin presented a perception, which merged the formal lines that run through the rule of law with substantive justice on a rights-based approach¹³. Similarly, Lord Bingham included the element of "fairness" in the rule of law as a tool of limiting state powers through essential principles like equality ¹⁴.

It is interesting to note that the substantive element of the rule of law, which demands protection for fundamental rights forms part of political discourse and has gradually become a component of what is widely perceived as democratic governance despite it being a legal notion and principle¹⁵. This perhaps is because it is also perceived at many levels, as a value, if values are to be understood as a figure of a societal model and not entirely as a legal structural tool.

This is partially reflected in the mechanisms the European Union has employed to guarantee the functioning of the rule of law in its MSs. As it shall be demonstrated below, the enforceability of EU values has been a debated topic, considering that the core mechanism of Article 7 of the Treaty of the European Union, which obligates MS to comply with the values depicted in Article 2 TEU (including the rule of law) is a highly political mechanism, whereas when other legal EU tools are used there emerges some doubt as to how could the Court of Justice of the European Union implement values.

¹⁰ Craig, P. 2019. Definition and Conceptualisation of the Rule of Law and the Role of Judicial Independence therein. In: Craig, P et al. Rule of Law in Europe Perspectives from Practitioners and Academics. European Judicial Training Network. Available at: https://www.ejtn.eu/News/Rule-of-Law-in-Europe--Perspectives-from-Practitioners-and-

Academics 1/p. 1

11 Craig, P. 2019. Definition and Conceptualisation of the Rule of Law and the Role of Judicial Independence therein. In: Craig, P et al. Rule of Law in Europe Perspectives from Practitioners and Academics. European Judicial Training Network. available at: https://www.ejtn.eu/News/Rule-of-Law-in-Europe--Perspectives-from-Practitioners-and-Academics 1/p. 3
12 Ibid.

¹³ Ibid. p. 8

¹⁴ Ibid.

¹⁵ Pech. L. 2009, The Rule of Law as a Constitutional Principle of the European Union, Jean Monnet Working Paper 04/09. Available at: https://jeanmonnetprogram.org/paper/the-rule-of-law-as-a-constitutional-principle-of-the-europeanunion/p. 17

Viewing the rule of law as a tool based on the law to contain the powers of the government in a democratic polity, one could assume that this concept is very much related to that of the state or rather the nation-state; it does after all originate in the constitutional traditions of the MSs. This is also verified by the translation of the term in other languages like the aforementioned German and French versions, which contain the notion of the state. However, considering that this concept only refers to sovereign states is far from the legal reality as the term concerns the sources of law and has a wide normative meaning transcending into the supranational sphere, and in this case the European Union¹⁶.

The principal EU goal of economic integration can be historically traced in the need to rebuild post World War II Europe¹⁷. At the same time, closer political cooperation and legal integration among European states was imperative in avoiding totalitarianism and impeding the Soviet expansion¹⁸. Nevertheless, the rule of law as a legal principle and a governance theme was not at the center of the economic order of the primary Community objectives of a Common Market and market freedoms¹⁹. Therefore, the Treaty of Rome did not include any rule of law terminology, even though the Member States establishing the Communities had principally agreed on principles of the rule of law, which were necessary for the viability of the European project²⁰.

However, the importance of the rule of law as a guiding principle in the EU has been there since the beginning. In his speech in 1962 at the University of Padua Walter Hallstein²¹ defined the then European Economic Community as a Community of law because it "was not created by military power or political pressure, but owed its existence to a constitutive legal act"²². Accordingly, the Commission and the Council are not only granted powers by the Treaties but they are restricted by them through the European Court of Justice, which observes the legality of the acts of those institutions²³. Therefore, the source of the legality in the EU system is in the founding treaties and in their constitutional character, which was gradually and steadily established²⁴ but most importantly, it can be found in its attributed power and the principle of conferral²⁵. On a similar note, in its 1979 Judgment in the Granaria Case, the CJEU made a reference to the rule of law, in the context of the judicial review of EU acts according to today's Art. 263 TFEU (previously Art. 173 EEC) claiming that the EU is based on the rule of law; hence the exercise of its supranational authority is bound by

¹⁶ Palombella, G. 2016. Beyond Legality – Before Democracy: Rule of Law Caveats in the EU Two-Level System, In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) *Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union*. Cambridge University Press. p. 44

¹⁷ de Búrca, G. 2018. "Is EU Supranational Governance a Challenge to Liberal Constitutionalism?", *The University of Chicago Law Review*. Vol. 85, No. 2: p. 337

¹⁸ Ibid

¹⁹ Schroeder, W. 2016. The European Union and the Rule of Law – State of Affairs and Ways of Strengthening, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) *Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe; From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation*. Portland: Hart Publishing. p. 8

²⁰ Ibid

²¹ First President of the European Commission from 1958 to 1967

²² Von Danwitz, T. 2016. The Rule of Law in the Recent Jurisprudence of the ECJ, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe; From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation. Portland: Hart Publishing. p. 156

²³ Ibid.

²⁴ See CJEU's decisions in *Les Verts* and *Kadi and Al Barakaat*

²⁵ Craig, P. 2019. Definition and Conceptualisation of the Rule of Law and the Role of Judicial Independence therein. In: Craig, P et al. *Rule of Law in Europe Perspectives from Practitioners and Academics*. European Judicial Training Network. available at: https://www.ejtn.eu/News/Rule-of-Law-in-Europe--Perspectives-from-Practitioners-and-Academics1/p. 1

law²⁶. The access to courts was probably the first common value which came through the jurisprudence of the CJEU and established a background for the rule of law to emerge as a common value²⁷.

A few years later, in the Les Verts vs European Parliament Judgment, the then European Community was again described as a Community of law²⁸. The reasons behind the Court's choice of words can be traced primarily in its reluctance to implicate the translations of the term in other languages which are based on the notion of the state (like the aforementioned ones) and therefore avoid the discourse on a European superstate and secondly in its attempt to initiate an autonomous reading of the term in the EU legal order²⁹. The admissibility issues in this case were more interesting than its substance. It concerned the nature of the legal acts adopted by the European Parliament and their ability to be the subject matter of an annulment proceeding. At that point in time, Article 173 EEC expressly provided for the annulment of acts adopted by the Council and the Commission³⁰. The applicant, a French association known as Les Verts - Parti écologiste argued that the measures adopted by the European Parliament were in fact a scheme for reimbursement of election campaign expenses for which there was no legal basis in the Treaties³¹. On the contrary, according Article 7(2) of the 1976 Act concerning the election of the representatives of the Assembly by direct universal suffrage, the regulation of this matter remains within the competence of the national legislator³². In a similar vein, they argued that in the event that the Court found the case inadmissible, there would be a denial of justice³³.

Much like the Solange saga this case forced the EU to better define its organization and approach the constitutional model³⁴. As a result, the Court used the rule of law concept and taking into consideration the general scheme of the Treaty and its spirit, it pursued a purposive interpretation of article 173 EEC, which evidently could no longer correspond to the powers vested in the European Parliament, by interpreting it as allowing the annulment of acts adopted by the Parliament. In this context the CJEU viewed the treaty as a "basic constitutional charter" which "established a complete system of legal remedies and procedures designed to permit the Court of Justice to review the legality

²⁶ CJEU Case 101/78, Judgment of the Court of 13.02.1979, Granaria BV v Hoofdproduktschap voor Akkerbouwprodukten, ECLI:EU:C:1979:38, para. 5

²⁷ Konstantinides, T. 2017. The Rule of Law in the European Union; The Internal Dimension. Portland: Hart Publishing, p. 66Communauté de droit in the french text

²⁹ Pech, L. 2009. The Rule of Law as a Constitutional Principle of the European Union. Jean Monnet Working Paper 04/09. Available at: https://ieanmonnetprogram.org/paper/the-rule-of-law-as-a-constitutional-principle-of-the-europeanunion/p. 11

³⁰ ARTICLE 173 La Cour de Justice contrôle la légalité des actes du Conseil et de la Commission, autres que les recommandations ou avis. A cet effet, elle est compétente pour se prononcer sur les recours pour incompétence, violation des formes substantielles, violation du présent Traité ou de toute règle de droit relative à son application, ou détournement de pouvoir, formés par un État membre, le Conseil ou la Commission.

³¹ CJEU Case 294/83, Judgment of the Court 23.04.1986, Parti écologiste 'Les Verts' v. European Parliament, ECLI:EU:C:1986:166, para. 40

³² ibid.

³³ ibid. para. 21

³⁴ Scheppele, K. L., Kochenov, D. and Grabowska-Moroz, B. 2020. "EU Values Are Law, after All: Enforcing EU Values through Systemic Infringement Actions by the European Commission and the Member States of the European Union", Yearbook of European Law, Vol. 39, No. 1. Available at: https://academic.oup.com/yel/article/doi/10.1093/yel/yeaa012/6064852?login=true p. 24

of measures adopted by the institutions" allowing for natural and legal persons to be protected³⁵. This understanding of the rule of law by the Court seems to focus specifically on the principle of legality and the principle of judicial protection. However, it must be noted that the rule of law in the EU as it has evolved is not limited to these otherwise central principles.

At a Treaty level the rule of law was first mentioned as a principle in the Amsterdam Treaty and later on as a value in the Lisbon Treaty, perhaps signifying a change in its normative effects. Values are generally considered to be meta legal terms having both an ethical and legal nature. Nevertheless, the rule of law as well as the other values of Article 2 TEU are part of the primary written law of the Union and can be operable if specified through legal tools. In addition, there seems to be a distinction between the values of the first sentence of Article 2 (the rule of law, democracy, protection of minorities equality and dignity) and the second (non-discrimination, tolerance, justice, solidarity and equality between men and women), which includes the presumed societal values of the EU, a distinction which is mirrored in the term "legally relevant values" of Article 7 TEU which provides for a sanctions mechanism for MSs deviating from the EU core system ³⁶. Furthermore, one needs to mention that these values and specifically the rule of law as a value constitute a basis which provides legitimacy to the EU vis a vis its international counterparts. What is more, the constitutionalisation of the rule of law in the Treaty of Lisbon as a common value among MSs, was special in the sense that MSs were able to use a term originating in national constitutional law in order to describe a binding obligation under EU law³⁷

It becomes evident through the jurisprudence of the CJEU that the evolution of the EU is directed towards constitutionalisation. The declarations of primacy of EU law, its direct effect and the protection of fundamental rights through the tool of general principles have left their mark in the evolving legal structure of the Union. This is a factor which distinguishes the EU in the field of international law, making it a sui generis public authority³⁸. The Kadi and Al Barakaat Judgment came to verify this statement. The CJEU pointed out the role of the rule of law as a restricting principle of EU law as far as its MSs and institutions are concerned when their actions are not meeting the requirements of the Treaty, which is viewed as a constitutional charter, even when these actions are part of international obligations³⁹. This is evidence of the formulation of the rule of law within the EU legal order, in a way that it does not limit itself to a procedural surface but rather chooses to include what is conceived as substantive rule of law.

The rule of law has thus become a founding principle of the EU, even if to become a rule of law abiding quasi-federal supranational authority was not a primary aim of the European Community.

_

³⁵ CJEU Case 294/83, Judgment of the Court 23.04.1986, *Parti écologiste 'Les Verts' v. European Parliament*, ECLI:EU:C:1986:166, para. 23

³⁶ Schroeder, W. 2016. The European Union and the Rule of Law – State of Affairs and Ways of Strengthening, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) *Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe; From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation*. Portland: Hart Publishing. p. 13

³⁷ Konstantinides, T. 2017. *The Rule of Law in the European Union; The Internal Dimension*. Portland: Hart Publishing, p. 67

p. 67
³⁸ Schroeder, W. 2016. The European Union and the Rule of Law – State of Affairs and Ways of Strengthening, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) *Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe; From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation*. Portland: Hart Publishing. p. 7

³⁹ CJEU Joined Cases C-402/05 P and C-415/05 P, Judgment of the Court 03.09.2008, *Kadi and Al Barakaat International Foundation v Council and Commission*, ECLI:EU:C:2008:46, paras. 81, 281, 285, 316

Nevertheless, it became a reality built through time as the political union⁴⁰ became stronger and this was revealed in the CJEU's jurisprudence. The EU has thus created a multifaceted mechanism to oversee the compliance of its MSs to this principle. However, one would wonder why the EU should be bothered with the "internal matters" of each MSs. It is important to note that the ongoing integration process within the Union has led to a deep mutual interdependence between its MSs and the MSs and the EU⁴¹. The EU has an obligation to protect the interests of its citizens and prevent their collision with an illiberal MS in the Union, while MSs have an interest in not letting fellow MSs undermine the integration and therefore the functioning of the internal market⁴². This is based on the essential for the coherence of the Union perception of mutual trust between MSs, that all MSs have a common respect for the rule of law. Moreover, the approach of the EU of fully harmonised quasifederal domains of governance generates a need for the Union to protect its citizens in a way independent from its MSs⁴³.

Besides, the EU puts forward very high rule of law standards for both candidate countries and other international counterparts in order to cooperate with them. Similarly, respect for the rule of law should not only be a prerequisite for accession in the EU but also an obligation for the continuance of the membership⁴⁴.

More importantly, it should be considered that in the event of systematic abuse of fundamental rights by one or more MSs, a pathology would be generated in the EU, putting in danger the integration project by deteriorating the position of the individual who is a main actor in EU law, constricting their freedoms and rights guaranteed by the Treaties and downgrading the legitimacy of the EU and its values⁴⁵. Hence, it is important for the EU to have a mechanism to both monitor and prevent such a possibility and correct it.

⁴⁰ The link between the political union and the rule of law in the EU legal order was highlighted by Commission President Manuel Barroso in his 2012 speech to the European Parliament. See Konstantinides, T. 2017. *The Rule of Law in the European Union; The Internal Dimension*. Portland: Hart Publishing, p. 141

⁴¹ Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. Reinforcement of the Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union: Key Options, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) *Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe; From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation*. Portland: Hart Publishing p. 177

⁴² Ibid. p. 178

⁴³ Ibid.

⁴⁴ Ibid. p. 179

⁴⁵ Konstantinides, T. 2017. *The Rule of Law in the European Union; The Internal Dimension*. Portland: Hart Publishing, p. 2

Part A

The EU Rule of Law Mechanism: Origins, Differentiations and Correlations between its variants

Chapter I. The 'Stricto Sensu' EU Rule of Law Mechanism: Art. 7 TEU, the pre-Article 7 Commission Framework and the novel European Rule of Law Mechanism

This Chapter examines the historic evolution of the mechanism of Article 7 TEU in order to establish the reasons behind its introduction in the EU legal order. It presents the characteristics of both the preventive and corrective arms of the procedure set out to ensure the compliance of the MSs with the values of the Union and the soft law instruments adopted by EU institutions and briefly explores their nature.

Paragraph 1. The path towards a political lever to regulate coherence in the EU

The turn towards political integration in the EU led to the need for a constitutional type of organisation which would reflect the core principles of modern western democracies and which would be expressed in the Treaties⁴⁶. Consequently, for the first time in the Maastricht Treaty, Article F paragraph 1 provided that "The Union shall respect the national identities of its Member States, whose systems of government are founded on the principles of democracy." Nevertheless, the Conclusions of the European Council of Copenhagen were the first time the rule of law was mentioned as such in EU law. This text, for the first time, specifically defined the conditions a candidate state had to fulfill in order to become an EU member (Copenhagen Criteria), including the "stability of institutions guaranteeing democracy, the rule of law, human rights, respect for and protection of minorities"⁴⁷.

This approach was further enhanced by the Amsterdam Treaty, which in Article F para. 1 provided that "the Union is founded on the principles of liberty, democracy, respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms, and the rule of law, principles which are common to the Member States". More importantly, Article F introduced a mechanism for tackling situations where there is a "serious and persistent breach of EU values" including the rule of law. This concept was a result of the 1996

⁴⁶ Schroeder, W. 2016. The European Union and the Rule of Law – State of Affairs and Ways of Strengthening, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) *Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe; From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation*. Portland: Hart Publishing. p. 9

⁴⁷ Conclusions of the Presidency - Copenhagen, June 21-22 1993, no 7 Relations with the countries of Central and Eastern Europe, available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/summits/copenhagen/default_en.htm p. 14

Inter-Governmental Conference (IGC), which preceded and set forth the Amsterdam Treaty⁴⁸. The preparatory Reflection Group for the IGC submitted its final report to the European Council in December 1995 drawing out two fields in need of enhancement, namely the legitimacy of the EU in the eyes of its citizens on the one hand and its readiness for the eminent enlargement on the other⁴⁹. It provided that the EU should not be viewed neither as a superstate nor as merely a market but rather as a sui generis authority with its own values which are common among MSs and candidate states⁵⁰. More specifically, fundamental rights were presented as a general principle of Union law and with the view of protecting them within the EU, a sanctioning mechanism for serious violations by MSs was suggested⁵¹. This mechanism was inspired by the need to address both parameters in a sense that it would reduce EU citizens' reservations concerning the Union's democratic legitimacy and tackle any suspicion within the EU decision-making institutions concerning the accession of post-communist countries and the possibility of lower human rights standards⁵². Nevertheless, it is notable that some MSs within the Reflection Group were somewhat reluctant to grant the EU with human rights responsibilities considering that it was a matter falling within their own competence⁵³.

This argument against the EU rule of law has a past in EU legal theory and it stems from a fear of competence creep through its promotion. This concept concerns the phenomenon of the EU legislating in areas where it does not have competence. In this case, in the name of constitutional integration EU institutions took a step towards establishing a sanctioning mechanism in areas where MSs act outside the scope of EU law, where, EU competence is evidently questionable ⁵⁴.

The IGC had a positive reception of the recommendations of the Reflection Group concerning the establishment of a sanctioning mechanism. It is worth mentioning that until June 1996, the form of the mechanism included the involvement of the CJEU, however, considering the aforementioned reservations of the MSs, a legal mechanism to control matters close to their sovereignty, would go beyond what they were willing to accept hence, the thoroughly political mechanism of today's Article 7. In its last form before becoming what today is Article 7, the mechanism presented by the Irish Presidency of the IGC contained the unanimous finding of a grave and persistent violation of the principles of Article F by a MSs, by the Council (at its heads of state level) after a proposal by the Parliament, the Commission or one third of the MSs⁵⁵. The State in question would be able to submit its observations without its vote counting and the measures against it could be decided by the Council

¹

⁴⁸ Sadurski, W. 2010. *Adding a Bite to a Bark? A Story of Article 7, the EU Enlargement and Jörg Haider*. Sydney Law School, Legal Studies Research Paper No. 10/01, available at: Social Science Research Network Electronic Library http://ssrn.com/abstract=1531393 p. 4

⁴⁹ ibid. p. 5

⁵⁰ ibid.

⁵¹ ibid.

⁵² ibid. p. 7

⁵³ ibid. p. 5

⁵⁴ Konstantinides, T. 2017. *The Rule of Law in the European Union; The Internal Dimension*. Portland: Hart Publishing, p. 31

⁵⁵ Secrétariat général du Conseil de l'Union européenne (Politique de l'Information, transparence et relations publiques), Conférence intergouvernementale en vue de la révision des traités – Semestre de la Présidence irlandaise (juillet à décembre 1996) : recueil de textes, Bruxelles, février 1996. available at:

http://www.cvce.eu/obj/recueil de textes produits sous la presidence irlandaise de la cig juillet decembre 1996-fr-19c89444-f49b-4afa-8433-0b204084b02f.html p. 27

at a recommendation of the Commission and after a consultation with the Parliament⁵⁶. Nevertheless, the evolution and the version of the mechanism finally adopted, shows a tendency of the MSs to control the application of the sanctions by demanding unanimity, and to repress the roles of the Parliament and the CJEU⁵⁷.

The mechanism as it is today requires the European Council to determine whether a serious and persistent breach of the values referred to in Art. 2 TEU exists on the part of a MS. The decision has to be unanimous, as it was provided in the IGC version, following a proposal by the Commission or one third of the MSs and not by the EP. However, the consent of the Parliament is also provided⁵⁸ and the MS in question is required to present its observations⁵⁹. If the breach is determined, the Council acting by a qualified majority may impose sanctions including the suspension of voting rights of that MS in the Council⁶⁰.

What is more, a conversation on adding a preventive arm to the mechanism was very much present in the following IGC of 2000. The Commission adopted a Communication proposing an amendment to Art. 7 TEU. It is worth mentioning that the French Commissioner Michel Barnier, who was responsible for the IGC was in favor of a "preventive democratic dialogue" considering that he viewed the enhancement of the Art. 7 procedure as a message addressed to candidate states⁶¹. The proposed procedure by the Commission included a right of initiative to be shared among the Commission, one third of the MSs and the EP and the action to be taken would be determined by a two third majority vote of the Council⁶². The preventive action would consist only of recommendations to the MS concerned while it would have the chance to submit its observations. The version adopted by the Nice Treaty, had no amendments in the sanction portion of the mechanism adding though a warning procedure to be activated in cases of risk of fundamental rights breaches by MSs which would result in the issuing of recommendations. A reasoned proposal from one third of the MSs, the Commission or the EP would be enough for this mechanism to be activated, giving the EP more of leading role than it had in the sanctioning arm⁶³. The Council is responsible for determining the existence of a risk of a serious breach and addressing recommendations by a majority of fourth fifths, after obtaining the consent of the EP. Moreover, the MS under scrutiny is guaranteed a right of defense or rather a right of hearing, since the Council before making a decision has to hear the MS in question. It is worth mentioning that the preventive mechanism of Art. 7 included a report

⁵⁶ ibid.

⁵⁷ Sadurski, W. 2010. Adding a Bite to a Bark? A Story of Article 7, the EU Enlargement and Jörg Haider. Sydney Law School, Legal Studies Research Paper No. 10/01, available at: Social Science Research Network Electronic Library http://ssrn.com/abstract=1531393 p. 10

⁵⁸ Rule 83 of the rules of procedure of the EP (July 2014) entitled "Breach by a Member State of fundamental principles and values" para. 1: Parliament may, on the basis of a specific report of the committee responsible drawn up in accordance with Rules 45 and 52: (c) vote on a proposal calling on the Council to act pursuant to Article 7(3) or, subsequently, Article 7(4) of the Treaty on European Union. available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/RULES-8-2019-03-25-TOC EN.html

⁵⁹ Art. 7(2) TEU

⁶⁰ Art. 7(3) TEU

⁶¹ Sadurski, W. 2010. Adding a Bite to a Bark? A Story of Article 7, the EU Enlargement and Jörg Haider. Sydney Law School, Legal Studies Research Paper No. 10/01, available at: Social Science Research Network Electronic Library http://ssrn.com/abstract=1531393 p. 23

⁶² ibid.

⁶³ ibid. p. 24

by independent persons. Nevertheless, both the failed Constitutional Treaty and the Lisbon Treaty removed this provision⁶⁴.

It is evident that this mechanism puts a lot of weight on the Council and the political willingness of the MSs by setting high procedural standards through the unanimity or the four fifths requirement. As a result, the role of the CJEU in the context of the Article 7 TEU mechanism has been very limited since the beginning. It was further analyzed in the Hungary v. European Parliament case⁶⁵. When the EP initiated the Procedure against that MSs, Hungary brought an action for annulment before the Court against the Resolution via which the Parliament made its reasoned proposal that there existed a risk of a clear breach of the principles of Article 2 TEU in Hungary. Article 269 TFEU expressly provides that "the Court of Justice shall have jurisdiction to decide on the legality of an act adopted by the European Council or by the Council pursuant to Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union solely at the request of the Member State concerned by a determination of the European Council or of the Council and in respect solely of the procedural stipulations contained in that Article". At first sight, this provision does not include the Resolutions of the Parliament. However, as the CJEU held, Article 269 TFEU in so far as it imposes a restriction on the general jurisdiction of the Court of Justice it should be interpreted narrowly⁶⁶. Therefore, it must be that the purpose of the authors of the Treaties was not to exclude such an act (that is a resolution of the Parliament introducing a Reasoned Proposal for the activation of Art. 7(1) TEU) from the general jurisdiction of the Court of Article 263 TFEU to review the acts of EU institutions, considering that the EU is a Union based on the rule of law with a fully functioning and well established system of judicial remedies⁶⁷.

Furthermore, the Court held that the resolution does produce legally binding effects and thus can be subject to annulment according to Article 263 TFEU. This finding was based on the fact that it initiates the procedure of Article 7 (1) TFEU and as such it makes possible the derogation from the sole Article of Protocol 24, which allows MSs to take into consideration or declare admissible to be examined any asylum application lodged by a national of the MS that is the subject of the preventive arm of the rule of law mechanism of Article 7 TEU⁶⁸.

Moreover, the CJEU declared that the resolution could not be viewed as an intermediate measure the legality of which can be challenged only in the event of a dispute concerning the definitive act for which it constitutes a preparatory step. Although the Council has the 'final word' in establishing the clear risk of a serious breach of the rule of law, the Parliament's reasoned opinion annexed to its resolution did not express a provisional position⁶⁹. On that note, it was also stated that the resolution of the Parliament had independent legal effects even though Hungary could theoretically base an action for annulment against the Council's subsequent decision on the

⁶⁴ ibid. p. 25

⁶⁵ CJEU Case C-650/18, Judgment of the Court of 03.06.2021 *Hungary v. European Parliament*, ECLI:EU:C:2021:426

⁶⁶ Ibid. para. 31

⁶⁷ Ibid. paras. 33, 34

⁶⁸ Ibid. paras. 39-41

⁶⁹ Ibid. para. 45

unlawfulness of that resolution, the potential success of that action would not be able to eliminate all the binding effects of that resolution⁷⁰.

In addition, the CJEU noted that a wide interpretation of the annulment procedure in the context Article 269 TFEU would deprive that provision of its practical effect. Therefore, an action for annulment concerning a resolution of the Parliament initiating the procedure of Art. 7 (1) TEU, much like what Article 269 TFEU provides, should only be brought by the MS concerned and the grounds for annulment relied on can only be based on the supposed infringement of the procedural rules referred to in Article 7 TEU⁷¹.

Ruling on the substance of the action, the CJEU held that the concept of "votes cast" provided for in Article 354(4) TFEU⁷² is not defined in the Treaties and as an autonomous concept of EU law, it should be interpreted in accordance with its usual meaning in society⁷³. Accordingly, this notion has the meaning that only the casting of a positive or negative vote on a given proposal can be counted, while abstention, cannot be treated in the same way as a 'vote cast'. As a result, Article 354 (4) TFEU, which requires a majority of votes cast, must be interpreted as precluding to take abstentions into account⁷⁴. The CJEU further observed that that provision lays down a dual requirement for a majority, meaning that not only does it provide agreement from two thirds of the votes cast but also the agreement of the majority of MEPs, in which case abstentions are to be counted⁷⁵. Finally, the Court held that the exclusion of abstentions in the calculation of votes cast is not contrary either to the principle of democracy or to the principle of equal treatment considering that the MEPs who abstained were fully aware of the consequences of their choice⁷⁶.

Moreover, in reviewing the Art.7 TEU mechanism it is worth noting that there is no formal link between its sanctioning and preventive arm⁷⁷. Preventive actions do not have to come first and it is possible for one MS to be at the receiving end of both a recommendation for a clear risk of a serious breach and of a suspension of its voting rights at the Council for a serious and persistent breach⁷⁸. In addition, the Council is under no legal obligation to impose the sanctions of Art. 7(3) TEU if it establishes a breach of the values of Art. 2 TEU⁷⁹.

Another interesting element of this mechanism is that according to the Court of Justice's jurisprudence it is not possible for a private party to trigger its application. In the Bertelli Galvez Case the Court of First Instance held that "the EU Treaty gives no jurisdiction to the Community judicature to determine whether the Community institutions have acted lawfully to ensure the respect by the

⁷⁰ Ibid. paras. 46-48

⁷¹ Ibid. para. 59

⁷² Article 354(4) TFEU: For the purposes of Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union, the European Parliament shall act by a two-thirds majority of the votes cast, representing the majority of its component Members

⁷³ CJEU Case C-650/18, Judgment of the Court of 03.06.2021 *Hungary v. European Parliament*, ECLI:EU:C:2021:426 para. 83

⁷⁴ Ibid. paras. 84-88

⁷⁵ Ibid. para. 87

⁷⁶ Ibid. para. 99

⁷⁷ Christianos, V., Papadopoulou, R. E., Perakis, M. 2021. *Introduction to European Union Law*, 2nd edition. Athens: Nomiki Bibliothiki, p. 32

⁷⁸ Kochenov, D. and Pech, L. 2015. "Monitoring and Enforcement of the Rule of Law in the EU: Rhetoric and Reality", *European Constitutional Law Review*. Vol. 11: p. 516
⁷⁹ ibid.

Member States of the principles laid down under Article 6(1) EU (today's Art. 2 TEU) or to adjudicate on the lawfulness of acts adopted on the basis of Article 7 EU (today's Art. 7 TEU), save in relation to questions concerning the procedural stipulations contained in that article, which the Court may address only at the request of the Member State concerned"⁸⁰.

Furthermore, this sanctioning mechanism is an important tool in the promotion of EU values (Art. 3 TEU), considering that the Council Legal Service regards the supervision of the rule of law within the mandate of the Union, since the rule of law forms part of its values. Contrary to the Charter of Human Rights of the EU (the Charter hereinafter), the rule of law mechanism is not limited to situations where MSs apply EU law, rather it includes cases where MSs act autonomously, within their exclusive competence⁸¹. This was made rather clear in the Commission's 2003 Communication on Art. 7 TEU where it was explained that it is not confined in areas covered by Union law meaning that "the Union could act not only in the event of a breach of common values in this limited field but also in the event of a breach in an area where the Member States act autonomously⁸²".

In that same document the Commission gave some insight to the importance of the Art. 7 mechanism by explaining how a breach of fundamental rights in one MS that would trigger this procedure, is likely to undermine the foundations of the Union and the trust among MSs⁸³. This leads to the conclusion that the basis of the EU, meaning the values of Art. 2 are not only common between MSs, but they extend throughout the domestic orders of the MSs, in a way that implies a blurring of the orthodox distinction between the national and the supranational legal order⁸⁴. In defining the term "serious and persistent breach" of the second paragraph of Art. 7 TEU, the Commission gave emphasis to the systemic nature of the actions of a MS, by contrasting it to cases of individual cases of infringement of freedoms or rights⁸⁵. However, when it attempted to define the "clear risk of a serious breach" referred to in para. 1 of Art. 7 TEU, it gave a rather misleading example, by saying that the adoption of legislation that abolishes procedural guarantees in times of war would constitute a clear risk. In this case the EP came forward and protested that "a higher standard of protection of fundamental rights is needed than that proposed by the Commission" This is so, considering it is

⁻

⁸⁰ Court of First Instance T-337/03, Order of the Court of 02.04.2004, *Bertelli Gálvez v. Commission*, ECLI:EU:T:2004:106, para. 15

⁸¹ Hillion, C. 2016. Overseeing the Rule of Law in the EU Legal Mandate and Means. In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) *Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union*. Cambridge University Press. p 65

⁸² Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament on Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union, Respect for and promotion of the values on which the Union is based, COM(2003) 606 final, Brussels, 15.10.2003, p. 5

⁸³ ibid

⁸⁴ Sadurski, W. 2010. *Adding a Bite to a Bark? A Story of Article 7, the EU Enlargement and Jörg Haider*. Sydney Law School, Legal Studies Research Paper No. 10/01, available at: Social Science Research Network Electronic Library http://ssrn.com/abstract=1531393 p. 26

Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament on Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union, Respect for and promotion of the values on which the Union is based, COM(2003) 606 final, Brussels, 15.10.2003, p. 7

⁸⁶ European Parliament legislative resolution on the Commission communication on Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union: Respect for and promotion of the values on which the Union is based (COM(2003) 606 – C5-0594/2003 – 2003/2249(INI)), P5_TA(2004)0309, no G (2), p. 2. available at:

 $[\]underline{https://www.europarl.europa.eu/sides/getDoc.do?reference=P5-TA-2004-0309\&type=TA\&language=EN\&redirect=P5-TA-2004-0309\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0309\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0309\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0309\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0309\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0309\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0309\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0300\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0300\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0300\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0300\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0300\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0300\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0300\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0300\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0300\&type=TA\&language=P5-TA-2004-0300\&t$

quite obvious that such legislation would rather constitute a serious and persistent breach, than a mere risk⁸⁷.

The Communication makes a distinction between the purpose and the effects of a breach. According to the Commission, a serious breach could be emanating from a purpose against vulnerable minorities, ethnic, religious or national⁸⁸. This could be seen as an indirect reference to the problematic treatment of minorities in candidate states from central and eastern Europe⁸⁹. As far as the results of the breach are concerned the Commission noted that they could implicate one or more principles of Article 6 (today's Art. 2 TEU) and that multiplicity could be evident of its seriousness⁹⁰. Again, the EP made a defiant and important comment, by expanding the list of breaches in order to include the MS's failure to act and therefore established a duty for MSs to intervene in situations of discrimination among individual parties⁹¹.

This very specific genealogy of Art. 7 has brought the roots of the mechanism to light. Originally, there was a very clear allocation of power between the Council of Europe and the European Community in a sense that the latter, until it gained a more constitutional and political character with the Maastricht Treaty it was not preoccupied with the protection of fundamental rights ⁹². Accordingly, it was the eastward enlargement of the Union which gave rise to concerns for the protection of fundamental rights within the EU, as states coming out of communist systems acceding in the EU were anticipated to fall short of expectations in the field of the common rule of law-abiding legal and political cultures of the original MSs⁹³. Therefore, the raison d'être of the provision of an institutional mechanism to combat breaches of this common value among MSs, which is understood as the rule of law, is set on the political evolution of the EU. Hence, it would not be arbitrary to consider that this preventive and sanctioning mechanism developed and adopted through the Treaties, is the stricto sensu rule of law mechanism, as it was the immediate response to the historic

-

⁸⁷ European Parliament, Report on the Commission communication on Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union: Respect for and promotion of the values on which the Union is based (COM(2003) 606 – C5-0594/2003 – 2003/2249(INI)) Committee on Constitutional Affairs Rapporteur: Johannes Voggenhuber, 1 April 2004, available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/sides/getDoc.do?reference=A5-2004-0227&type=REPORT&language=EN&redirect, p

⁸⁸ Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament on Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union, Respect for and promotion of the values on which the Union is based, COM(2003) 606 final, Brussels, 15.10.2003, p. 8

⁸⁹Sadurski, W. 2010. *Adding a Bite to a Bark? A Story of Article 7, the EU Enlargement and Jörg Haider*. Sydney Law School, Legal Studies Research Paper No. 10/01, available at: Social Science Research Network Electronic Library http://ssrn.com/abstract=1531393 p. 27

Ommunication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament on Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union, Respect for and promotion of the values on which the Union is based, COM(2003) 606 final, Brussels, 15.10.2003, p. 8

⁹¹ European Parliament, Report on the Commission communication on Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union: Respect for and promotion of the values on which the Union is based (COM(2003) 606 – C5-0594/2003 – 2003/2249(INI)) Committee on Constitutional Affairs Rapporteur: Johannes Voggenhuber, 1 April 2004, available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/sides/getDoc.do?reference=A5-2004-0227&type=REPORT&language=EN&redirect, p

⁹² de Burca, G. (2004). "Beyond the Charter: How Enlargement Has Enlarged the Human Rights Policy of the European Union", *Fordham International Law Journal*. Vol 27, No 2: p. 683

⁹³ Sadurski, W. 2010. *Adding a Bite to a Bark? A Story of Article 7, the EU Enlargement and Jörg Haider*. Sydney Law School, Legal Studies Research Paper No. 10/01, available at: Social Science Research Network Electronic Library http://ssrn.com/abstract=1531393 p. 2

<u>Paragraph 2. The Preventive Arm – Monitoring in the Rule of Law Mechanism in the EU</u>

As it has been mentioned, the Treaty of Nice introduced a preventive step to the sanctioning mechanism against MS's breaches of EU values. This was viewed as an enhancement of the operational scope of the EU's means of controlling the MS's abidance with the values of Art. 2 TEU⁹⁴. It is quite interesting to examine the historic reasoning behind the adoption of this new branch to the mechanism.

The 1999 Austrian election brought to light a surprising rise in power and influence of the extreme right-wing Austrian Freedom Party, led by Jörg Haider. A coalition Government was formed and sworn in February of 2000, in which the Freedom Party took control of six out of ten ministries, including the ministries of defense, finance, social affairs and justice⁹⁵. It is indeed ironic how Austria pressured for the inclusion of a sanctioning mechanism for the deviations of MSs from the EU values in the 1996 IGC, with the view of avoiding rights infringements by the candidate CEE MSs. The EU enlargement was viewed by Haider as a threat to Austrian's jobs, fearing the cheap labour "invasion" from Eastern Europe⁹⁶.

However, the situation in Austria was not an isolated case, considering the empowerment of Le Pen and the Front National in France and the Allianza Nazionale in Italy. Reasonably, the following argument came forward when fourteen MSs took the initiative of imposing sanctions to Austria: European governments and politicians, worried by the extreme right parties rising, put pressure on their EU partners to accept the sanctions on Austria, making it rather clear that the motive behind this action was political self - interest rather than political identity⁹⁷. Fourteen MSs issued a statement, not attributable to the EU, declaring bilateral actions against Austria, which included the freezing of contacts with Austrian government officials, withdrawal of EU support towards Austrians applying for senior posts in international organisations and very limited contacts with Austrian ambassadors⁹⁸. The sanctions were short lived considering they came into effect in February of 2000 and lasted until September of the same year⁹⁹.

It is worth mentioning that even though this was not a formal EU institutional decision it demonstrated a common EU political identity, a consensus that what happened in Austria was not the way forward and had nothing to do with the Union's values¹⁰⁰.

The implication of the EU in these sanctions, if any, was accentuated when during the Portuguese presidency of the Council the Portuguese PM issued a press release referring to the

⁹⁴ Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament on Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union, Respect for and promotion of the values on which the Union is based, COM(2003) 606 final, Brussels, 15.10.2003, p. 3

⁹⁵ Sadurski, W. 2010. *Adding a Bite to a Bark? A Story of Article 7, the EU Enlargement and Jörg Haider*. Sydney Law School, Legal Studies Research Paper No. 10/01, available at: Social Science Research Network Electronic Library http://ssrn.com/abstract=1531393 p. 12

⁹⁶ ibid.

⁹⁷ ibid. p. 13

⁹⁸ ibid.

⁹⁹ ibid. p. 14

¹⁰⁰ The Portuguese PM said that the EU was "a Union based on a set of values and rules and on a common civilization" and the Austrian Freedom Party "did not abide by the essential values of the European family" while the British Foreign Secretary noted that "the naked appeal to xenophobia on which Mr. Haider has Based his platform...is something that strikes against the basis of the European Union", Sadurski, W. supra note 81, at p. 14

reaction of the fourteen EU MSs to the situation in Austria, even though he did not have authorisation to do so. The Council was not at liberty to take any actions under Art. 7 TEU considering that its conditions were not fulfilled, since there was no serious and persistent breach of the EU values in Austria at the time. That statement was not one of the EU but rather of fourteen of its MSs, acting outside the EU legal framework but making clear the connection between their actions and intentions and their EU membership¹⁰¹. Nevertheless, this was also viewed as an unacceptable intervention in the democratic decisions of the Austrian people. The MEPs of the EP did not fail to point that out in the debate for its resolution "on the result of the legislative elections in Austria and the proposal to form a coalition government between the ÖVP (Austrian People's Party) and the FPÖ (Austrian Freedom Party)". It was noted that that intervention was claiming the authority of the Treaties, which evidently could not allow the democratic expression of the people of Austria to be contained by the will of some of the governments of Europe¹⁰².

However, the resolution adopted by the EP in the end "welcomed the timely political intent of the statement of the Portuguese Presidency in so far as it reiterates Member States' concern to defend common European values as an act of necessary heightened vigilance¹⁰³. It is worth mentioning that this point was seen as ambiguous, considering that the EP used the same wording to assess the Commission's position, which focused on a precise evaluation of actual and specific fundamental rights infringements¹⁰⁴.

The most prominent criticism the measures adopted by the fourteen MSs have received concerned the possible backlash resulting in euro-scepticism. Nevertheless, it would be best to consider these actions as an ideological and political message and interpret them as a statement, which aimed at enhancing the political identity of the EU, taking into account the historical origins of the Union.

The Haider Affair as it became known, was a major refutation of the EU's worries over the post-communist countries' rule of law stability and highlighted the need for an enhanced calculated preventive branch in the rule of law mechanism of Art. 7 TEU, which included a monitoring of the rule of law throughout Europe. This became reality with the Nice Treaty which added the warning stage of Art 7(1) TEU¹⁰⁵.

In a similar vein, the 2003 Communication by the Commission suggested the permanency of the independent network of experts, which was first proposed by the EP in 2000 and later established by the Commission, in order to provide a precise assessment of the fundamental rights situation in

¹⁰³ European Parliament Resolution on the Result of the Legislative Elections in Austria and the Proposal to Form a Coalition Government Between the ÖVP (Austrian People's Party) and the FPÖ (Austrian Freedom Party), Thursday 3 February 2000, B5-0101, 0102, 0103, 0106 and 0107/2000, *Official Journal of the European Communities*, point 4, available at: https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/41c6cef0-0425-4117-9134-190c9d12dcb0

https://academic.oup.com/yel/article/doi/10.1093/yel/yeaa012/6064852?login=true p. 27

¹⁰¹ ibid. p. 15

¹⁰² ibid.

¹⁰⁴ Sadurski, W. 2010. *Adding a Bite to a Bark? A Story of Article 7, the EU Enlargement and Jörg Haider*. Sydney Law School, Legal Studies Research Paper No. 10/01, available at: Social Science Research Network Electronic Library http://ssrn.com/abstract=1531393 p. 16

¹⁰⁵ Scheppele, K. L., Kochenov, D. and Grabowska-Moroz, B. 2020. "EU Values Are Law, after All: Enforcing EU Values through Systemic Infringement Actions by the European Commission and the Member States of the European Union", *Yearbook of European Law*, Vol. 39, No. 1. Available at:

each MSs via annual reports¹⁰⁶. For this to happen the Commission recommended that this network should have an appropriate legal basis, considering that there existed a risk of duplicating the European Monitoring Center for Racism and Xenophobia¹⁰⁷. This network was the precursor of the Fundamental Rights Agency and was suspended in 2004 when the latter was established as an expansion of the European Center for Racism and Xenophobia¹⁰⁸. The FRA does not have any decision-making powers and remains under the control of the Commission, unable to receive individual complaints¹⁰⁹. Nevertheless, it has developed the EU Fundamental Rights Information System (EFRIS), which gathers information on the situation of rule of law-relevant rights in MSs.

Constitutional and political changes in Hungary since 2010, which are to be analysed below, gave rise to serious rule of law concerns in the EU and led to different approaches throughout its institutional system, which attempted to further protect the values of Art. 2 TEU by reinforcing the existing tools. Therefore, monitoring the rule of law situation in the different MSs became a primary target. In its 2013 Resolution on the situation of fundamental rights in Hungary, the EP recommended the creation of a new mechanism to implement Art. 2 TEU, which would consist of two stages, a preliminary one which would assess any risks of breach of the EU values and a second phase during which the appropriate actions would be taken in order to restrain any serious breach of those values¹¹⁰. For that purpose, the EP endorsed the constitution of a "Copenhagen Commission", formed by a high level group of experts, which would be responsible of monitoring the situation in the MSs as far as the abidance by the Copenhagen criteria is concerned¹¹¹. However, this approach changed when the EP Committee on Civil Liberties, Justice and Home Affairs focused on a mechanism for crisis situations and more effective infringement proceedings, while departing from the Copenhagen Committee idea, considering that the ECtHR was the most appropriate body to be concerned with fundamental rights and rule of law issues¹¹².

On that end, it is important to remember, that in its 2/94 Opinion on the accession of the EU in the ECHR the CJEU held that "No Treaty provision confers on the Community institutions any general power to enact rules on human rights" 113. The Art. 7 TEU mechanism constitutes an exception as far as it allows EU institutions not to confine themselves to EU law areas when addressing breaches of the Union values, as it has been demonstrated above. This is further evidence of the close relationship of this specific apparatus of the mechanism with the protection of the rule of law in the

_

¹⁰⁶ Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament on Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union, Respect for and promotion of the values on which the Union is based, COM(2003) 606 final, Brussels, 15.10.2003, p. 9

¹⁰⁷ ibid. p. 10

¹⁰⁸ Sadurski, W. 2010. *Adding a Bite to a Bark? A Story of Article 7, the EU Enlargement and Jörg Haider*. Sydney Law School, Legal Studies Research Paper No. 10/01, available at: Social Science Research Network Electronic Library http://ssrn.com/abstract=1531393 p. 29

¹⁰⁹ Council Regulation (EC) 168/2007 of 15 February 2007 establishing a European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights, recital 15

¹¹⁰ European Parliament resolution of 3 July 2013 on the situation of fundamental rights: standards and practices in Hungary (pursuant to the European Parliament resolution of 16 February 2012) (2012/2130(INI)) p. 32 ¹¹¹ ibid

¹¹² Closa, K. 2016. Reinforcing Rule of Law Monitoring in the EU: Normative arguments, Institutional Proposals and the Procedural Limitations, In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) *Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union*. Cambridge University Press. p. 24

¹¹³ CJEU Opinion 2/94, Opinion of the Court of 28.03.1996, Accession by the Community to the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, ECLI:EU:C:1996:140, para. 27

EU legal order, making it clear that the core of the rule of law mechanism or rather the stricto sensu mechanism would have to be able to permeate these traditional spheres of national and EU competence.

Moreover, in its 2015 Resolution on the situation in Hungary, the EP again proposed to the Commission the creation of a new mechanism on the Rule of Law and democracy, which would include the annual evaluation of the MSs' compliance with the fundamental rights of the Charter and the values of the Treaties. This did not happen until five years later, when the Commission published its first Rule of Law Report in 2020¹¹⁴, after that same request by the Parliament had been repeated throughout this time¹¹⁵.

Since its 2003 Communication on the Art. 7 TEU mechanism the Commission had not taken any steps towards the remodeling and strengthening of the EU rule of law mechanism in order to address the emerging alarming situations in Europe¹¹⁶. In March 2014, it announced its proposal of a new framework to strengthen the rule of law¹¹⁷. It was rather cautiously presented as a subsidiary mechanism, which would be activated only in cases where the safety net of the national means of guaranteeing the rule of law would cease to apply effectively. Still, this framework would be a complimentary tool, which would assist the Art. 7 mechanism. The Commission attempted to provide a definition of the rule of law in the context of the EU. This was structured primarily around the principles of legality, legal certainty, prohibition of arbitrariness of the executive powers, impartiality of the judge, effective judicial protection especially concerning the protection of fundamental rights and equality before the law. The Commission made sure to note that these core elements of the rule of law are common in the constitutional traditions of most MSs' legal systems and therefore constitute the rule of law in the context of the EU legal order¹¹⁸. It has become apparent from the historic formulation of the EU rule of law and its current placement in the Treaties, that the Union does not perceive this concept as merely a formal prerequisite which can be compressed into a simple and sterile procedure, but rather a matter of substance and democracy¹¹⁹. This was pointed out in the Communication by referencing the CJEU's and ECtHR's jurisprudence 120.

-

¹¹⁴ Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of Regions, Brussels, 30.9.2020 COM(2020) 580 final, 2020 Rule of Law Report; The rule of law situation in the European Union

Resolution of 25 October 2016 with recommendations to the Commission on the establishment of an EU mechanism on democracy, the rule of law and fundamental rights; Resolution of 14 November 2018 on the need for a comprehensive EU mechanism for the protection of democracy, the rule of law and fundamental rights. European Parliament resolution of 7 October 2020 on the establishment of an EU Mechanism on Democracy, the Rule of Law and Fundamental Rights

Again, it was the Hungarian case which motivated national governments, via intergovernmental means such as the Future of Europe Group or joint letters of Foreign Ministers of MSs, to request the involvement of the EU and specifically of the Commission, see supra note 94 at p. 25

¹¹⁷ Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council, Brussels, 19.3.2014 COM(2014) 158 final/2, A new EU Framework to strengthen the Rule of Law

¹¹⁸ Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council, Brussels, 19.3.2014 COM(2014) 158 final/2, A new EU Framework to strengthen the Rule of Law p. 2, 4

¹¹⁹ Kochenov, D. and Pech, L. 2015. "Monitoring and Enforcement of the Rule of Law in the EU: Rhetoric and Reality", *European Constitutional Law Review*. Vol. 11: p. 523

Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council, Brussels, 19.3.2014 COM(2014) 158 final/2, A new EU Framework to strengthen the Rule of Law p. 4

The Commission clearly outlined what the EU rule of law is, its core content and its purpose, but the notion of the threat of a systemic nature was not made as clear. It merely gave a vague explanation, mentioning examples of threats to the rule of law like problematic situations concerning the independence of judges and the separation of powers via the adoption of new measures or widespread practices of public authorities and the lack of domestic redress¹²¹. It adopted a view of the notion "systemic", as referring to the core elements of the state, without clarifying the means of the threat or the reasons why for example a change in the rules of procedure or the judiciary in a MSs would constitute a threat to the rule of law and how that is important to the EU and also within its competence to judge. This wording is different from that of Article 7 TEU which refers to a "serious and persistent" breach of the values of the EU as a triggering factor of the mechanism. Nevertheless, the framework the Commission presented with this Communication is perceived as a pre-Article 7 TEU procedure¹²².

This new procedure follows three stages involving an assessment of the situation of the MS concerned, a recommendation addressed to that MS and a follow-up by the Commission. In the assessment phase the Commission evaluates the status of the MS in question in order to establish whether there are clear indications of a systemic threat to the rule of law. In the case it concludes that such a threat exists, it shall send a rule of law opinion to that MS and give it the opportunity to respond to the Commission's concerns¹²³. This opinion should be based on the information it has gathered through the exchange of correspondence and meetings, which shall remain confidential, with the competent authorities on the basis of the MS's duty of sincere cooperation (Art. 4 (3) TEU)¹²⁴.

In the second stage, a rule of law recommendation, which will be made public, will be issued towards that MS, if the Commission considers that the appropriate measures we not taken to address the concerns it expressed¹²⁵. In this recommendation the Commission shall make known the specific reasoning behind it, at times proposing concrete solutions and giving the MS concerned a time frame to come up with the proper cure for their rule of law deficiencies, while keeping the Commission updated¹²⁶. Once more, the basis for this procedure will be the dialogue established between the Commission and the MS. The final step following the recommendation involves a monitoring of the situation by the Commission including exchange of information with the MSs concerned. If the Commission is not convinced by its efforts within the time limit set it will be able to activate the Art. 7 TEU procedure¹²⁷. Still, this is provided as a possibility and not a legal obligation of the Commission to trigger Art. 7.

In fact, this is a pre-preventive mechanism which in reality is set outside the mechanism of Art. 7 TEU and mimics the classic infringement procedure of Art. 258 TFEU without the involvement

¹²¹ ibid. p. 7

Reding, V., Vice-President of the European Commission, EU Justice Commissioner, *A new Rule of Law initiative*, Press Conference, European Parliament, Strasbourg, 11 March 2014

¹²³ Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council, Brussels, 19.3.2014 COM(2014) 158 final/2, A new EU Framework to strengthen the Rule of Law p. 7

¹²⁴ ibid.

¹²⁵ ibid. p. 8

¹²⁶ ibid.

¹²⁷ ibid.

of the CJEU¹²⁸. At this point it is worth noting how this framework contrasted the approach of the Council and the MSs, who rather aimed to establish a dialogue among peers and not an institutional tool¹²⁹. This is interesting for a couple of reasons; firstly, from a competence point of view and secondly it is important for the comprehension of the genealogy of the Commission's discourse on the rule of law. The Council Legal Service in its Opinion on the Commission's Framework to Strengthen the Rule of Law noted that there is no legal basis in the Treaties allowing the institutions to create a new supervision mechanism of the values of Art. 2 that is additional to Art. 7 TEU and suggested that the MSs should address the issue at an intergovernmental level 130. On the other hand it has been argued that since this framework does not have any concrete legal consequences it is difficult to assume that it infringes upon the principle of conferral. Moreover, Art. 7 TEU itself empowers the Commission to investigate potential risks of a serious breach of the values of Art. 2 TEU and submit a reasoned proposal to the Council. Therefore, it is reasonable to conclude that the Treaty already allows the Commission to monitor the MSs' rule of law standards through the establishment of a framework of that kind, taking also into account its role as a guardian of the Treaties ¹³¹.

It is important to establish the character and the role of this framework. It was an attempt by the Commission to bridge the standard procedure for specific violations of EU law, provided in Art. 258 TFEU, with the main procedure for systemic violations of EU values. This new procedure is quite similar to the 258 TFEU, since it includes a dialogue between the Commission and the MS concerned and a rule of law opinion by the Commission when it establishes a systemic threat to the rule of law¹³². Thus it is a tool which incorporates elements of both the infringement procedure and the Art. 7 mechanism as it is presented as a preliminary step to its activation.

What is more, the Commission, for the first time with its 2014 Communication, set up a rule of law monitoring framework to be applied to all MSs regardless. Before that the only monitoring mechanism was provided for Romania and Bulgaria at the time of their accession. The Cooperation and Verification Mechanism (CVM) was established in 2007 when Romania and Bulgaria joined the EU, in order to demonstrate that they would be able to keep up with the rule of law requirements of the Union after their accession. The CVM is a monitoring process that aims at maintaining the rule of law reforms that took place during the accession negotiations in an attempt to target the underlying problems of corruption of both these MSs¹³³. The Commission sets specific benchmarks upon which it

¹²⁸ Hillion. C. 2016. Overseeing the Rule of Law in the EU Legal Mandate and Means. In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union. Cambridge University Press. p 79 ¹²⁹ ibid. 80

¹³⁰ Council of the European Union, Opinion of the Legal Service on the Commission's Communication on a new EU framework to strengthen the Rule of Law: compatibility with the Treaties, Brussels 27.05.2014, Doc 10296/14, p. 7 points 24, 27
¹³¹ Article 17(1) TEU

¹³² much like the reasoned opinion of the Commission in Art. 258(1) TFEU

¹³³ Vachudova, M. and Spendzharova, A. 2012. "The EU's Cooperation and Verification Mechanism: Fighting Corruption in Bulgaria and Romania after EU accession", European Policy Analysis. Issue 2012:1, Swedish Institute for European Policy Studies, available at: https://www.sieps.se/en/publications/2012/the-eus-cooperation-and-verificationmechanism-fighting-corruption-in-bulgaria-and-romania-after-eu-accession-20121epa/, p. 2

annually evaluates these MSs in the specific fields and issues a report¹³⁴. These reports tend to be quite detailed and attentive to specific changes like administrative reforms and judicial cases¹³⁵.

Nevertheless, a more systematic approach did not come into play until 2020 when the Commission issued its first Annual Rule of Law Report, following its 2019 Communication where it announced its intention of intensifying its rule of law monitoring by publishing Annual Rule of Law Reports in which it would summarize the situation in the MSs¹³⁶. This Report forms part of the European Rule of Law Mechanism, a new gear in what has been described thus far as the EU rule of law mechanism. It is worth noting that this new rule of law mechanism came as a priority of the political agenda of the new President of the Commission, Ursula von der Leyen. It is built around the Rule of Law Reports and was based on the idea of a close dialogue with national authorities and interinstitutional cooperation ¹³⁷. Each MS has its own chapter in the Report. They focus on four pillars: the justice system, the anti-corruption framework, media pluralism and other institutional checks and balances. These Reports are viewed as the result of a close collaboration with the MSs at a Council level and through political and technical bilateral meetings in an attempt to establish a stable channel of communication ¹³⁸. When setting out the annual report the Commission takes into consideration the contributions of a number of EU agencies, European and national civil societies and international actors including the FRA, the Council of Europe and the European Network of the Presidents of Supreme Courts of the EU¹³⁹. It should be noted that the European Rule of Law Mechanism is distinguished from the Art. 7 TEU and Art. 258 TFEU procedures, unlike the 2014 Framework of the Commission¹⁴⁰.

Overall, the 2014 framework for the rule of law brought new elements, which enforced the rule of law mechanism and made serious efforts to bridge the gap between the infringement proceedings and the stricto sensu mechanism, while bringing attention to the importance of monitoring as a preventive measure in the maintenance of the values of the EU. However, it is necessary to refer to the weaker points of this procedure. Firstly, it presumes that the dialogue it establishes is going to bring positive results, which will most likely not be the case when the governing powers of a MS make a conscious choice to move away from EU values ¹⁴¹. Moreover, as it has been mentioned the Commission has failed to clearly define the concept of "systemic threat" and make a distinction between the notions of systemic threat and violation ¹⁴². In any event, whether there exists a threat to the rule of law or not, the right to trigger the pre-Article 7 TEU procedure remains

-

¹³⁴ Tzortzi, V. et al. 2020. *Mutual Trust in Times of Crises of EU Values; State of Play and Possible Next Steps*. Athens-Thessaloniki: Sakkoulas Publications, p. 67

¹³⁵ Vachudova, M. supra note 114, at p. 3

¹³⁶ Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, Brussels 17.07.2019, COM(2019) 343 final, Strengthening the Rule of Law within the Union; A Blueprint for Action, p. 11

¹³⁷Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, Brussels 30.09.2020, COM(2020) 580 final, 2020 Rule of Law Report; The Rule of Law Situation in the European Union, p. 4

¹³⁸ ibid

¹³⁹ ibid. p. 5

¹⁴⁰ ibid. p. 3 footnote no. 12

¹⁴¹ Kochenov, D. and Pech, L. 2015. "Monitoring and Enforcement of the Rule of Law in the EU: Rhetoric and Reality", *European Constitutional Law Review*. Vol. 11: p. 532 ¹⁴² ibid.

with the Commission, which preserves an absolute discretionary power. It is also worth mentioning that the confidentiality of the dialogue between the Commission and the MS concerned may limit the effectiveness of this procedure, considering that a public discussion of this nature would add on political pressure and perhaps turn it more dynamic ¹⁴³.

The Council's counter-proposal to the Commission's new framework was an annual rule of law dialogue among MSs within the Council, (taking a step further away from an institutional approach in addressing the rule of law issues of the MSs) which would be based on "the principles of objectivity, non-discrimination and equal treatment of all MSs on a non-partisan, evidence-based approach" This obviously adheres to the reluctance of some national governments to provide the Commission with the power to investigate their rule of law situation, considering the aforementioned supposed obstacle of the principle of conferred competence 145. The proposal of the Council has been criticised for being ineffective to face the challenges of the rule of law, taking into account that the discursive route adopted by the EU in the past has been equally unsuccessful in promoting EU values in third states 146.

Considering the formulation of the 2014 Framework for the Rule of Law, one should not fail to examine its evolution. In 2019, the Commission issued two new Communications, which aimed at enhancing the rule of law toolbox of the EU and clarifying the role of the Union and its institutions in this issue. In its July of 2019 Communication, which followed the judgment of the CJEU in the Commission v. Poland case, the Commission had to make use of the new jurisprudence of the Court. It focused on the significance of the independence of the judiciary for the rule of law in the EU, while making sure to note many a time that the safeguarding of the rule of law is primarily a responsibility of the MSs. The Commission identified three ways of enhancing the EU rule of law mechanism: promotion of rule of law culture, prevention and a common response when a problem has been identified. In promoting the rule of law culture the Commission mainly targets the general public and aims at informing them on the rule of law by ensuring the independence of the media encouraging the academic discourse and research around the rule of law though funding, supporting European judiciary networks, encouraging national Parliaments to establish an annual rule of law event, deepening the communication with the CoE and restarting the negotiations for the accession of the EU to the ECHR ¹⁴⁷.

In its preventive direction, the Commission made an effort to strengthen its monitoring tools. It presented a Rule of Law Review Cycle, which would gather information from existing reliable sources of information, as it has done in the past, like the FRA and the CoE while inviting the MSs to offer their perspectives and share their information, in a rule of law dialogue, in order to fight corruption and take a deep look into issues of media independence and pluralism¹⁴⁸. Within the frame

¹⁴³ ibid. p . 533

¹⁴⁴ Note from the Presidency to the Council "Ensuring Respect for the Rule of Law", 14 November, 2014, p. 5 point 16

Kochenov, D. and Pech, L. 2015. "Monitoring and Enforcement of the Rule of Law in the EU: Rhetoric and Reality",
 European Constitutional Law Review. Vol. 11: p. 534
 ibid

¹⁴⁷ Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, Brussels, 17.7.2019 COM(2019) 343 final, Strengthening the rule of law within the Union; A blueprint for action, pp. 5-7

¹⁴⁸ ibid. p. 9, 10

of this Cycle the Commission presented the aforementioned Annual Rule of Law Report and combined it with an enhancement of the EU Justice Scoreboard¹⁴⁹. It further noted the importance of interinstitutional cooperation, asking the EP and the Council to follow-up on the Rule of law Reports and made a reference to the peer review mechanism envisioned by the Council. Nevertheless, the Commission made sure to highlight its role as a guardian of the Treaties aiming at establishing its autonomy in reviewing the rule of law in the EU¹⁵⁰.

The recent case law of the CJEU¹⁵¹ gave the Commission a steady foundation to structure its response to rule of law threats in the EU. It announced a strategic approach to the infringement procedure of Art. 258 TFEU, it welcomed the intention of the Council to make the Art. 7 TEU proceedings more efficient and suggested further involvement of the EP and possible third parties like the CoE¹⁵². Furthermore, the Commission noted the need to further involve other institutions in the functioning of its 2014 Framework¹⁵³. It is worth noting that it made a special provision for the "rehabilitation" of the deviating MS by setting out a monitoring mechanism much like the CVM to follow-up the situation after the implementation of a formal rule of law process¹⁵⁴. The Commission makes an effort to note that the aim is that the need for a response, whether that is the activation of the Art. 7 procedure or the 258 TFEU proceedings, is limited through all the aforementioned preliminary measures. After all, sanctions research in law and political sciences, has demonstrated that sanctions are quite ineffective in bringing compliance, when compliance has to do with the core of the regime in question¹⁵⁵. It is therefore made evident that the rule of law of the Union cannot depend on coercion but rather it demands certain democratic culture sustain to it.

_

¹⁴⁹ This tool was set through Communications by the Commission and it aimed at evaluating the justice systems of MSs. See Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, Brussels, 27.3.2013 COM(2013) 160 final, 'The EU Justice Scoreboard; A tool to promote effective justice and growth' and Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, Brussels, 17.3.2014 COM(2014) 155 final, 'The 2014 EU Justice Scoreboard'

¹⁵⁰ Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, Brussels, 17.7.2019 COM(2019) 343 final, Strengthening the rule of law within the Union; A blueprint for action, p. 12

¹⁵¹ See Cases C-64/16 Associação Sindical dos Juízes Portugueses v Tribunal de Contas and C-619/18 European Commission v. the Republic of Poland

¹⁵² Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, Brussels, 17.7.2019 COM(2019) 343 final, Strengthening the rule of law within the Union; A blueprint for action, p. 14

¹⁵³ ibid.

¹⁵⁴ ibid. page 15

¹⁵⁵ Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. Reinforcement of the Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union: Key Options, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) *Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe; From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation*. Portland: Hart Publishing p. 186

Paragraph 3. The Corrective Arm – The Nature of Sanctions

As it has been demonstrated above, the core of the EU rule of law mechanism lies with the Art. 7 TEU mechanism and the measures adopted by the Commission in order for it to be implemented. However, it does not only rest on preventive measures, but most importantly, at least at first sight it provides for political sanctions against the deviating MS. The intention of the EU behind Article 7 is not to punish deviation from its norms, but to use this corrective mechanism in order to alter the behavior of a MS by providing a negative incentive. In its second paragraph, Art. 7 TEU regulates the determination of the existence of a serious and persistent breach of the fundamental principles of Art. 2 TEU by a MS. The proposal for this determination is made by the Commission or one third of the MSs. Then, the Council acting unanimously, not counting the vote of the MS in question, may decide on the existence of such a breach. Following that, the Council, acting by a qualified majority, may decide to suspend some of the rights assigned to the MSs by the Treaty. This includes the voting rights of the representative of the national executive in the Council. Moreover, Article 354 TFEU provides that in the voting process, the MS in question does not vote and that a MS's abstention does not count¹⁵⁶. As it has been mentioned, this procedure is independent of the preventive arm of the mechanism and it is not necessary to be subsequent to a decision of the Council finding that same MS to be at a clear risk of a serious breach of the values of Article 2. Again it is worth highlighting that the EP's power in the portion of the Art. 7 TEU mechanism is limited to giving its consent.

The determination of the existence of a serious and persistent breach of the values of the Union as well as the imposition of specific sanctions is left to the discretion of the Council 157. According to the third paragraph of Article 7 TEU, only certain rights can be suspended, otherwise the result would be equal to an expansion from the EU, which is not mentioned anywhere in the Treaties 158. Similarly, rights can only be suspended, which means that they must be restorable 159. This provision concerns rights deriving from the application of the Treaties, therefore only rights related to the membership to the EU may be suspended, including rights stemming from secondary law 160. Natural and legal persons have to be somewhat protected from such sanctions through the principle of proportionality, in a way that the least onerous measure to achieve the desired goal must be employed. It is also stated in that same paragraph that the obligations of the MS in question continue to apply despite the imposition of sanctions making evident that there is no option for a resort to reciprocity 161. As far as the subject of the suspended rights, it has been argued, that it is possible that they concern

¹⁵⁶ Article 354 TFEU: For the purposes of Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union on the suspension of certain rights resulting from Union membership, the member of the European Council or of the Council representing the Member State in question shall not take part in the vote and the Member State in question shall not be counted in the calculation of the one third or four fifths of Member States referred to in paragraphs 1 and 2 of that Article. Abstentions by members present in person or represented shall not prevent the adoption of decisions referred to in paragraph 2 of that Article.

¹⁵⁷ Poptcheva, E. M. 2016. 922 Understanding the EU Rule of Law Mechanisms , Briefing of January 2016, European Parliamentary Research, Members' Research Service, available at :

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2016/573922/EPRS_BRI%282016%29573922_EN.pdf

Dumbrovski, T. 2018. Beyond Voting Rights Suspension: Tailored Sanctions as Democracy Catalyst under Article 7 TEU, European University Institute Robert Schuman Centre for Advanced Studies, Working Paper 2018/12, available at: https://cadmus.eui.eu/handle/1814/52925 p. 5

¹⁵⁹ Ibid.

¹⁶⁰ Ibid.

¹⁶¹ Ibid.

individuals and not strictly apply to MSs, considering that the letter of the provision does not refer to MS's right but rather to rights deriving from the Treaties¹⁶².

It has been maintained that the causal relationship between an institutional crisis in a MS and the impairment of its democratic integrity should lead to the sanctions being oriented towards restoring democratic equality ¹⁶³. Furthermore, they should be guided by the principle of effectiveness in a two-fold manner; firstly, they have to be able to achieve the goal of altering the MS's behavior and secondly they have to be able to respond to the resistance of the recipient and specifically to combat the avoidance of the MS¹⁶⁴.

As it has been mentioned before, the corrective arm of Art. 7 TEU is also limited by the principle of proportionality, as the Council shall take into account the possible consequences of such a suspension on the rights and obligations of natural and legal persons. Therefore, according to the general proportionality test, sanctions have to be an appropriate measure to obtain the goal of altering the behavior of the MS (and ultimately restore democratic equality) (appropriate), which cannot be achieved by less onerous means (necessary) and even if there are no less burdensome measures, the sanctions cannot have an excessive effect on the MS in question. However, this part of Article 7 TEU can be read as leaving the door open for sanctions targeting individuals as the Council needs to only "take account of" and not for example do everything in its power to avoid any consequences on the rights of individuals, therefore, it suggests that it aims at refraining from having any collateral damage on persons at whom the sanctions are not targeted 165.

Moreover, the sanctions of this mechanism should have an approach focused on the beneficiaries of this Article. It has been mentioned that the aim of this part of the mechanism is to ensure that MS conform to the values of Article 2. Nevertheless, in theory, the ultimate purpose is to protect individuals, meaning the (economically active) citizens of the Union and the undertakings operating in the EU (regardless of their nationality or residence)¹⁶⁶. Therefore, the sanctions should be focusing at securing the interest of the beneficiaries. Still, posing the dilemma of whether this mechanism aims at protecting the citizens of a deviating MS or the practices of western-minded liberal democracy in that MS, would be taking things out of context. It rather aims at safeguarding the coherence of the EU and of the internal market.

The imposition of sanctions has been a part of EU practice since the introduction of the Common Foreign and Security Policy with the Maastricht Treaty. These measures can be either autonomous or derivative (based on a resolution of the Security Council of the UN) and target third states, individuals, natural or legal persons or generally non-state entities "in cases where they do not respect international law or human rights or pursue policies or actions that do not abide by the rule of law or democratic principles" ¹⁶⁷. Considering that the main means of influence of the EU is its

¹⁶² Ibid.

¹⁶³ Ibid. p. 11

¹⁶⁴ Ibid.

¹⁶⁵ Ibid. p 12

¹⁶⁶ Ibid.

Article 21 TEU, See also: General Framework for EU Sanctions, Summaries of EU Legislations, Summary of Article 29 TEU and 215 TFEU, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=LEGISSUM%3A25 1

economic powers, this is where the sanctions it imposes based on ¹⁶⁸. Gradual sanctions may be imposed including diplomatic sanctions but most importantly, economic sanctions like arms embargoes, restrictions on imports and exports and restrictive measures for example the freezing of funds of targeted individuals or organisations and travel ban. Restrictive measures are proposed by the High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security and then discussed on the Council. The decision is adopted by the Council by unanimity and when the sanctions include economic sanctions, they must be implemented in a Council Regulation ¹⁶⁹.

In the case of safeguarding the values of Article 2 TEU in the context of Article 7(3) TEU the type of the sanctions are not specified. There is no mention in the Treaties¹⁷⁰ that they can be directed towards individuals, neither that they are limited to the suspension of the voting rights of the MS in question. It is worth taking a deeper look into the nature of the sanctions that can possibly be imposed under this scheme. The "suspension of rights" is immediately related to political rights of the MS and this happens for two reasons; firstly, it is only logical, that a MS deviating from the values of the EU could not have a valid vote in the legislation procedure of the Union, secondly, the letter of the provision, suggests so.

The limitation of voting rights of the MS concerned is not utterly efficient. One MS cannot have such a vast influence in the Council so that the suspension of its rights would be a sufficient measure, considering that the areas demanding unanimity in the legislative procedures of the EU are limited ¹⁷¹. This is not true for the EP, where the political reach of the governing powers of the MS in question is amplified. Therefore, it is obvious that the sanctions referring to political rights suspension should involve the connection of the MS with the institutions in more complex ways. For example, a suspension of the right to participate in the meetings of the European Council, or the right to stand in the EU elections would be a more appropriate means of achieving the aim of the sanctions 172. However, it is certainly not up to the Council to decide matters that affect in such a manner the functioning of other EU institutions. This argument is enhanced by the fact that in the stage of the imposition of sanctions the Council acts alone. This is not entirely true though. The consent of the Parliament is part of both the determination of a risk of breach of the values of Article 2 TEU and of the existence of such a breach. Similarly, the Commission has the role of the initiator in the procedure and the European Council is to evaluate the evidence introduced by the Commission and the defense of the MS. Under those conditions, the Commission may also suggest the sanctions to be imposed and so can the EP when providing its consent¹⁷³. Accordingly, the Council, when deciding on the sanctions, it will be bound by the decision of the European Council, which will be formed either according to the suggestions of the Commission, or taking a different direction ¹⁷⁴. Hence, the decision

-

¹⁶⁸ Chachko, E. 2019. "Foreign affairs in court: Lessons from CJEU Targeted Sanctions Jurisprudence", *Yale Journal of International Law*, Vol. 44. No. 1, p. 8

¹⁶⁹ Article 31 TEU, See also: European Council, Council of the European Union, Adoption and review procedure for EU sanctions, available at: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/policies/sanctions/adoption-review-procedure/

¹⁷⁰ Unlike Article 215 TFEU

¹⁷¹ Dumbrovski, T. 2018. Beyond Voting Rights Suspension: Tailored Sanctions as Democracy Catalyst under Article 7 TEU, European University Institute Robert Schuman Centre for Advanced Studies, Working Paper 2018/12, available at: https://cadmus.eui.eu/handle/1814/52925 p. 16

¹⁷² Ibid. p. 17

¹⁷³ Ibid. p 18

¹⁷⁴ Ibid.

of the Council on specific sanctions is formed through a procedure in which all institutions are involved in some way. It should also be mentioned that the CJEU might be involved if the MS in question on the basis of Article 269 TFEU asks the Court to examine the integrity of the procedure. In the event that sanctions are imposed on individuals, they would be able to bring an action for annulment of the decision before the Court. Thus it seems that a suspension of political rights of the nationals of the target MS could be possible within the frame of Article 7. However, a general ban of this kind is likely equal to a suspension of the right not to be discriminated against and would most likely fail the proportionality test¹⁷⁵.

It has also been proposed that the nature of the sanctions of Article 7 TEU may be economic. These may be structured on either suspension of the fundamental freedom of movement, or of EU funding. In both cases, they should be specific and targeted. It has been suggested that instead of giving the funds to the state, which will then distribute them, the EU could directly fund specific projects based on applications and avoid funding blacklisted individuals and entities ¹⁷⁶. The restrictions on free movement should be similarly specified, treating targeted entities as residents of third countries and suspending the customs union for individual cases, or the rights that stem from the free movement of workers or the freedom to provide of services ¹⁷⁷.

Conclusion

As it has been demonstrated, the EU rule of law mechanism did not come up by chance at some fortuitous point in time. There are historic and political reasons behind the primary rule of law mechanism of the EU. As the needs of the Union changed with its enlargement and the enhanced integration, the primary tool for safeguarding the core principles of the EU came into play. The shadow of doubt that cast over the MSs at the time of the accession of the former communist countries created a demand for a mechanism that would safeguard the values of the EU and the rule of law among them. However, the Haider Affair in the late nineties revealed the need for a preventive tool in that aspect and made way for the establishment of the preventive arm of the mechanism of Article 7 TEU. As the integration process evolved and political changes in some MSs showed warning signs of an eminent crisis in the field of the rule of law, it became clear that there was a need for a close monitoring of the situation. Thus, the Union came up with new tools and mechanisms connected to the Article 7 procedure based on a dialogue with the MSs concerned in order to resolve the situation at an early stage and avoid triggering the quite rigid rule of law mechanism and the imposition of sanctions which would inevitably lead to political unease in the Union. Even though the preventive arm of Art. 7 TEU was finally triggered for two MSs, the imposition of sanctions was never realized.

¹⁷⁵ Ibid.

¹⁷⁶ Ibid. p. 20

¹⁷⁷ Ibid.

Chapter II. The EU Rule of Law Mechanism Lato Sensu

This Chapter explores the infringement procedure of Art. 258 TFEU as a lato sensu rule of law mechanism and examines its legal nature in the context of enforceability of the values of Art. 2 TEU. It presents the administrative characteristics of the pre-litigation procedure in order to paint the full picture of the legal 'footprint' of an infringement action in the EU legal order. It further examines the features of the principle of judicial independence through the case law of the CJEU and its relation to Art. 267 establishing the preliminary request procedure.

Paragraph 1. The intervention of the judiciary in safeguarding the rule of law in the EU

It is true that the effectiveness of EU law is largely dependent on the compliance of the MSs of the Union to its rules. The establishment and the functioning of the internal market would suffer if MS did not comply with the imperatives of EU law. However, this would not only affect the microeconomic constitution of the Union and the goal of the common market, but it would also have considerable implications for the development of the EU in the field of political integration as it would decrease the value of the commitments MSs have made towards it. This was exactly the role the Treaties handed to the Commission, to monitor the compliance of MSs with EU law 178.

According to the general infringement procedure of Articles 258 and 260 TFEU the Commission may refer to the CJEU in order to establish that a MS has failed to properly implement EU law and on that basis seek the imposition of pecuniary sanctions. This procedure has been in place since the Treaty of Rome (1957) and has since been enforced¹⁷⁹. The Treaty of Maastricht provided for financial sanctions against repetitive infringements whereas the Lisbon Treaty expedited the procedure for the cases concerning directives transposition, while it facilitated the Commission by removing the obligation for a reasoned opinion in the when bringing a case before the CJEU under Article 260 TFEU (which provides imposition of a lump sum or penalty payment on a MS due to its failure to comply with the judgment of the CJEU finding it guilty of infringing EU law)¹⁸⁰. This evolution is evidence of the MS's will to safeguard compliance with EU law and enhance the role of the Commission in the process¹⁸¹.

The procedure of Article 258 TFEU has two main stages: an administrative pre-litigation stage and one before the CJEU. The main goal of the pre-litigation procedure is to give the MS concerned the opportunity to comply voluntarily with its obligations, making this procedure quite

¹⁷⁸ Article 17 TEU

¹⁷⁹ Article 169 of the Treaty establishing the European Community 1957: If the Commission considers that a Member State has failed to fulfill an obligation under this Treaty, it shall deliver a reasoned opinion on the matter after giving the State concerned the opportunity to submit its observations. If the State concerned does not comply with the opinion within the period laid down by the Commission, the latter may bring the matter before the Court of Justice.

Andersen, S. 2011. "Non-Binding Enforcement of EU Law: Interpretation or Centralisation and Norm and Norm Assimilation?" Paper to be presented at EUSA Twelfth Biennial International Conference, Boston, Massachusetts, March 3-5, 2011, available at: http://aei.pitt.edu/52089/ p. 4

practical. However, it also serves another purpose, one of defining the dispute before the CJEU, as according to the case law of the Court an action for infringement by the Commission can only be based on the arguments it used at the preliminary stage ¹⁸².

The procedure begins when the Commission receives information about a potential breach of EU law. This information may be found in a complaint by an individual or an organisation, in a petition filed with the Petition Committee of the European Parliament, a complaint before the European Ombudsman or even preliminary ruling cases pending before the CJEU¹⁸³. Following the gathering of information the Commission may introduce a series of informal contacts with the MS concerned in an attempt to establish the validity of the claims and obtain all the necessary information, if it chooses to issue a Letter of Formal Notice¹⁸⁴. Therefore, if the communication with the MS concerned does not satisfy the Commission regarding its compliance concerns it may decide to commence the formal infringement proceeding (since it is in its discretion to do so).

This process starts with a proposal from the respective Directorate General following a consultation with the Legal Service and the Secretariat General. The continuation of the procedure is dependent upon the consensus achieved at a political level in the Commission when the matter will be presented as part of the "A points" on the agenda of the College of Commissioners¹⁸⁵. If the consensus is not achieved, the cabinet of the Commissioner responsible may bring the issue back to the competent service, close the dossier without taking any further action or bring it for discussion before the College of Commissioners under the "B points" of the agenda. Hence, it becomes evident that there is a complicated administrative procedure even before the formal initiation of the phase.

If agreement is found within the College of Commissioners, the Commission may send a request to the MS concerned for information in the form of a Letter of Formal Notice. This constitutes a legal document and is composed by the competent Directorate General while it is also commented by the relevant directorates and reviewed by the Legal Service. Its purpose is to outline and define the subject of the dispute and give the MS concerned the relevant information so that it may prepare its defense when submitting its observations to the Commission¹⁸⁶. The Letter provides a specific timeline (usually two months) within which the MS must answer the concerns of the Commission¹⁸⁷. In the case that the answers provided by the MS do not appease the Commission's suspicions over its failure to comply with EU law, a formal request for compliance may be sent by the Commission, which is the Reasoned Opinion¹⁸⁸. There, the MS concerned is called to inform the Commission on the measures it has taken to conform to the specific norms of EU law within the timeline set¹⁸⁹. It is

https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/publications/infringement-proceedings-tool-enforcement-fundamental-rightseuropean-union p. 11

¹⁸² CJEU Case C-210/91, Judgment of the Court of 16.12.1992, *Commission of the European Communities v Hellenic Republic*, ECLI:EU:C:1992:525, para. 10

¹⁸³ De Schutter, O. 2017. Infringement Proceedings as a Tool for the Enforcement of Fundamental Rights in the European Union. Open Society European Policy Institute, available at:

¹⁸⁴ ibid.

¹⁸⁵ ibid. p. 14

¹⁸⁶ ibid. p. 15

¹⁸⁷ ibid.

¹⁸⁸ Article 258(1) TFEU

¹⁸⁹ De Schutter, O. 2017. *Infringement Proceedings as a Tool for the Enforcement of Fundamental Rights in the European Union*. Open Society European Policy Institute, available at:

important to note that the Reasoned opinion, though it may give a more detailed view on some subjects, it cannot go beyond the grounds established in the Letter of Formal Notice, as that would violate the rights of defense of the MS¹⁹⁰.

It is necessary to shed some light on the discretionary power with which the Commission operates in this procedure. In most cases where a Letter of Formal Notice and a Reasoned Opinion were sent, either the response of the MS was adequate to resolve any possible misunderstanding, or it adopted measures to comply with EU law¹⁹¹. On the contrary, when the Commission considers that the matter was not sufficiently addressed, it may file an action for infringement based on the Letter of Formal Notice and the Reasoned Opinion. This leaves a wide margin of discretion to the Commission to act upon an alleged infringement of EU law.

Moreover, the Commission has the ability to withdraw the action in case subsequently to the Reasoned Opinion the MS concerned takes action to compensate for its noncompliance¹⁹². If it decides to continue with the procedure, the actual existence of a failure to comply with EU law is investigated and established by the CJEU. It is worth noting that in the proceedings before the Court it is only possible for other MSs and EU institutions and not for private parties and individuals to intervene, even though their complaints possibly constitute the motive behind the initiation of the procedure¹⁹³. Private parties are absent from the procedure and not have any rights including being informed and heard by the Commission, considering that complainants do not form part of the 258 TFEU proceedings and that the MS concerned and the Commission may come to an agreement. Therefore, it becomes evident that the Commission has a wide margin of discretion that is not confined by the interests of the persons who contributed to the initiation of the procedure.

The significance of the 258 TFEU procedure is not only found in the fact that it defines the obligations MSs have under EU law and requires them to conform with them, but also in that it may lead to that MS being liable for any damages caused by that violation¹⁹⁴. A MS found 'guilty' of not abiding by EU rules by the CJEU may also be on the receiving end of financial sanctions, a lump sum or a penalty payment, if it is held by the Court that it has failed to comply with the judgment of the infringement procedure¹⁹⁵.

The infringement procedure is one of the tools of enforcement of EU law, which, naturally, is, according to the Commission, of high priority. Nevertheless, statistics show that this procedure is gradually used less in recent times. In the time period between 2012 and 2016 they have reduced from 47 to 27 completed cases by the CJEU¹⁹⁶, while in the years 2016 - 2020 they have fluctuated between

https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/publications/infringement-proceedings-tool-enforcement-fundamental-rightseuropean-union p. 15

¹⁹⁰ Ibid.

¹⁹¹ ibid. p. 16

¹⁹² ibid. p. 18

¹⁹³ ibid. p. 19, See also Statute of the Court of Justice of the European Union (Protocol 3 annexed to the TFEU) Article 40(2)

¹⁹⁴ CJEU joined Cases C-6/90 and C-9/90 Judgment of the Court of 19.11.1991, *Andrea Francovich and Danila Bonifaci and others v Italian Republic*, ECLI:EU:C:1991:428

¹⁹⁵ Article 260 TFEU

¹⁹⁶ De Schutter, O. 2017. *Infringement Proceedings as a Tool for the Enforcement of Fundamental Rights in the European Union*. Open Society European Policy Institute, available at:

25 and 30 completed cases¹⁹⁷. This is attributed to the fact that the Commission seems to choose to commence the 258 TFEU procedure only in cases where there is a higher possibility of it being successful¹⁹⁸. This decrease can also be attributed to the fact that a solution is often found at the initial stage of the procedure, or after the sending of the Letter of Formal Notice¹⁹⁹.

It becomes evident that the procedure of Article 258 TFEU has a strong administrative character until it reaches the phase before the CJEU. Considering this fact, one should not forget that the Court has given the rule of law a central role in the EU administrative system. It views this concept as a means of achieving coherence in the review procedures of measures adopted by EU institutions and national administrations, adopting an understanding of the rule of law close to the principle of legality and a perspective of constitutionality review of both statutory and administrative laws (to the extent that such a distinction applies in EU law), stemming from the constitutional traditions of the MSs²⁰⁰. Therefore, it would only be logical for the EU to employ its principal administrative instrument to impose the core concept of its administrative system, considering the discretion the Commission is given throughout this procedure. In this sense, the 258 TFEU procedure is a way of realising the rule of law, if this notion is essentially perceived in a more formalistic way, as a concept closely related to the principle of legality. However, the EU's rule of law is not limited to this perception but it also includes a substance-based approach.

 $\underline{https://www.opensociety foundations.org/publications/infringement-proceedings-tool-enforcement-fundamental-rights-\\european-union\ p.\ 22$

 $\underline{https://www.opensociety foundations.org/publications/infringement-proceedings-tool-enforcement-fundamental-rights-european-union\ p.\ 22$

¹⁹⁷ Court of Justice of the European Union, Annual Report 2020, Judicial Activity, available at: https://curia.europa.eu/jcms/jcms/Jo2 7000/en/ p. 218

¹⁹⁸ De Schutter, O. 2017. *Infringement Proceedings as a Tool for the Enforcement of Fundamental Rights in the European Union*. Open Society European Policy Institute, available at:

¹⁹⁹ ibid. p. 25

²⁰⁰ Pech, L. 2003. Rule of law in France. In: Peenerboom, R. Asian Discourses of Rule of Law: Theories and implementation of rule of law in twelve Asian countries, France and the U.S. London: Routledge. p. 97

Paragraph 2. The role of the infringement procedure in upholding the rule of law in the EU

Both the substantive and formal elements of the perception of the rule of law of the Union are, in principle, protected by the Article 7 TEU mechanism. However, the infringement procedure may contribute to the implementation of this legal principle throughout the EU, not by merely providing a control of the principle of legality. It is important to examine how Article 258 TFEU can be used to achieve the coherent application of the values of Article 2 TEU.

According to Article 17(1) TEU "the Commission shall oversee the application of Union law under the control of the Court of Justice of the European Union". It has been argued that there is nothing in the Treaties to exclude the applicability of the values of Article 2 TEU. Considering that the lettering of Article 258 TFEU provides a horizontal scope for the procedure, a MS failing to fulfill an obligation 'under the Treaties' may well include the obligation to comply with the values of the Union found in Article 2 TEU. The single limitation to the Commission's enforcement powers is related to the Common Foreign and Security Policy according to Article 24(1) TEU. Similarly, there seems to be no restriction over the jurisdiction of the CJEU to examine cases based on Art. 2 TEU. This is thought to be so, considering that the primary lawmakers would have made it explicit either as they did with the CFSP, or when they limited the Court's power to procedural issues of the Article 7 TEU mechanism²⁰¹. Overall, it is accepted that Article 19 TEU attributes general jurisdiction to the Court, from which derogations are to be narrowly interpreted²⁰².

However, there are a couple of questions that emerge when assuming that Art. 2 TEU is enforceable through the infringement procedure. Firstly, the content of the values is quite vague and therefore could generate some legal uncertainty. This also intertwines with the fact that there are doubts as to whether it imposes any obligations at all²⁰³. Hence, for the values of Art. 2 TEU to be a subject of infringement procedure, their substance should be clarified. Their definition is thought to have gradually been structured through the enlargement policy of the Union and the prerequisites it imposes on candidate MSs²⁰⁴. This argument is enhanced by the fact that the values specified by the benchmarks the Commission demands to be fulfilled by states who wish to accede to the EU are unanimously agreed upon by the MSs²⁰⁵. Similarly, the annual reports of the Commission on the progress of the candidate MSs, which have added detail to the substance of the values of the Copenhagen criteria are submitted to the Council and the European Council and at a later stage the final evaluation is to be approved by all MSs which will have to ratify the Accession Treaty on the basis of their constitutional requirements. These procedures demonstrate that the content of the values referred in Art.2 TEU has been specified in the context of the accession of a new MS, with the consent of the MSs. Keeping this in mind one would argue, that the CJEU may codify these accession

²⁰¹ Hillion, C. 2016. Overseeing the Rule of Law in the EU Legal Mandate and Means. In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) *Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union*. Cambridge University Press. p 66 ²⁰² ibid

²⁰³ ibid. p. 67

Historically, the choices the European Community made on the accession of autocratic states like Franco's Spain or the Kingdom of Morocco expressed the shared community values. See Scheppele, K. L., Kochenov, D. and Grabowska-Moroz, B. 2020. "EU Values Are Law, after All: Enforcing EU Values through Systemic Infringement Actions by the European Commission and the Member States of the European Union", *Yearbook of European Law*, Vol. 39, No. 1. Available at: https://academic.oup.com/yel/article/doi/10.1093/yel/yeaa012/6064852?login=true p. 26

standards as it has done in the past with the General Principles of EU law, without having specific foundations in primary law²⁰⁶.

However, when linking the rule of law as a value to the General Principles, which also constitute the basis of the Charter, one should keep in mind that they are applicable only when MSs are implementing Union law (Article 51(1) of the Charter). This would mean that the Court would either have to make a distinction between values applicable to MSs in general and when they are implementing EU law or revise the scope of "implementing EU law"²⁰⁷. It is true though that a strict interpretation of this notion leads to the paradox that for example, a possible reintroduction of the death penalty in a MS would allow the invocation of the according prohibition provided in Art. 2(2) of the Charter only when that MS is acting in the scope of EU law²⁰⁸. Thus, it appears that this relationship should be interpreted in a way that rather improves the coherent application of the values of Article 2 TEU throughout the Union and not strip the Charter of its effectiveness. Still, this goes back to the scope of Article 2 TEU and the principle of conferral as it can be argued that the values of EU law as expressed in this Article are there only for MSs and EU institutions, to adhere to them when they act within the limits of the powers conferred to them by EU law²⁰⁹.

On this note, it has been suggested by the EP in its Resolution on the establishment of an EU mechanism on democracy, the rule of law and fundamental rights, that the Commission may build systemic infringement cases based on Art. 2 TFEU by incorporating several infringement cases together²¹⁰. This shall be based on the findings included in an annual report, which will incorporate data from the FRA, the Council of Europe and other relevant institutions²¹¹.

This idea was originally conceived and put forward by Kim Lane Scheppele (professor at Princeton University and specialist of Hungarian constitutional law). She commented that the Commission's choice to address the lowering of retirement age of Hungarian judges, through an infringement proceeding based on the Employment Directive²¹² is taking away from its political character, since the decision of Hungary was primarily affecting the independence of the judiciary and despite the Commission winning the case before the CJEU, the Hungarian government was able to avoid restoring the judges back to their posts, but rather offered them compensation²¹³. Were the Commission to take the route of systemic infringements it would be able to demonstrate how specific

²⁰⁶ ibid. p. 69

²⁰⁷ ibid. p. 70

²⁰⁸ ibid. p. 71

²⁰⁹ Konstantinides, T. 2017. The Rule of Law in the European Union; The Internal Dimension. Portland: Hart Publishing,

p. 165
²¹⁰ European Parliament resolution of 25 October 2016 with recommendations to the Commission on the establishment of an EU mechanism on democracy, the rule of law and fundamental rights (2015/2254(INL)), Article 10 available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-8-2016-0409 EN.html ²¹¹ ibid.

²¹² Council Directive 2000/78/EC of 27 November 2000 establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation

²¹³ Scheppele, K. L. 2016. Enforcing the Basic Principles of EU Law through Systemic Infringement Actions, In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union. Cambridge University Press. p

cases form part of a larger rule of law issue. These individual infringements would be presented as evidence for the existence of a threat to judicial independence and therefore to the rule of law²¹⁴.

This approach would identify patterns in many fields of law, which would point to a specific practice on the part of a MS against the values of the EU²¹⁵. This would not be the first time the Commission does not treat certain behaviors individually and independently but rather as symptoms of a larger motif taking into account the C-491/01 Commission v. Ireland case and the concept of general and continuous failure to fulfill obligations²¹⁶. The systemic infringement procedure could also be enhanced by the use of other proceedings like interim measures or accelerated proceedings, which would turn it quite effective, while keeping in mind the possible application of Article 260 TFEU and the suspension of EU funds for MSs failing to comply with a systemic infringement judgment²¹⁷.

Nevertheless, reflecting upon this ambitious doctrinal basis for bundling violations of EU law, one should not fail to note the possibility that the CJEU may decide that the specific procedure of Article 7 TEU precludes the use of the infringement procedure in these cases. This is based on the presumption that Art. 2 TEU is to be perceived as a lex specialis to Art. 7 TEU, since the latter specifically refers to the former and in that sense, legal actions outside this framework could not be allowed²¹⁸.

On the other hand, this approach does not seem to have a basis in the Treaties and could be considered to interfere with the institutional balance of the Union (Article 13(2) TEU), in a sense that it unjustifiably limits the overseeing powers of the Commission²¹⁹. Moreover, it is maintained that limiting the rule of law mechanism to Art. 7 TEU would seriously impede the aim of the promotion of the values of the EU, considering that the infringement procedure makes intervention possible at an earlier stage before the breach becomes serious and persistent²²⁰. Following that, it should be noted that the two branches of the rule of law mechanism of the Union can be viewed as complementary, considering that the Art. 258 TFEU procedure should be able to tackle any failure of a MS to comply with EU law, whereas Art. 7 TEU addresses only a serious and persistent breach of the rule of law (and generally of the values of Art. 2 TEU for that sake). Similarly, at a sanctions level, Art. 258 TFEU imposes a judicial sanction, which might induce the imposition of a lump sum or penalty payment, while the "stricto sensu" mechanism of Art. 7 TEU may lead to political sanctions of

²¹⁴ ibid. p. 117

²¹⁵ Scheppele, K. L., Kochenov, D. and Grabowska-Moroz, B. 2020. "EU Values Are Law, after All: Enforcing EU Values through Systemic Infringement Actions by the European Commission and the Member States of the European Union", *Yearbook of European Law*, Vol. 39, No. 1. Available at: https://academic.oup.com/yel/article/doi/10.1093/yel/yeaa012/6064852?login=true p. 20

²¹⁶ Christianos, V., Papadopoulou, R.E., Perakis, M. 2021. *Introduction to European Union law*, 2nd edition. Nomiki Bibliothiki: Athens, p. 210

²¹⁷ ibid. pp. 22-23

²¹⁸ Kochenov, D. and Pech, L. 2015. "Monitoring and Enforcement of the Rule of Law in the EU: Rhetoric and Reality", *European Constitutional Law Review*. Vol. 11: p. 520

²¹⁹ Hillion, C. 2016. Overseeing the Rule of Law in the EU Legal Mandate and Means. In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union. Cambridge University Press. p 72 ²²⁰ ibid. p. 73

suspension of the particular MS's rights aiming at isolating it in order to protect the functioning of the Union²²¹.

Other than the doctrinal issues that emerge from the possible use of Art. 2 TEU as a basis for an infringement case before the CJEU, the operation of this procedure by the Commission in practice, has put emphasis on its limits. As it has been mentioned before, the Commission chooses to launch only a small portion of the possible infringements and more importantly, when it does so it shows determination in negotiating (without public disclosure) the problems with the MS concerned and resolving it at the earliest stage possible²²². It approaches the procedure having a rather narrow view of the EU acquis, in a way that deprives it of its meaning, framing cases based on specific violations of secondary law²²³. More specifically, when infringement actions are limited to direct violations of the acquis, the fact that these specific violations most likely constitute symptoms of a larger systemic problem, is overlooked²²⁴. Similarly, the complexity of the procedure makes it cumbersome and slow allowing for an impairment of the situation of the MS in question in the meantime²²⁵. The characteristics the procedure has deployed, could lead to the conclusion that they only exist to conceal the Commission's unwillingness to bring out the issue of federalisation and question the MS's competence to structure their proper institutions²²⁶. As a result, the Commission has fixated on technical violations in cases of MSs with serious constitutional deficiencies prevailing and has failed TFEU²²⁷. the proper priorities in the use of 258 to set

_

²²¹ ibid.

²²² Scheppele, K. L., Kochenov, D. and Grabowska-Moroz, B. 2020. "EU Values Are Law, after All: Enforcing EU Values through Systemic Infringement Actions by the European Commission and the Member States of the European Union", *Yearbook of European Law*, Vol. 39, No. 1. Available at:

https://academic.oup.com/yel/article/doi/10.1093/yel/yeaa012/6064852?login=true p. 46

²²³ ibid.

²²⁴ ibid. p. 47

²²⁵ ibid.

²²⁶ ibid. p. 60

²²⁷ For example, it used the infringement procedure against Hungary because it failed to properly impose the VAT taxation, while at the same time the Venice Commission warned about the impairment of constitutionalisation in the country. See supra note 203 at: p. 62

Paragraph 3. Judicial Independence as a moving force of the EU Rule of Law Mechanism

The imperative of judicial independence is essential to the right to a fair trial and therefore it is important that it be incorporated in administrative practices and for such matters to be open to judicial review²²⁸. Article 47 of the Charter provides that the right to a fair trial is guaranteed only through an independent and impartial tribunal. However, even before the adoption of the Charter the CJEU had applied the requirement of judicial independence as a part of the right to effective judicial protection as a general principle of EU law, expressed in the common constitutional traditions of MSs.

Judicial independence is considered to have a dual expression; external and internal. External judicial independence means that the judges as a body and as individuals have to be able to exercise their duties autonomously, without external interventions, whether that may be pressure from the executive power or a hierarchically higher judge/president of the court²²⁹. The internal aspect has to do with the impartiality and objectivity of the judge. Both need to be guaranteed by an appropriate statutory framework which ensures that the conditions of appointment of judges are inviolable, that the principle of irremovability of judges is safeguarded²³⁰, that the grounds for the dismissal of judges are sufficiently precise and consistent with the principle of legal certainty, that the decisions of the judiciary are binding and that their remuneration is proportionate to the importance of their work in order to protect them from attempts of corruption²³¹.

In general, it is true that in cases where EU law does not have specific provisions concerning the procedure of protecting rights granted by it, the burden falls on the MS to establish appropriate procedural rules according to the principle of procedural autonomy. Still, they have to abide by the principles of equivalence (the MS's procedural rules cannot be less favorable than those governing similar situations of domestic law) and effectiveness (they cannot make it excessively difficult or impossible in practice to exercise the rights conferred by EU law). Those principles are a direct effect of the general obligation of the MSs to ensure the protection of the rights their citizens have under EU law, according to Article 19 (1) TEU. Besides, MSs' courts are not only courts of national law, since they are called to also apply EU law and therefore, they constitute a keystone in protecting the EU rule of law and ensuring respect for community law through the principles of primacy, direct effect, consistency of interpretation and state liability²³².

In the Johnston Case, the Court made it clear that the requirement of independence is crucial for safeguarding the rights of individuals in the context of EU law. M. Johnston challenged the

²³⁰ Exceptions to the irremovability of judges have to be subject to the principle of proportionality and any disciplinary regimes concerning judges must have guarantees that they will not become a tool of political control over the judiciary. See supra note 161urts at p. 21

²²⁸ Adam, S. 2019. Judicial Independence as a Functional and Constitutional Instrument for Upholding the Rule of Law in the European Union. In: Craig, P et al. *Rule of Law in Europe Perspectives from Practitioners and Academics*. European Judicial Training Network. Available at: https://www.ejtn.eu/News/Rule-of-Law-in-Europe--Perspectives-from-Practitioners-and-Academics1/ p. 17

[&]quot; ıbıd. p. 18

Members of the judiciary may be at the receiving end of negative measures concerning their remuneration, which at all events have to be justified by a legitimate objective and be proportionate to that objective. See supra note 161, at p. 23 Lenaerts, K. 2019. Overview of the Case Law of the Court of Justice of the European Union with Respect to the Rule of Law. In: Craig, P et al. *Rule of Law in Europe Perspectives from Practitioners and Academics*. European Judicial Training Network. Available at: https://www.ejtn.eu/News/Rule-of-Law-in-Europe--Perspectives-from-Practitioners-and-Academics1/ p. 72 See also European Parliament Report A6-0224/2008 of 4.6.2008 on the role of the national judge in the European judicial system (2007/2027(INI)) Committee on Legal Affairs Rapporteur: Diana Wallis, p. 58

decision of the competent Irish administrative authority not to renew her contract as a full-time police reserve and to allow her to participate in arms-training, on the basis of discrimination based on gender, considering that domestic law allowed only males to carry firearms. This national provision was considered to be justified on the basis of the protection of public safety and order. What is more, an act based on that provision was not reviewable before courts as it was considered a priori justified hence, the domestic rule compelled the court to accept the difference in treatment and the justification by an administrative authority. The CJEU, responding to a preliminary request of the Industrial Tribunal of Northern Ireland (based on Art. 177 EEC, today's art. 267), concluded that this constituted an obstacle to the right to effective judicial protection against unequal treatment on the basis of art. 6 of Directive 76/207²³³ on the implementation of the principle of equal treatment for men and women as regards access to employment, vocational training and promotion, and working conditions, which was applicable in this situation²³⁴.

The requirement of judicial independence as a prerequisite for effective judicial protection, which became settled law, was further explored in the El Hassani Judgment of the CJEU. The Case considered the provision of a right to appeal against a decision rejecting a visa application²³⁵. The Polish national law did not provide a remedy against such a decision before administrative courts and a refusal by the Consul (the competent national authority) was only subject to review before the same Consul. The Court held that considering that the Visa Code constitutes EU law, the Charter, and therefore Art. 47 therein, concerning judicial independence, was applicable²³⁶. On that note, it recalled that judicial independence in the context of EU law demands that the judiciary act as a third party in relation to the authority which adopted the contested decision, which was not the case with the Polish national law²³⁷.

One must not fail to observe the importance of judicial independence specifically in the light of the preliminary request mechanism, as it is a basic prerequisite for the uniform interpretation of EU law. It is necessary for national courts to be independent and impartial when there emerges a need to refer a preliminary question to the CJEU. When a national court has doubts as to how an EU law provision should be interpreted it has the ability or rather the obligation to refer a preliminary question to the CJEU. The CJEU in its 2/13 Opinion on the accession of the EU to the ECHR, explained that the preliminary ruling procedure is not only a tool of consistency in EU law, but also at the core of the

-

²³³ Article 6 of Council Directive 76/207/EEC of 9 February 1976 on the implementation of the principle of equal treatment for men and women as regards access to employment, vocational training and promotion, and working conditions: Member States shall introduce into their national legal systems such measures as are necessary to enable all persons who consider themselves wronged by failure to apply to them the principle of equal treatment within the meaning of Articles 3, 4 and 5 to pursue their claims by judicial process after possible recourse to other competent authorities.

²³⁴ ECJ Case 222/84, Judgment of the Court of 15.05.1986, *Marguerite Johnston v Chief Constable of the Royal Ulster Constabulary*, ECLI:EU:C:1986:206, para. 20

²³⁵ This right was provided for by Art. 32(3) of the Visa Community Code (Regulation (EC) No 810/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 July 2009 establishing a Community Code on Visas) according to which: Applicants who have been refused a visa shall have the right to appeal. Appeals shall be conducted against the Member State that has taken the final decision on the application and in accordance with the national law of that Member State.

²³⁶ CJEU Case-403/16, Judgment of the Court of 13.12.2017, *Soufiane El Hassani v Minister Spraw Zagranicznych*,

ECLI:EU:C:2017:960, para. 37

²³⁷ ibid. para. 40

autonomy of the EU legal order²³⁸. Therefore, this procedure is crucial for the protection of the rights conferred on individuals by EU law and forms part of the toolbox of the EU in protecting the rule of law within the Union.

National procedural rules cannot limit the powers and obligations domestic courts derive from Article 267 TFEU. When for example there is a pending case before a court of first instance for the second time after it has been appealed by a higher court, the same court must be able to refer a preliminary question to the CJEU, even if it is bound by the decision of the higher court by national law, otherwise, its autonomous jurisdiction conferred by Article 267 TFEU would be challenged²³⁹. The establishment of a proceeding against a decision to refer a preliminary question is not precluded by EU law, however the referring court alone must decide on amending or withdrawing the preliminary reference. By the same token, the CJEU has declared national proceedings that do not allow a chamber of a court of final instance to address a preliminary reference when it does not agree with the decision of the plenary session, unless it refers that question to its plenary session, are incompatible with EU law²⁴⁰.

-

²³⁸ CJEU, Opinion 2/13, Opinion of the Court of 6.2.2014, *Draft international agreement* — *Accession of the European Union to the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms* — *Compatibility of the draft agreement with the EU and FEU Treaties*, ECLI:EU:C:2014:2454, para. 176

²³⁹ Adam, S. 2019. Judicial Independence as a Functional and Constitutional Instrument for Upholding the Rule of Law in the European Union. In: Craig, P et al. *Rule of Law in Europe Perspectives from Practitioners and Academics*. European Judicial Training Network. Available at: https://www.ejtn.eu/News/Rule-of-Law-in-Europe--Perspectives-from-Practitioners-and-Academics1/ p. 29

²⁴⁰ CJEU C-689/2013, Judgment of the Court 5.4.2016, *Puligienica Facility Esco SpA (PFE) v Airgest SpA*, ECLI:EU:C:2016:199, para. 36

Conclusion

It is evident that the judicial scheme of enforcement of EU law embedded in the Treaties is not an entirely indifferent mechanism when it comes to protecting the values of the Union. The classic infringement actions of Article 258 TFEU are a procedure with a strong administrative character, programmed to ensure the application of the EU acquis. Thus, their connection to the concept of the rule of law is mostly through the principle of legality, as its main purpose is to ensure that MS's actions comply with the letter of the Treaties. However, it has been argued both by different scholars and by EU institutions that this provision can become a sort of constitutionality control of the MS's behavior based on Article 2 TEU. The actions of the MSs may be brought before the CJEU and challenged for their compliance with the values of the Union. This suggestion however, hits a doctrinal wall if one brings up the need for a substantially specific EU law provision that the MS's behavior will be measured against but also the presumption that Article 2 TEU is a lex specialis to Article 7 TEU therefore it cannot be used for the purposes of the infringement procedure. These arguments can be curbed by claiming that there no provision in the Treaties that limits the jurisdiction of the CJEU for those matters (like there is for the CFSP) or that viewing Art. 2 TEU as a lex specialis would seriously limit the rule of law toolbox of the Union. These assumptions are mostly backed though by the recent case law of the CJEU, which used the infringement proceedings against Poland to enforce the basic values of the EU rule of law. Although, for that to happen, it needed a precedent which led the way for EU law to be linked through Article 267 TFEU and the preliminary ruling procedure with the national legal orders and the independence of their judiciary.

Part B

The effectiveness of the EU Mechanism in the Rule of Law **Backsliding in Recent Years**

Chapter I. Recent Cases of Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU and the Role of the Stricto Sensu mechanism

The EU is based on a specific set of values, i.e. the respect for human dignity, freedom, democracy, equality, the rule of law and respect for human rights and for a third European state to become a MS of the EU it has to adhere to those values. They are stemming from the common constitutional traditions of the MSs and in theory they are one of the main elements that bind European states together in the frame of a supranational legal order. Their upholding is a goal set for both the EU and individual MSs and it is achieved, partly, via the rule of law mechanism as it has been described thus far. In order to better understand their full spectrum it is important to examine the situations under which they are deemed to be threatened and in need of protection by said mechanism.

Paragraph 1. The historic roots of the problem

During the past decade, legislative reforms in Hungary and Poland have caused unrest in the EU since they have been viewed as colliding with the rule of law standards of the Union. This situation, known as 'rule of law backsliding', has not been formally defined even though this notion has been used in EU official documents²⁴¹. It begins with the society losing trust in the governing powers for reasons that have to do with a rise in unemployment and inequality combined with a crisis in the party system²⁴². This leads to the election of a new government with a radical approach, which utilizes the concept of the 'will of the people' and moves quickly to neutralize cells of resistance in the system focusing on the independence of the judiciary and of the media²⁴³. They more often than not turn against civil society and make an effort to change the election laws in order to maintain power²⁴⁴. As a result, voters are left with few means of resistance considering that the democratic and constitutional system has been tampered with²⁴⁵. Eventually, emerges a democratically elected

²⁴¹ Pech, L. and Scheppele, K. L. 2017. "Illiberalism Within: Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU", Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies Vol. 19 available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3009280 p. 6 ²⁴² Ibid.

²⁴³ Ibid. p. 7

²⁴⁴ Ibid.

²⁴⁵ Ibid.

government, which aims at weakening the checks and balances of the system in order to dismantle the democratic liberal governance and replace it with a long-term ruling of the dominant party²⁴⁶.

Even though significant rule of law problems have emerged throughout the Union, due to some MSs' corruption-weakened judiciary and their systems being challenged by serious budgetary problems, the cases of Hungary and Poland should be treated differently. This is because their 'rule of law crisis' was a deliberate route of governance inspired by the Russian model of 'managed' democracy, as Jan-Werner Müller has suggested, aiming at maintaining a democratic façade through regular elections, while at the same time ensuring that a change, an overthrow of the government, will be all but impossible via debilitating the institutional checks and balances²⁴⁷. In essence, there is a distinction to be made between a MS which has achieved the rule of law and is now in a process of deconstructing it and a MS which was finding it difficult to achieve it in the first place²⁴⁸.

The words of the Hungarian Prime Minister (who has been in power since 2010) accurately describe the direction the MS has taken the past decade. More specifically, he has described the Hungarian state as 'an illiberal state, a non-liberal state, which would not reject the fundamental principles of liberalism such as freedom and would not make this ideology the central element of state organisation, but instead includes a different, special, national approach'²⁴⁹. Their government achieved a fundamental revision of the constitutional order in Hungary, which altered the rather successful transition from communism to a system of liberal democracy, towards a semi-authoritarian regime, which systematically undermined the rule of law²⁵⁰. It is important to examine whether the illiberal democracy established in Hungary constitutes either a clear risk of a serious breach or a breach of the values of Article 2 TEU.

One of the most prominent examples of the character the Hungarian constitution has deployed is the distinction in its preamble between Hungarians, and "the nationalities living with us" which are part of "the Hungarian political community" but not of the nation, which is a quite explicitly nationalistic concept²⁵¹. In 2013, the Hungarian Parliament adopted a "Fourth Amendment" to its constitution, which introduced limitations to the independence of the judiciary, enhanced governmental control over universities, allowed political prosecution, criminalized homelessness, put obstacles to the exercise of freedom of religion and generally imperiled human rights²⁵². Moreover,

²⁴⁶ Ibid.

²⁴⁷ Bugarič, B. 2016. Protecting Democracy inside the EU: On Article 7 TEU and the Hungarian Turn to Authoritarianism, In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) *Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union*. Cambridge University Press. p. 87

²⁴⁸ See supra note 239 at: p. 8

²⁴⁹ Viktor Orbán's speech at the 28th Bálványos Summer Open University and Student Camp, 22 July 2017, Tusnádfürdő (Băile Tuşnad, Romania), available at: https://visegradpost.com/en/2017/07/24/full-speech-of-v-orban-will-europe-belong-to-europeans/

europe-belong-to-europeans/
²⁵⁰ Bugarič, B. 2016. Protecting Democracy inside the EU: On Article 7 TEU and the Hungarian Turn to
Authoritarianism, In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) *Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union*.
Cambridge University Press. p. 82

²⁵¹"Editorial Comments: Hungary's new constitutional order and 'European unity'". 2012. *Common Market Law Review*, Vol. 49 Issue 3, pp. 874 available at:

https://kluwerlawonline.com/journalarticle/Common+Market+Law+Review/49.3/COLA2012033

Bugarič, B. 2016. Protecting Democracy inside the EU: On Article 7 TEU and the Hungarian Turn to Authoritarianism, In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) *Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union*. Cambridge University Press. p. 89

the Hungarian government introduced a two-thirds majority in the Parliament for legislation on 'critical' topics, the president of the Supreme Court was dismissed prematurely, the electoral law was reviewed in a way that would make it difficult for any other party than the dominant to win the election, introduced a Regulatory Authority in media law which provided for high penalties for journalists and editors and catered for an overall nationalist governance against minorities particularly Roma communities²⁵³.

What brought the most unease was the amendment of Articles 12 and 19 of Hungary's Fundamental Law, which restrained the power of the Constitutional Court, making the rule of law suffer a serious blow. These amendments essentially repealed all decisions made by the Court before the new Hungarian Constitution entered into force making it impossible for any previous precedent to be invoked in new cases based on the constitution²⁵⁴. They also limited the Court's jurisdiction to only procedural review of new amendments, preventing from reviewing their substance as regards conflicts with constitutional principles²⁵⁵.

The newly found Hungarian constitutional order was faced with strong criticism within the EU especially in the report of 24 June 2013 adopted by the European Parliament (Tavares Report²⁵⁶) on the situation of fundamental rights in Hungary (pursuant to the European Parliament resolution of 16 February 2012). In this report, the EP made a suggestion, which has then been repeated, to create an independent mechanism to monitor the situation in Hungary and as it has been mentioned, proposed the creation of a 'Copenhagen Commission', which would be a body of experts with a purpose to assess the continuous compliance with the Copenhagen criteria²⁵⁷. This body would submit recommendations to the EU institutions and the MSs on ways to combat the situation and avoid any deterioration²⁵⁸. Moreover, in its 2015 Resolutions²⁵⁹ the EP was vocal about the deterioration of the rule of law situation in Hungary, calling attention to the Hungarian legislation concerning asylum seekers and refugees, policies which undermined the rights of minorities (including Roma, Jews and LGBTQI+ persons), the independence of the judiciary and of other institutions and to corruption allegations²⁶⁰. The attacks on academic freedom through the restriction of the Central European University and on civil society, which incurred in 2017, were only the continuation of the situation established in the Resolutions of the Parliament²⁶¹.

On that note, it is important to refer to the Hungarian legislation, which ignited much criticism and was thought to be interfering with the independence of the judiciary. The Transitional Act, an explicatory supplement to the constitution, provided the lowering of the retirement age for judges

²⁵³ Lichtenberger, E. 2016. The Rule of Law in European Policy: A Parliamentarian's View, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe: From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation. Portland: Hart Publishing. p. 49

²⁵⁴ Ibid.

²⁵⁵ Ibid.

²⁵⁶ Named after Rui Tavares, the Portuguese MEP, who was the rapporteur

²⁵⁷ Ibid. p. 90

²⁵⁸ Ibid.

²⁵⁹ Of 10 June and of 16 December

²⁶⁰ European Parliament resolution of 16 December 2015 on the situation in Hungary (2015/2935(RSP)) (2017/C 399/13), available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=CELEX%3A52015IP0461 points F and G Pech, L. and Scheppele, K. L. 2017. "Illiberalism Within: Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU", *Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies* Vol. 19 available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3009280 p. 17

from 70 to 62 years, which led to the retirement of 274 judges and public prosecutors²⁶². Among the judges who would have to retire, most were presidents of the courts and were responsible for assigning cases. This not an entirely novel practice of intervention of the executive power in the judiciary as history shows. In 1963, the de Gaulle administration proposed a reform of the French Conseil d' État. It included the obligation for Counselors of State to retire upon reaching 65 years, reducing the 70-year age limit²⁶³. This obviously created a suspicion at the time in the circles of constitutional and administrative law theorists, concerning the ability of the government to retire judges opposing it, thus doubting the separation of powers²⁶⁴.

However, the Hungarian government was not left untenable in this debate, considering they could validly bring up examples of other European jurisdictions, which were akin to the institutional amendments it had proposed²⁶⁵. For instance, the German federal judges are elected by a body consisted of political delegates without representation of judges, therefore, in this sense it is difficult to condemn the Hungarian proposal providing for an independent President of the National Office for the Judiciary elected by the Parliament (with a two-third majority) with a competence of appointing judges²⁶⁶.

Following the general elections, on 19 November 2015, the Sejm (the lower house of the Parliament of Poland), through an accelerated procedure, amended the law on the Constitutional Tribunal, introducing the possibility to annul the judicial nominations made by the previous legislature and to nominate five new judges. On 25 November 2015, the Sejm passed a motion annulling the five nominations by the previous legislature and on 2 December nominated five new judges.

The results of Polish legislative elections in the fall of 2015 lead to the PiS (Prawo i Sprawiedliwość, Law and Justice) party seizing power and moving forward with amendments, which caused significant turmoil In the EU and lead the Commission to take action according to the rule of law framework it had issued a year earlier. Following the general elections, the Sejm amended the law on the Constitutional Tribunal through an accelerated procedure and made it possible to essentially annul the judicial nominations of the outgoing legislature and nominate five new judges²⁶⁷.

The Constitutional Tribunal was occupied by the matter and proceeded to deliver two judgments on the 3 and 5 December 2015, in which it ruled that the previous legislature of the Sejm was in fact entitled to nominate the three judges whose terms expired on the 6th November 2015. Accordingly, it held that the nominations by the new legislature had no legal basis, as three judges had

²⁶² Bugarič, B. 2016. Protecting Democracy inside the EU: On Article 7 TEU and the Hungarian Turn to Authoritarianism, In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) *Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union*. Cambridge University Press. p. 95

²⁶³ Burin, F. S. 1966. "Executive power and the Rule of Law in the Fifth French Republic", *Social Research*. Vol. 33, No. 3: p. 425

²⁶⁴ Ibid.

²⁶⁵ Badó, A. and Bóka, J. 2016. Access to Justice and Judicial Independence: Is there a Role for the EU?. In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) *Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe: From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation*. Portland: Hart Publishing. p. 49
²⁶⁶ Ibid.

²⁶⁷ European Commission, Brussels, 20.12.2017 COM(2017) 835 final 2017/0360 (NLE) Reasoned Proposal in Accordance with Article 7(1) of the Treaty of the European Union Regarding the Rule of Law in Poland, Proposal for a Council Decision on the determination of a clear risk of a serious breach by the Republic of Poland of the rule of law p. 3

already lawfully been nominated by the previous one²⁶⁸. On 22 December, the Sejm adopted new legislation concerning the functioning of the Tribunal as well as the independence of its judges, which was found to be unconstitutional by the Tribunal²⁶⁹. This decision was not published in the Official Journal; therefore, it had no legal effect. Failing to publish unwelcomed decisions of the Constitutional Tribunal has been a regular practice on behalf of the government. Moreover, in late 2015 and early 2016, the Sejm proceeded to adopt a number of sensitive laws through an accelerated procedure, which concerned media law, a new Civil Service Act and the police²⁷⁰.

This turn of events led the Commission to initiate the procedure of the rule of law framework it had presented with its above-analysed 2014 communication, by carrying out a preliminary assessment of the situation²⁷¹. The Polish government failed to ease the Commission's rule of law concerns leading to the adoption of a Recommendation by the Commission in July 2016 with which it gave Poland three months to implement its five concrete recommendations²⁷². On the other hand, Polish authorities preferred to question the validity of the rule of law framework, rather than cooperate with the Commission, threatening to bring the Recommendation and the (formal) Opinion, which preceded it, before the Court based on an action for annulment²⁷³. However, these acts of the Commission obviously are not strictly speaking legally binding acts. Their compelling force is rather found on the duty of sincere cooperation. On the 22 July 2016, the Sejm adopted a new law on the Constitutional Tribunal, which was deemed to be unconstitutional by that same tribunal on the grounds of the separation of powers, the independence of the judiciary and the principle of integrity and efficiency of the public institutions²⁷⁴.

Under those circumstances, the Commission had to issue a complementary Recommendation. The fact that the Polish government continued to undermine the Constitutional Tribunal and as a result its ability to provide efficiently a constitutional review of legislative acts, aggravated the Commission's concerns²⁷⁵. On that note, the new laws adopted which gave the government more power over the functioning of the Tribunal along with the unusual appointment of a new president confirmed the rule of law violations²⁷⁶. The Polish administration, faithful to its patterns, once more refused to publish the decision of the Constitutional Tribunal, which found the law of 22 July to be unconstitutional²⁷⁷.

The reform of the Polish justice system continued and led the Commission to issue a third Recommendation on 26 July 2017. New laws introduced by the Sejm provided further amendments

²⁶⁸ Ibid.

²⁶⁹ Ibid. pp. 3-4

²⁷⁰ Ibid

²⁷¹ Pech, L. and Scheppele, K. L. 2017. "Illiberalism Within: Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU", *Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies* Vol. 19 available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3009280 p. 11 Pid.

²⁷³ Ibid. p. 12

²⁷⁴ See supra note 266 at: p. 6

²⁷⁵ Pech, L. and Scheppele, K. L. 2017. "Illiberalism Within: Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU", *Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies* Vol. 19 available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3009280 p. 13

²⁷⁷ European Commission, Brussels, 20.12.2017 COM(2017) 835 final 2017/0360 (NLE) Reasoned Proposal in Accordance with Article 7(1) of the Treaty of the European Union Regarding the Rule of Law in Poland, Proposal for a Council Decision on the determination of a clear risk of a serious breach by the Republic of Poland of the rule of law p. 7

concerning the National School of Judiciary²⁷⁸, National Council for the Judiciary, the Ordinary Courts and the Supreme Court, demanding the dismissal and forced retirement of all Supreme Court judges, except those designated by the Minister of Justice²⁷⁹. These legislative choices allowed further interference of the administration in the judiciary, essentially giving them the power to fire and appoint judges at all levels of the system²⁸⁰. Although public unrest delayed their enforcement, Polish officials were committed to reintroduce the laws²⁸¹.

The Commission found the condition of the rule of law in Poland to be deteriorating. In particular, it pointed out that the recomposition of the Constitutional Tribunal through the unlawful appointment of a new President and of three judges of that Court, and the inability of the lawfully nominated judges by the previous legislation to take their function since 2015, had as a result the inadequacy of this Tribunal in its role of constitutionality observer due to its evident lack of independence. The aforementioned laws on the Supreme Court, the National Council for the Judiciary, the Ordinary Courts and the National School of Judiciary were considered by the Commission to "aggravate the systemic threat to the rule of law and to raise serious concerns as regards their compatibility with the Polish constitution" 282.

The law on the Supreme Court lowers the general retirement age of judges from 70 to 65 years old. This measure was meant to apply to all judges at office at the time forcing to retirement all those who had reached 65 or would reach the age limit within three months of the entry into force of the law²⁸³. This would result in 31 of 83 judged of the Supreme Court to retire and by that seriously affecting the irremovability of judges, which is an important part of the principle of judicial independence²⁸⁴. Evidently, the Polish government used the same measures the Hungarian administration had previously employed. It therefore constitutes a very efficient means of capturing the judicial power, considering that the retirement of these judges would lead to vacancies filled by judges appointed by the President of the Republic, on a recommendation by the newly composed National Council for the Judiciary, which was similarly influenced by political powers²⁸⁵. More importantly, the President of the Republic was offered the discretion to decide on the prolongation of the active mandate of judges of the Supreme Court, without any specific criteria²⁸⁶. Furthermore, this law introduced a new procedure named the extraordinary appeal, which would allow the Supreme Court to overturn any decision of a Polish Court of the last 20 years, including judgments of that same Court, raising concerns regarding the principle of legal certainty²⁸⁷. It also had an effect on the disciplinary procedures of the Supreme Court, leaving space for interference of the President of the Republic even in this field, allowing them to appoint a disciplinary officer other than the disciplinary officer of the Supreme Court²⁸⁸. Correspondingly, procedural guarantees for judges being investigated

-

²⁷⁸ Ibid. p. 9 point (45)

²⁷⁹ Ibid. pp. 10 points (43), (44), (49)

²⁸⁰ See supra note 273 at: p. 15

²⁸¹ Ibid.

²⁸² See supra note 275 at: p. 11 points (1)-(4)

²⁸³ Ibid. p. 21

²⁸⁴ Ibid.

²⁸⁵ Ibid.

²⁸⁶ Ibid. p. 24

²⁸⁷ Ibid.

²⁸⁸ Ibid. p. 26

for a disciplinary offense were constrained²⁸⁹. The lowering of the retirement age was again used in the law concerning the Ordinary Courts, reducing the age limit from 67 to 60 for female and form 67 to 65 for male judges²⁹⁰.

What is worth mentioning is that these amendments to the judicial system by the new Polish legislature were considered to be incompatible with the Polish constitution, not only by the Commission, but by the Constitutional Tribunal itself. On the other hand, Hungary did not have to violate the constitution in order to create an illiberal state as it had the ability (or the supermajority in the legislative branch) to amend the constitution every time it wanted to proceed with an action that could possibly be challenged on a constitutionality basis²⁹¹.

-

²⁸⁹ Ibid.

²⁹⁰ Ibid. p. 31

²⁹¹ Pech, L. and Scheppele, K. L. 2017. "Illiberalism Within: Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU", *Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies* Vol. 19 available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3009280 p. 21

Paragraph 2. The effectiveness of the Article 7 mechanism in the cases of Hungary and Poland

The deeply problematic turn the Hungarian governance took through new legislation and constitutional amendments were at least a warning sign of a violation of the values of the EU on behalf of that MS. However, it was not until 2018 that an EU institution took action based the Article 7 TEU mechanism. The European Parliament took a step forward, relying on the powers conferred upon it by Art. 7(1) TEU, so that the Council would eventually examine whether Hungary was culpable of being at a clear risk of a serious breach of the values of Art. 2 TEU²⁹². It rather took a long time considering that the suspicious structural changes in that MS had been happening for some time. It has been argued that the European People's Party (EPP), the center-right coalition with the majority of seats at the Parliament, of which the Hungarian governing party formed part, had been reluctant to take action regarding the situation and halted the activation of the mechanism²⁹³. Before that, the EP had indeed been the most vocal of the EU institutions concerning the rule of law backsliding in Hungary, when it adopted the Tavares Report²⁹⁴, which was met with little action on behalf of the other institutions²⁹⁵. The immediate response from the Hungarian administration to the Report was rather hostile, adopting a (national) Parliament resolution, which considered the EP's action a discrimination against Hungary, until it was pressured to make some mild changes²⁹⁶.

As the situation continued to deteriorate the EP called for action by the Commission with its 2015 Resolution, seeking for the rule of law framework, which was essentially tailored for Hungary, to be activated²⁹⁷. Interestingly enough, the Parliament referred to the necessity of proof of the EU's political willingness to protect its founding values²⁹⁸. This perhaps is a testament to the characterisation of the Article 7 TEU mechanism as a nuclear option being rather misleading, especially as far as its preventive arm is concerned, and it all comes down to sheer political will of both the EU institutions and the MS. Nevertheless, the framework was never activated against Hungary. At first, the Commission justified its inaction by claiming that Hungary had always been open to a constructive dialogue with the EU institutions²⁹⁹. This however was untrue considering the

²⁹² The proposal, approved by 448 votes to 197, saw a clear risk of a serious breach of the EU founding values in Hungary, specifically regarding the judicial independence, freedom of expression, corruption, rights of minorities, and the situation of migrants and refugees in that MS.

See European Parliament resolution of 12 September 2018 on a proposal calling on the Council to determine, pursuant to Article 7(1) of the Treaty on European Union, the existence of a clear risk of a serious breach by Hungary of the values on which the Union is founded (2017/2131(INL)), P8 TA(2018)0340, available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-8-2018-0340 EN.html

²⁹³ Bugarič, B. 2016. Protecting Democracy inside the EU: On Article 7 TEU and the Hungarian Turn to Authoritarianism, In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union. Cambridge University Press. p. 90

²⁹⁴Previously, it had adopted resolutions in 2011 and 2012 criticising Hungary's constitutional amendments and media

²⁹⁵ Pech, L. and Scheppele, K. L. 2017. "Illiberalism Within: Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU", Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies Vol. 19 available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3009280 p. 26 ²⁹⁶ Halmai, G. 2018. The possibility and desirability of economic sanction: Rule of law conditionality requirements against illiberal EU Member States. European University Institute Department of Law, EUI Working Paper LAW 2018/06, available at: https://me.eui.eu/gabor-halmai/wp-content/uploads/sites/385/2018/06/Halmai-2018-Hague Journal on the Rule of Law.pdf p. 3

²⁹⁷ Pech, L. and Scheppele, K. L. 2017. "Illiberalism Within: Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU", Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies Vol. 19 available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3009280 p. 17 ²⁹⁸ Ibid.

²⁹⁹ Ibid. p. 19

defiant reaction of the Hungarian government when the Commission opened an infringement procedure against the so-called Lex-CEU³⁰⁰. Still, in the context of the Article 7 TEU mechanism it is unclear whether there is, if any, hierarchy between the competent EU institutions, in its triggering making the EP's request of the Commission less defendable. On that note, it should be noted that the adoption of a new instrument in the prevention and remedy against the rule of law backsliding in the EU was a determined effort by the Commission to respect its role as guardian of the Treaties. On the other hand, the Council has been proven to be less willing³⁰¹.

The activation of the mechanism for Hungary came eight years after the commencement of the systemic amendments, which defied the 'constitutional order' of the Union. However, the EP's long due initiative mobilized the progression of the situation, giving the Council the chance to find whether there exists a clear risk of a serious breach of the values of Art. 2 TEU. The Reasoned Proposal for the activation of the preventive branch of the rule of law mechanism annexed to the Resolution of 12 September 2018 expressed the concerns of the Parliament over the situation in Hungary. It cited various reports by the Venice Commission and the UN Human Rights Committee regarding the lack of transparency of the constitutional amendments process and the subsequent weakening of the national checks and balances³⁰². Moreover, it made note of the limitations of the competences of the Hungarian Constitutional Court and the restriction of the constitutional complaint procedure³⁰³. The attacks on judicial independence and the independence of other institutions like the Data Protection Commissioner were further worrying signs concerning Hungary's compliance with the standards of the rule of law, which were also confirmed by the jurisprudence of both the CJEU and the ECtHR³⁰⁴.

The OSCE (Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe) Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights report (to which the EP Resolution referred) concluded that the limited transparency of the election campaign spending was contrary to international obligations and undermined the voter's right to make an educated choice with their vote³⁰⁵. Furthermore, the EP used evidence provided by OLAF (European Anti-fraud Office) which revealed serious irregularities and conflicts of interest in important infrastructure projects³⁰⁶. It also based its reasoning on the dangerous developments in the areas of freedom of expression and academic freedom, especially the constriction of foreign universities operating in the country³⁰⁷.

The Hungarian Act CCVI of 2011 on the Right to Freedom of Conscience and Religion and the Legal Status of Churches, Denominations and Religious Communities, which reduced the number of recongised churches and the subsequent amendment to the Fundamental Law to grant the Hungarian Parliament authority to select religious communities for cooperation were used as grounds

³⁰⁰ Ibid. p. 20

³⁰¹ Ibid. p. 21

³⁰² European Parliament resolution of 12 September 2018 on a proposal calling on the Council to determine, pursuant to Article 7(1) of the Treaty on European Union, the existence of a clear risk of a serious breach by Hungary of the values on which the Union is founded (2017/2131(INL)), P8_TA(2018)0340, available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-8-2018-0340 EN.html p. 5

³⁰³ Ibid.

³⁰⁴ Ibid. pp. 7-8

³⁰⁵ Ibid. p. 8

³⁰⁶ Ibid. p. 9

³⁰⁷ Ibid. p. 12

for the reasoned proposal as well, based on the infringement of the freedom of religion³⁰⁸. Moreover it considered that the legislative practice of linking foreign funds with NGOs as recipients with illegitimate purposes such as money laundering and the discourse presenting said organizations as foreign agents were impeding the freedom of association, considering that the same concerns were expressed by the several Rapporteurs of the UN and the UNHCR³⁰⁹. The Reasoned Proposal also addressed concerns regarding the rights of persons belonging to minorities, including Roma and Jews and their protection against hateful statements against such minorities as well as the right to equal treatment³¹⁰. Similarly, the conditions surrounding Hungarian practices around its asylum system had raised concerns about its treatment of refugees which were expressed by the UNHCR³¹¹. Therefore, the European Parliament using information provided by sources enumerated by the 2003 Communication of the Commission which are to be considered when assessing the rule of law situation in MSs, based its proposal on the failings of Hungary to observe the imperatives of checks and balances when it tampered with its constitution, the independence of its judiciary and the standards of its democracy as well as the fundamental rights not only of Hungarians but of persons residing voluntarily or not in Hungary.

This action by the EP did not stop the Hungarian administration from proceeding to enhance its policy of 'capturing' the judicial power via a new law on administrative courts³¹². Moreover, it introduced a procedure, which allowed government officials to take any decision of an ordinary court to the politically conditioned Constitutional Court to overturn that decision³¹³. Therefore, the activation of the mechanism had no immediate practical return, making it at least for now, ineffective. What is worth noticing, is that despite the activation concerned only the first part of the mechanism, the so-called preventive arm, introduced with the Nice Treaty, it still took a surprisingly long time just to set it forth. This is partly due to the high voting threshold demanded by the Treaties since according to Article 354 TFEU "for the purposes of Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union, the European Parliament shall act by a two-thirds majority of the votes cast, representing the majority of its component Members". As it has been mentioned, another reason for this serious procrastination could be traced back to political affiliations not allowing the EP to enact its full institutional potential.

On the other hand, in the case of Poland, the Commission took that step somewhat earlier, by setting forth the Rule of Law Framework it had initially created for Hungary. After having completed multiple cycles of fruitless dialogue with the Polish Authorities and four Recommendations the Commission issued, in December 2017, a reasoned Proposal for a Decision of the Council on the Determination of a Clear Risk of a Serious breach of the rule of law by Poland according to the first paragraph of Article 7 TEU³¹⁴. However, as during that time of dialogue and recommendations the

_

³⁰⁸ Ibid. p. 13

³⁰⁹ Ibid. pp. 14-15

³¹⁰ Ibid. pp. 16-20

³¹¹ Ibid. p. 20

³¹² Scheppele, K. L., Kochenov, D. and Grabowska-Moroz, B. 2020. "EU Values Are Law, after All: Enforcing EU Values through Systemic Infringement Actions by the European Commission and the Member States of the European Union", *Yearbook of European Law*, Vol. 39, No. 1. Available at:

https://academic.oup.com/yel/article/doi/10.1093/yel/yeaa012/6064852?login=true p. 39 lbid.

³¹⁴ Halmai, G. 2018. The possibility and desirability of economic sanction: Rule of law conditionality requirements against illiberal EU Member States. European University Institute Department of Law, EUI Working Paper LAW

Commission did not even attempt to start the corrective arm of the mechanism, the Polish Government had the time and ease to proceed with its judicial reforms without any obstacles by the EU institutions whatsoever³¹⁵. This choice by the Commission could only be attributed to its attempt to find political support in the Council in order to move forward with the Article 7 TEU mechanism³¹⁶. Nevertheless, such a choice by the Commission might be considered to be unwise, keeping in mind its role as an independent institution that was designed specifically that way in order to be able to take difficult decisions like in this case³¹⁷

The results of the use of the Framework in the case of Poland brought forward its weaknesses. As it has been mentioned before, this structure employed by the Commission to resolve the structural weaknesses of MSs was mostly based on a discursive approach on the presumption that a constructive dialogue with the MSs concerned would have a positive outcome³¹⁸. This hypothesis, could not lead anywhere and more so in the cases where the MS deliberately and openly undermined the rule of law³¹⁹. The fact that the recommendations the Commission had issued were not legally binding and that the triggering of the Article 7 TEU mechanism was up to its discretion, quite obviously, left much room to the Polish government, and to any administration breaching the rule of law, to continue with its policies almost undisturbed. The use of the framework came to be a procrastination as regards the activation of the 'preventive' arm of Article 7 TEU and therefore allowed the Polish administration to dismantle its Constitutional tribunal and Supreme Court as well as its Ordinary Courts in the meantime. Furthermore, as the case of Hungary demonstrated, the Commission and the tools it had at its disposal were not enough to reinstate discharged judges or restore civil society organisations³²⁰.

Therefore, the utility of the Framework was undermined by the way the Commission used it. Initially it was a tool to be "activated in situations where the authorities of a Member State are taking measures or are tolerating situations which are likely to systematically and adversely affect the integrity, stability or the proper functioning of the institutions and the safeguard mechanisms established at national level to secure the rule of law"³²¹. It aimed to bridge the gap between the infringement procedure and the Article 7 TEU mechanism through a more flexible framework, considering the high threshold for the activation of both branches of said mechanism³²². However, the fact that it was not used in the case of Hungary, which exactly depicted the situation it was constructed for, hindered its success³²³. Moreover, when the framework was adopted, the UK, still a MS at the time, criticised it claiming that it was essentially duplicating the Art. 7 (1) procedure and by

2018/06, available at: https://me.eui.eu/gabor-halmai/wp-content/uploads/sites/385/2018/06/Halmai-2018-Hague Journal on the Rule of Law.pdf p. 10

Pech, L. and Scheppele, K. L. 2017. "Illiberalism Within: Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU", Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies Vol. 19 available at: https://papers.csm.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3009280 p. 14 ³¹⁶ Ibid. p. 15

³¹⁷ Ibid. p. 24

³¹⁸ Ibid. p. 22

³¹⁹ Ibid.

³²¹ Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council, Brussels, 19.3.2014 COM(2014) 158 final/2, A new EU Framework to strengthen the Rule of Law p. 6

Maurice, E. 2021. Protecting Checks and Balances to Save the Rule of Law. Fondation Robert Schuman, Policy Paper, European Issues no 590, available at: https://www.robert-schuman.eu/en/doc/questions-d-europe/ge-590-en.pdf p.

³²³ Ibid.

doing so it also enhanced the role of the Commission and weakened the position of the MSs in the process³²⁴. What is more, the discretion the Commission is granted in this procedure is problematic not only due to the procrastination it may encompass, but also considering that it could be influenced by political reasons³²⁵. For example, it has been argued that the power of the EPP had an effect in the handling of the Hungarian case, keeping in mind that its government was affiliated with it, whereas it was easier for the Commission to act in the case of Poland whose administration was closer to the marginal European Conservatives and Reformists party (ECR).

In the case of the Council, initially, it did not support the Commissions' efforts when it brought forward the framework and instead it chose to establish the aforementioned annual dialogue, which was evidently ineffective 326. In the same vein, the Council Legal Service enhanced that position when it questioned the Commission's competence to form and implement such a framework 327. It took until May 2017 for the Council to criticize Poland and address the situation in its General Affairs Configuration meeting, where the vast majority of MSs pointed the MS's uncooperative position 328. Yet should a MS clearly ask for the Commission's intervention in activating Art. 7 TEU, a complex diplomatic situation would arise. Therefore, it falls on the Commission to initiate this procedure, as its role is independent as mentioned. However, the Commission on its part would have it difficult to make a proposal, which no national government would support. Hence, this situation turns out to be a conundrum of political willingness and institutional roles. Furthermore, the minimized role of the EP in the procedure of Article 7 TEU as it came to be shaped today, has seriously limited the mechanism's effectiveness, considering that this institution has been actively criticising the development of the situation both in Hungary and Poland and called for action at an early stage 329.

In the context of the procedure of Article 7(1) TEU, the Council has held four hearings with the Polish government and two with Hungary the most recent of which was on 22 June 2021 for both MSs³³⁰. It is worth noting that since the triggering of the procedure four countries had held the

³²⁴ Halmai, G. 2018. The possibility and desirability of economic sanction: Rule of law conditionality requirements against illiberal EU Member States. European University Institute Department of Law, EUI Working Paper LAW 2018/06, available at: https://me.eui.eu/gabor-halmai/wp-content/uploads/sites/385/2018/06/Halmai-2018-Hague_Journal_on_the_Rule_of_Law.pdf p. 11

³²⁵ Pech, L. and Scheppele, K. L. 2017. "Illiberalism Within: Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU", *Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies* Vol. 19 available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3009280 p. 23 ³²⁶ Ibid. p. 24

³²⁷ Ibid.

³²⁸ Ibid. p. 25

³²⁹ Michelot, M. 2019. The "Article 7" Proceedings against Poland and Hungary: What Concrete Effects?. Notre Europe Institut Jacques Delors, Europeum Institute for European Policy, available at: https://institutdelors.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/190415-EN-Etatdedroit.pdf p. 3

content/uploads/2020/08/190415-EN-Etatdedroit.pdf p. 3

330 Halmai, G. 2018. The possibility and desirability of economic sanction: Rule of law conditionality requirements against illiberal EU Member States. European University Institute Department of Law, EUI Working Paper LAW 2018/06, available at: https://me.eui.eu/gabor-halmai/wp-content/uploads/sites/385/2018/06/Halmai-2018-Hague Journal on the Rule of Law,pdf p. 1

See also: Council of the European Union, Brussels, 9 July 2021 (OR. en) 10246/21, LIMITE JAI 793 FREMP 197 POLGEN 122 AG 57, Note From General Secretariat of the Council On 9 July 2021 To Delegations Subject: Rule of Law in Poland - Article 7(1) TEU Reasoned Proposal - Report on the hearing held by the Council on 22 June 2021 available at: https://www.statewatch.org/media/2618/eu-rule-of-law-council-poland-outcome-hearing-22-6-21-10246-21.pdf

Council of the European Union, Brussels, 9 July 2021 (OR. en) 10247/21, LIMITE JAI 794 FREMP 198 POLGEN 123 AG 58, Note From General Secretariat of the Council On 9 July 2021 To Delegations Subject: Values of the Union -



Paragraph 3. The role of sanctions in the cases of Hungary and Poland

The corrective arm of the Art. 7 TEU mechanism is quite political both in its functioning and in the nature of the sanctions. It revolves around the operation of the Council and is considered to have an inherent diplomatic character³³². In addition, as it has been demonstrated above, the reasons behind the establishment of a sanctioning mechanism against MSs who are deviating from the core values of the EU were political, therefore it was only natural that the forces behind this provision wanted to maintain control over it. However, there are reasonable grounds to question the dynamics of the Art. 7 mechanism. Firstly, if one observes the situation its activation would generate through the lens of the internal market, it is easy to understand the unwillingness of the rest of the MSs to impose sanctions on one of their own, considering that due to the interdependence of the EU economies this would equal to sanctioning their own undertakings³³³.

Furthermore, it has to be taken into account that this is a very cumbersome mechanism, since it has the requirement of unanimity in the Council, which would be practically impossible to achieve if there were more than one MSs violating the values of Art. 2 TEU. Similarly, it is difficult to imagine how the restriction of the political rights in the EU of a MS whose governing powers are circumventing the rule of law would result in the reversal of such a regime³³⁴. Even though the sanctions portion of the mechanism has never been triggered, one could look at the political sanctions imposed in the Haider Affair (although the EU did not impose these sanctions strictly speaking) in order to gain some perspective on possible outcomes.

The Commission's lack of decisiveness to initiate the Rule of Law Framework in the case of Hungary when it was suggested by the Parliament meant that it could not take advantage of a unique opportunity to curb the high standards (unanimity in the Council) of the sanctioning branch of the rule of law mechanism of Art. 7 TEU. Had it done so, it would have been able to introduce reasoned proposals for the opening of this procedure against both MSs, thus disallowing the veto the Hungarian administration had proclaimed in case Poland were to be subject to sanctions³³⁵. Nevertheless, it is not dogmatically correct to assume that such a possibility exists, as it would likely only have a basis on the principle of effectiveness³³⁶.

However, it is worth mentioning that the inability to impose any type of sanctions through the Article 7 mechanism has not remained solely on that level as the creation of an interdependence between the attribution of EU funds and the upholding of the rule of law in MSs has also been unsuccessful for the most part and the situation in Hungary and Poland played a role in this. The imposition of Economic sanctions on MSs, who are not complying with the core values of the EU, has been a point of discussion for some time. In the context of Art. 260 TFEU, by means of which the

³³² Konstantinides, T. 2017. *The Rule of Law in the European Union; the Internal Dimension*. Portland: Hart Publishing, p. 163

p. 163 ³³³ Scheppele, K. L., Kochenov, D. and Grabowska-Moroz, B. 2020. "EU Values Are Law, after All: Enforcing EU Values through Systemic Infringement Actions by the European Commission and the Member States of the European Union", *Yearbook of European Law*, Vol. 39, No. 1. Available at:

https://academic.oup.com/yel/article/doi/10.1093/yel/yeaa012/6064852?login=true p. 35 ibid

³³⁵ Pech, L. and Scheppele, K. L. 2017. "Illiberalism Within: Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU", *Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies* Vol. 19 available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3009280 p. 24

³³⁶ Ibid. p. 24

CJEU may impose a penalty payment on a MS not complying with its judgment, some MSs proposed the imposition of budgetary restrictions on MSs who fail to comply with both the Court's decision finding them to be deviating from the rule of law and its subsequent fine. The foreign Ministers of Germany, the Netherlands, Finland and Denmark addressed a letter to the Commission, with which they proposed the withholding of funds for such situations as a last resort measure³³⁷. It is important to keep in mind that Poland and Hungary are two of the largest recipients of EU regional and cohesion funding. Therefore, the possibility of withholding EU funds until a Member State complies with the values of the EU and the rule of law may in fact result in the those states' governments to finally comply³³⁸.

This became a reality only in 2020 with the establishment of Regulation 2020/2092 (Conditionality Regulation) which linked the funds of the Union to the rule of law. What needs to be taken into account is that the impairment of the rule of law situation in some MSs had to be addressed in conjunction with the macroeconomic policies of the EU, considering that the same MSs have used EU funds in support of illiberal political aims far from the Art. 2 TEU values. A legislative proposal for the adoption of a regulation to combat systemic deficiencies in MSs had already been put forward by the Commission in 2018³³⁹. The EP did adopt a position on this proposal, however, the Council was quite hesitant until July 2020 when the European Council decided to introduce a conditionality mechanism with the forthcoming budget of the Union (Multiannual Financial Framework) and the Recovery Fund (New Generation EU Fund), providing the political backing for the Regulation³⁴⁰.

The Commission published a draft of the Regulation on 5 November 2020, following the negotiations between the Council, the Parliament and the Commission³⁴¹. However, even though the publication was received positively by the majority of the EP and the MSs in the Council, Hungary and Poland threatened to veto the Own Resources Decision³⁴², hence the MFF and the NGEU. This was because although the Conditionality Regulation could be adopted on a qualified majority, the MFF had to be adopted on unanimity and the Own Resources Decision had to be approved by each MS according to its constitutional requirements³⁴³.

⁻

³³⁷ Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. Reinforcement of the Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union: Key Options, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) *Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe; From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation*. Portland: Hart Publishing p. 186

³³⁸ Pech, L. and Scheppele, K. L. 2017. "Illiberalism Within: Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU", Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies Vol. 19 available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3009280 p. 36

³³⁹ Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on the protection of the Union's budget in case of generalised deficiencies as regards the rule of law in the Member States, Brussels,2.5.2018 COM(2018) 324 final 2018/0136(COD)

³⁴⁰ European Council Conclusions of 17-21 July 2020, Special Meeting of the European Council, points 22-23

³⁴¹ Kierst, N. 2021. "Rule of Law Conditionality: The Long Awaited Step Towards a Solution of the Rule of Law Crisis in the EU?", *European Papers*. Vol. 6 No. 1 available at: https://www.europeanpapers.eu/en/europeanforum/rule-law-conditionality-long-awaited-step-towards-solution-rule-law-crisis p. 103

³⁴² "The Own Resources Decision (ORD) establishes how the EU budget is financed. Its entry into force requires approval by all EU Member States according to their constitutional requirements", European Parliament Think Tank, Briefing of 02.06.2021 available at:

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/thinktank/en/document.html?reference=EPRS_BRI(2021)690520

Kierst, N. 2021. "Rule of Law Conditionality: The Long Awaited Step Towards a Solution of the Rule of Law Crisis in the EU?", *European Papers*. Vol. 6 No. 1 available at: https://www.europeanpapers.eu/en/europeanforum/rule-law-conditionality-long-awaited-step-towards-solution-rule-law-crisis p. 103

The situation was resolved in the December Summit of the European Council through declaratory comprehensive statements among the heads of states leading to the adoption of the Regulation by the Council on 14 December 2020 and subsequently by the EP on the 16th, making it a law after its publication in the Official Journal of the EU³⁴⁴. This regulation has its legal basis on Article 322(1)(a) TFEU, which provides that the European Parliament and the Council, acting in accordance with the ordinary legislative procedure, and after consulting the Court of Auditors, shall adopt by means of regulations: the financial rules which determine in particular the procedure to be adopted for establishing and implementing the budget and for presenting and auditing accounts³⁴⁵. According to Article 1 of the Regulation its purpose is the protection of the budget of the Union when there is a breach of the principles of the rule of law, a declaration which outlines a practical view of the rule of law. This is further explained in Art. 2 where there is a specification of these principles which include the principles of legality, legal certainty, the prohibition of executive arbitrariness, effective judicial protection, separation of powers, non-discrimination and equality before the law³⁴⁶. The principal limitation of this Regulation, if it is to be considered a part of the core rule of law mechanism, is its very strict attachment to the EU budget. A MS violating the rule of law principles would be affected by this regime, only when its behavior has a sufficiently negative effect on the EU budget, and specifically, on the sound management of the Union budget or on the financial interests of the Union³⁴⁷.

Article 6 of the Regulation provides the procedure of triggering this regime. It is quite obvious that this is an EU mechanism, as it is visibly inspired by both the infringement procedure of Art. 258 TFEU and the rules of the Economic and Monetary Union. In the event that the Commission establishes the existence of a breach of the principles of the rule of law, it is to send a written notification to the MS concerned³⁴⁸. The MS may respond to the findings of the Commission and suggest remedial measures by providing its observations which are to be taken into consideration by the Commission before moving forward with the submission to the Council of the implementing act to cut funds³⁴⁹. It is worth noting that there had been proposals from the Commission and the EP to implement a reverse qualified majority voting procedure³⁵⁰ (taking inspiration from the EMU rules), which would mean that the MS concerned would have the burden of proof. However, this was not approved by the Council during the negotiations for the regulation, even though the Council Legal Service did not eliminate the possibility of a RQMV³⁵¹. It is important to take note of the fact that according to recital 26 of the Regulation a MS against which this procedure has been triggered, may exceptionally request the discussion of the issue in the European Council, in case it finds that the

³⁴⁴ Ibid. p. 104

³⁴⁵ Article 322(1)(a) TFEU

³⁴⁶ Article 2 (a) of Regulation 2020/2092 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2020 on a general regime of conditionality for the protection of the Union budget ³⁴⁷ Sachpekidou, E. 2021. *European Law*, 3rd edition. Athens: Sakkoulas, p. 154

See also Article 4 (1) of Regulation 2020/2092

³⁴⁸ Article 6 (1) of Regulation 2020/2092

³⁴⁹ Article 6(5), (6) of Regulation 2020/2092

³⁵⁰ Reverse Qualified Majority Voting (RQMV) means that the measures under discussion are deemed to be approved by the EU Council of Ministers unless a qualified majority of Member States overturns them

³⁵¹ Kierst, N. 2021, "Rule of Law Conditionality: The Long Awaited Step Towards a Solution of the Rule of Law Crisis in the EU?", European Papers. Vol. 6 No. 1, available at: https://www.europeanpapers.eu/en/europeanforum/rule-lawconditionality-long-awaited-step-towards-solution-rule-law-crisis p. 106

principles of objectivity, non-discrimination and equal treatment have been violated by the Commission's proposal. This leitmotiv of protecting a MS against a non-objective assessment by the Commission, concerning its compliance with the EU standards of the rule of law, has been used in the past by the Council to protect the interests of the MSs in the context of the 2014 rule of law framework of the Commission.

The substance of the principles of the rule of law is understood through the lens of Art. 2 TEU, in conjunction with the rest of the values of the EU³⁵². Nevertheless, there is a clear distinction as far as fundamental rights are concerned, since the Regulation is not directly linked to them, unless their infringement is linked to judicial protection or unequal treatment³⁵³. Article 3 provides an indicative, non-exhaustive list of examples of breaches of the principles of the rule of law, whereas Article 4(2) is indicative of how the breach of the rule of law may affect the Union budget, specifically when the mechanisms of the MS which are concerned with financial control, anti-corruption and prevention and combating of fraud are not properly functioning.

The measures that may be taken in defense of the Union budget from the rule of law backsliding in a MS are presented in Article 5 of the Regulation. This provision is closely related to Regulation 2018/1046 (Financial Regulation) and accordingly lays out two streams of measures based on whether funds are implemented by the Union itself or under shared management with MSs³⁵⁴. The imposition of these measures is not to affect the obligations government entities have towards the final recipients or beneficiaries based on the program or fund which was affected by said measures³⁵⁵. What is more, there is a provision for the lifting of the sanctions in cases where the breaches of the rule of law principles have been remedied by the MS itself. According to Article 7 of the Regulation the MS concerned may submit a written notification to the Commission supported by evidence that the conditions for the sanctions are no longer fulfilled. On the same note, the Commission has to review the existing measures annually and in the event that the measures are lifted, the MS may retrieve the funds withheld³⁵⁶.

However, the mechanism of the Conditionality Regulation has not been applied yet, since Hungary and Poland made a reference to the CJEU in March of 2021 concerning its conformity with the Treaties³⁵⁷. In its action for annulment of the Regulation³⁵⁸, the Republic of Poland contested its legal basis claiming that this article does not allow neither the establishment of a mechanism that indicates breaches of the rule of law, nor does it give the power to the Commission and the Council to indicate the infringement of the principles of the rule of law and to adopt measures for that matter³⁵⁹. Therefore, it alleges that this mechanism intends not the protection of the budget of the EU but rather

2

³⁵² Article 2(a) of Regulation 2020/2092

³⁵³ ibid

³⁵⁴ Article 5(1) of Regulation 2020/2092

³⁵⁵ Article 5(2) of Regulation 2020/2092

³⁵⁶ Article 7(3) of Regulation 2020/2092

³⁵⁷ Maurice, E. 2021. *Protecting Checks and Balances to Save the Rule of Law*. Fondation Robert Schuman, Policy Paper, European Issues no 590, available at: https://www.robert-schuman.eu/en/doc/questions-d-europe/qe-590-en.pdf p. 3

³⁵⁸ Seeking to annul the entirety of the Regulation

³⁵⁹ CJEU Case C-157/21, Action brought on 11 March 2021 — Republic of Poland v European Parliament and Council of the European Union, first plea in law available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A62021CN0157&qid=1635955694731

the imposition of sanctions to MSs failing to comply with the values of the Union. Its main argument was based on the presumption that legal tools in EU law for 'enforcing' the rule of law can only be based on Article 7 TEU; hence, the creation of a new instrument which is not provided in the Treaties is equivalent to a prohibited Treaty amendment. In consequence, the purpose of Regulation 2020/2092 is considered to be overlapping with that of Art. 7 TEU thus, bypassing the procedure that Article establishes³⁶⁰. Similarly, it submits that this legislation is breaching the principle of conferral of Articles 4(1) and 5(2) TEU and sees that it unduly restricts the 'core' of national sovereignty regarding its territorial integrity of the state its competence to ensure the maintenance of law and order and the protection of national security thus infringing Art. 4(2) TEU³⁶¹. The conflation of the rule of law with national security is not a new invention. France has used in the past the safeguarding of internal security as a legitimate aim in order to somewhat arbitrarily shut down their dwellings and deport illegal Roma migrants, in a case that was much debated concerning the legality of the actions of the French authorities and their compliance with the rule of law³⁶².

Moreover, the Polish Republic claims that this Regulation, by defining the 'rule of law' it limits the jurisdiction of the CJEU within the frame of Article 269 TFEU to decide on the legality of an act adopted by the European Council or by the Council pursuant to Article 7 TEU³⁶³. In the same vein, it brings forward a procedural argument concerning the feeble reasoning of the proposal for the regulation³⁶⁴. Articles 3 and 4(2) of the Regulation are deemed to be insufficiently clear and precise to meet the requirements of legal certainty. However, the Polish government presents this argument in a general fashion as well. Similarly, it broadly refers to a breach of the principle of proportionality without stipulating how that is, meaning whether the Regulation as a whole is disproportionate or specific provisions of it are and how would the principle of proportionality apply in this case³⁶⁵. The cornerstone of Poland's argumentation is a generic allegation of abuse of power claiming that the purpose of the regulation is not the protection of the budget of the Union but rather finding a leeway to avoid the high procedural standards of Art. 7 TEU and the substantive intricacies of basing an infringement procedure on the breach of the rule of law³⁶⁶.

On the other hand, Hungary in its own action for annulment took a different direction and sought to be more precise by alternatively asking for the annulment of specific provisions of the Conditionality Regulation. It primarily contests the legal basis of the Regulation, as did Poland, and structured its position on the same arguments of infringement of Article 7 TEU (and of Article 269 TFEU), viewed as the sole mechanism to review the situation of the rule of law in the Union and of a breach of the principle of conferral, enhancing it with a reference to a supposed infringement of the principle of institutional balance³⁶⁷.

_

³⁶⁰ Ibid. fifth plea in law

³⁶¹ Ibid. seventh plea in law

³⁶² Konstantinides, T. 2017. *The Rule of Law in the European Union: The Internal Dimension*. Portland: Hart Publishing, p. 147-148

³⁶³ Supra note no. 356 sixth plea in law

³⁶⁴ Ibid. fourth plea in law

³⁶⁵ Ibid. tenth plea in law

³⁶⁶ Ibid. eleventh plea in law

³⁶⁷ CJEU Case C-156/21 Action brought on 11 March 2021 — Hungary v European Parliament and Council of the European Union plea, first and second pleas in law, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A62021CN0156&qid=1635955619616

It then goes on to explain the incompatibility of some specific provisions of the Regulation with EU law. Firstly, Hungary alleges that Article 4 (1) of the Regulation, which provides that appropriate measures shall be taken where it is established that breaches of the principles of the rule of law in a Member State affect or seriously risk affecting the sound financial management of the Union budget or the protection of the financial interests of the Union in a sufficiently direct way, fails to observe the principle of legal certainty. Similarly, it found that the measures adopted under that provision would be disproportionate where the effect on the Union budget was not adequately defined 368. Furthermore, it observed that in Article 4(2)(h) the Regulation failed to specifically provide the situations under which the authorities of a MS influence the sound financial management of the Union by infringing the principles of the rule of law, thus it did not comply with legal certainty 369.

Moreover, according to the Hungarian government, Article 5(2), which provides that the adoption of measures, pursuant to Regulation 2020/2092, must not affect the obligations MSs have towards the final recipients of the funds that were targeted by the measures, should be annulled based on the fact that it has an effect on the budget of the MSs without having a sound legal basis to do so and it further discriminates between MSs hence it interferes with the principle of equality of the MSs³⁷⁰. This argument was also used by Poland without however making a reference to a distinct provision of the Regulation³⁷¹.

According to Article 5(3) 'the measures imposed shall be proportionate and determined in light of the actual or potential impact of the breaches of the principles of the rule of law on the sound financial management of the Union budget or the financial interests of the Union'. Nevertheless, Hungary chose to overlook the first sentence of that provision which explicitly demands that the measures adopted for the purposes of the Regulation shall be proportionate and focused on its third sentence according to which "the nature, duration, gravity and scope of the breaches of the principles of the rule of law shall be duly taken into account". Accordingly, they argued that this provision called into question the relationship between the breach of the rule of law and the impact on the Union budget making it incompatible with the legal basis of the Regulation and Article 7 TEU, while it was considered not to comply with the principle of legal certainty once more³⁷².

Similarly, they contested the legality of the last sentence of that same provision according to which "the measures shall, insofar as possible, target the Union actions affected by the breaches. The wording that the EU legislature chose ("in so far as possible") was again considered to be less than clear and precise and more importantly it was thought to be unable to guarantee the existence of a direct relationship between the breaches of the principles of the rule of law and the measures to be adopted, therefore it should be annulled for being disproportionate. However, it seems that this

⁻

³⁶⁸ Ibid. fourth plea in law

³⁶⁹ Ibid. fifth plea in law

³⁷⁰ Ibid. sixth plea in law

³⁷¹ CJEU Case C-157/21, Action brought on 11 March 2021 — Republic of Poland v European Parliament and Council of the European Union, eighth plea in law available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A62021CN0157&qid=1635955694731

GJEU Case C-156/21 Action brought on 11 March 2021 — Hungary v European Parliament and Council of the European Union plea, seventh plea in law, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A62021CN0156&qid=1635955619616

argument is somewhat poorly structured considering that the purpose of that provision is exactly to guarantee the proportionality of the measures, which shall be targeted to specifically 'compensate' for the damage done by the breaches of the rule of law principles in those concrete aspects of the budget of the Union.

Finally, Hungary asked for the annulment of paragraphs three and eight of Article 6 of the Regulation which referred to the sources of information the Commission may use to assess whether the conditions for the imposition of measures of Article 4 are fulfilled (paragraph 3) or to judge whether the measures are in fact proportionate (paragraph 8). On that note, they argued that both the information and the sources which are to be taken into account by the Commission are not sufficiently defined, making these provisions lack legal certainty³⁷³.

Therefore, it is evident that Poland and Hungary approached the annulment actions differently. Hungary came up with specific provisions in the Regulation which were in theory vaguely expressed (in some cases purposefully so) and sought their annulment on the basis of them causing legal uncertainty whereas Poland proceeded with a more general view. However, both contested the legal basis of the Regulation and claimed (although Poland did so more eloquently) that a new tool to enforce the rule of law is not possible considering that Article 7 TEU is the only mechanism provided for in the Treaties for this purpose, therefore its establishment would require a Treaty amendment. What these arguments fail to keep in mind is that the EU was principally an economic Union and it has used this primary aim to infiltrate all levels economic activity among MSs, creating a very close interdependence which has since been able to legitimize its control over many areas which the MSs perceived to be close to their sovereignty. Therefore, the protection of the Union funds does not seem at all an unlikely or even a 'pretend' purpose for the EU to seek to achieve through this Regulation. It is also false to assume that the rule of law is only maintained through the Article 7 TEU mechanism and any other new mechanism would require a Treaty amendment considering that the recent case law of the CJEU has quite effectively shown that the regular judicial procedures of Articles 258 and 267 TFEU have been used to implement the rule of law, even though this is not, strictly speaking, provided in their mandate.

³⁷³ Ibid. ninth plea in law

Conclusion

The activation of the preventive mechanism of Article 7 TEU in the cases of Hungary and Poland highlighted its weaker points. The political elements of this procedure ingrain all expressions of its functioning. The attempt to establish just the risk of a breach of the values of the EU has been severely delayed in both cases. The EU has been a witness of a serious deterioration in the level of liberal and democratic values of its two MSs and has still been unable to use its main instrument to remedy this disorder. The lack of political will in all EU institutions, even those who are not strictly speaking political, has been detrimental in these cases and it has been able to mask itself as the "nuclear" nature of Art. 7 TEU. Therefore, one could only assume that neither the reason behind the creation of that mechanism nor its aims sought for it to be "unenforceable" otherwise it would have ceased to exist. Hence, most likely the truth is that the unwillingness of the EP to lose political power based in Hungary and of the Commission to be discredited before the Council postponed the utilization of the mechanism and not the fear of a catastrophe or complete decomposition of the EU after its activation. This however, allowed the two MSs to continue their illiberal policies. It remains to be seen whether the new Conditionality mechanism will pass the test before the CJEU and will be applied.

Chapter II. The effects of the judicial procedures of Articles 258 and 267 TFEU in the rule of law crisis in the EU

The illiberal direction both Hungary and Poland have taken emerges through measures on the structure of the judiciary and of higher education, the freedom of the press or the organisation of the electoral system, which at first do not seem to be easily subject to infringement proceedings in the absence of a general EU competence in these fields. As a result, the Commission initially had to base its infringement actions on primary and secondary EU law usually with a relation to the principle of equal treatment or the fundamental freedoms of the internal market and not directly on the values of Art. 2 TEU. The most prominent example of this use of the 258 TFEU procedure was the Case C-286/12 Commission v. Hungary. However, following the Associação Sindical dos Juízes Portugueses judgment, which shall be analysed below, the Commission, was able to have a less technical perspective.

Paragraph 1. The use of the infringement procedure in the case of Hungary

The Commission decided to approach the decision of the Hungarian administration to lower the retirement age of judges, prosecutors and notaries from 70 to the general retirement age of 62, with an infringement procedure based on Directive 2000/78/EC establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation. This piece of secondary legislation, which has its legal basis on Article 19 TFEU was part of the employment and social policy of the EU and was directed towards gender equality and combating discrimination³⁷⁴. Accordingly, the Commission saw that the Hungarian legislation was obviously problematic and found that "the lowering of the age-limit for compulsory retirement applicable to judges, prosecutors and notaries from 70 to 62 gives rise to a difference in treatment based on age between persons within a given profession"³⁷⁵.

The Court, taking note of the principle of equal treatment (as it was defined in the Directive at issue) meaning the prohibition of direct (or indirect) discrimination, which is the less favorable treatment of a person than another in a similar situation, examined whether the allegation of the Commission was true. It held that the disputed national measure did in fact impose a less favorable treatment to workers who have reached that age compared to all other persons in the labour force, considering that individuals engaged in those professions and who had reached the age of 62 were in a comparable situation to younger individuals engaged in the same profession³⁷⁶. Article 6(1) of Directive 2000/78 allowed MSs some deviation from the principle of equal treatment when the national measure is objectively justified by a legitimate aim and where the means of achieving that

³⁷⁴ See Conceil de l' Union Europeenne Bruxelles, le 1er février 2001, 12458/00 LIMITE PV/CONS 61 SOC 363, 2296ème session du Conseil (Emploi et politique sociale), tenue à Luxembourg, le 17 octobre 2000 available at: https://data.consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST-12458-2000-INIT/fr/pdf

³⁷⁵ CJEU Case C-286/12, Judgment of the Court of 06.11.2012 *Commission v. Hungary*, ECLI:EU:C:2012:687, para. 24 ³⁷⁶ Ibid. paras. 50-51

aim are appropriate and necessary, providing essentially an exemption on the basis of the principle of proportionality³⁷⁷.

Accordingly, the CJUE found that even though the Hungarian law did not expressly set out a specific goal to be achieved the possibility for said law to be justified under that principle was not excluded³⁷⁸. The Court identified two objectives put forward by Hungary, first the standardization of the age limit for compulsory retirement in the context of professions in the public sector and secondly the establishment of a more balanced structure in order to facilitate access for younger individuals to the professions of judge, prosecutor and notary³⁷⁹. The Court had already held that the aims to be considered legitimate in the context of Article 6(1) of the Directive they have to be related to social policy, employment policy or labour market goals³⁸⁰. Having that in mind, the Court observed that both aims constituted legitimate employment and labour market policy objectives³⁸¹. As regards the first aim, it found that the reduction of the age limit in those professions was in principle an appropriate measure to achieve standardization. However, in applying the principle of proportionality, the Court highlighted that the abrupt and significant compulsory reducing of the retirement age was not a necessary measure, considering that there were no transitional measures and Hungary did not provide any evidence that a more lenient regulation would not be able to achieve the goal³⁸². On the second aim of facilitating to access to those professions for young lawyers, the Court noted that the measure would only have a short-term effect and therefore was not appropriate³⁸³. Consequently, the national measure was held by the Court, to give rise to a difference in treatment on the grounds of age and it was not justified by a legitimate aim based on the principle of proportionality.

Despite the Commission's 'victory', the Hungarian government was able to avoid restoring the judges to their prior jobs, especially those in higher positions, whose posts had been filled while the case was pending³⁸⁴. The fact that only 21 of the 152 reported by the Hungarian government judges were reinstated in their original jobs, whereas 56 chose a lump sum compensation, which is typical in discrimination cases, is indicative of the actual effect the infringement case had³⁸⁵. As a result, the government was able to reconstruct Hungary's judicial leadership according to its liking³⁸⁶. Therefore, the infringement was successful in legal terms but it was not able at alter the situation or grasp the gravity of the violation of EU values³⁸⁷.

The core of the issue was not merely a discrimination on the grounds of age but rather the breach of the principle of independence of the judiciary. In a similar case where the independence of

³⁷⁷ Ibid. para. 55

³⁷⁸ Ibid. paras. 57-58

³⁷⁹ Ibid. para. 59

³⁸⁰ Ibid. para. 60

³⁸¹ Ibid. paras. 61-62

³⁸² Ibid. paras 68-75

³⁸³ Ibid. paras 76-79

³⁸⁴ Scheppele, K. L., Kochenov, D. and Grabowska-Moroz, B. 2020. "EU Values Are Law, after All: Enforcing EU Values through Systemic Infringement Actions by the European Commission and the Member States of the European Union", *Yearbook of European Law*, Vol. 39, No. 1. Available at:

https://academic.oup.com/yel/article/doi/10.1093/yel/yeaa012/6064852?login=true p. 43

³⁸⁵ Ibid.

³⁸⁶ Ibid. p. 44

³⁸⁷ Ibid.

the ombudsman of the Hungarian office for data protection was at risk the CJEU held that "if it were permissible for every Member State to compel a supervisory authority to vacate office before serving its full term, in contravention of the rules and safeguards established in that regard by the legislation applicable, the threat of such premature termination to which that authority would be exposed throughout its term of office could lead it to enter into a form of prior compliance with the political authority, which is incompatible with the requirement of independence³⁸⁸". It has been suggested by professor Scheppele that were the Court to substitute the word "judge" for "supervisory authority" it would become clear that the independence of the judiciary was at the heart of the case³⁸⁹. Furthermore, when structuring its reasoned opinion for the infringement procedure, the Commission considered deploying a combined reading of Articles 2 and 19 TEU. According to Article 19 TEU, the national courts are to play an important role in ensuring the effective application of EU law thus, a measure undermining the independence of national courts would constitute a breach of that Article³⁹⁰. However, the Commission decided not to pursue that path in the end.

A similar strategy has been used in more recent cases, which in their essence concerned the situation of the rule of law in Hungary and have been named by the EP as reasons to initiate the Article 7(1) TEU. Firstly, as it has been mentioned, in spring of 2017 Hungary adopted, in an urgent legislative procedure, a law on higher education aiming at reforming the licensing regime applicable to foreign higher education institutions³⁹¹. More specifically it provided that universities originating in states outside the European Economic Area (EEA) would only be able to commence or continue their activities in Hungary provided that an international treaty had been concluded between that state (and in the case of federal states by their central government) and Hungary. Additionally, it was required for that institution to operate in Hungary to offer the same education in their country of origin³⁹². The law was perceived as being targeting Hungarian-born US businessman George Soros considering that he funded the Budapest-based Central European University (CEU) which was the only active foreign higher education institution in Hungary that did not meet the new requirements (hence, the law was publically known as Lex CEU)³⁹³.

The Commission brought an action for infringement before the CJEU claiming that the Hungarian law was incompatible with the General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS), concluded within the framework of the World Trade Organisation (WTO)³⁹⁴, the freedom of establishment (Article 49 TFEU), the free movement of services (Article 56 TFEU) and the provisions of the Charter relating to academic freedom (Article 13 of the Charter), the freedom to found higher education institutions (Article 14(3) of the Charter) and the freedom to conduct a business (Article 16 of the Charter). Hungary maintained that the action for infringement was in fact

-

³⁸⁸ CJEU Case C-288/12, Judgment of 08.04.2014 Commission v Hungary, ECLI:EU:C:2014:237, para. 54

³⁸⁹ Scheppele, K. L. 2016. Enforcing the Basic Principles of EU Law through Systemic Infringement Actions, In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) *Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union*. Cambridge University Press. p 116

³⁹⁰ Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. Reinforcement of the Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union: Key Options, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) *Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe: From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation*. Portland: Hart Publishing p. 184

³⁹¹ Nemzeti felsőoktatásról szóló 2011. évi CCIV. törvény módosításáról szóló 2017. évi XXV. törvény (Law No XXV of 2017, amending Law No CCIV of 2011 on national higher education)

³⁹² CJEU Case C-66/18, Opinion of Advocate General Kokott of 05.03.2020 *Commission v. Hungary*, ECLI:EU:C:2020:172, p. 1

³⁹³ Wahl, T. 2020. "Rule of Law Developments in Hungary", *eucrim* 19 May, available at: https://eucrim.eu/news/rule-law-developments-hungary/

³⁹⁴ "By Decision 94/800/EC of 22 December 1994 concerning the conclusion on behalf of the European Community, as regards matters within its competence, of the agreements reached in the Uruguay Round multilateral negotiations (1986-1994), 3 the Council approved the Agreement establishing the WTO and the Agreements in Annexes 1, 2 and 3 to that Agreement, which include the General Agreement on Trade in Services", CJEU Case C-66/18, Opinion of Advocate General Kokott of 05.03.2020 Commission v. Hungary, ECLI:EU:C:2020:172, p. 2 para. 7

inadmissible since it was based on illegitimate political interests of the Commission regarding the CEU. However, considering the wide margin of discretion of the Commission to initiate an infringement procedure, the Court held that it was not able to control the possible motives behind such an action³⁹⁵. Similarly, AG Kokott noted that the Commission's obligation is to state why it perceives that a MS has infringed EU law and not the reasons it led it to bring an action based on Art. 258 TFEU³⁹⁶. Moreover, the Court held that it had jurisdiction to examine cases disputing WTO law, as any international agreement entered into by the EU becomes an integral part of EU law, which was the case with the agreement establishing the WTO and the GATS³⁹⁷. According to Article 3(1)(e) TFEU, the EU has exclusive competence in the area of common commercial policy and even though MSs have retained broad competence in the field of education, commitments under the GATS which concern the liberalization of trade in private educational services fall within the common commercial policy competence³⁹⁸. Furthermore, Hungary contested the jurisdiction of the Court alleging that the dispute settlement system of the WTO had an exclusive interpretative power, to which the Court responded that the obligation of all Members of the WTO including the EU to observe its obligations under the law of the organisation expressly grants the CJEU to decide on such an infringement case³⁹⁹.

The substance of the case was based on an alleged infringement of Article XVII of the GATS via the imposition of the requirement of a prior international treaty. This provision declares that "each member of the WTO is required, in the sectors inscribed in its schedule of specific commitments and subject to any conditions and qualifications set out therein, to accord to services and service suppliers of any other member of the WTO treatment no less favorable than that it accords to its own like services and service suppliers". Therefore, members prescribe to a specific schedule of commitments (set out in two columns) and in the case of Hungary concerning the 'limitations on market access', as regards higher education services supplied by means of a commercial presence, it provided the condition that the establishment of schools is subject to license from the central authorities 400. In the 'limitations on national treatment', the according column contained the word 'none' as regards higher education services⁴⁰¹. Hence, what needed to be clarified was whether the prior authorisation requirement was equal to that imposed by the Hungarian law of a prior international treaty. The Court went on to specify that according to Article XX a prior authorisation reservation can apply to national treatment only in so far as it relates to a measure which is inconsistent both with the market access (Article XVI) and the national treatment commitment⁴⁰². The general nature of the prior authorisation scheme used by Hungary to limit market access was not discriminatory, hence it could not be used to rule out any breach of the principle of national treatment⁴⁰³.

Moreover, the Court established that the requirement of the conclusion of an international treaty imposed an additional condition for foreign providers the fulfillment of which was at the discretion of Hungarian authorities and thus it constituted a modification of the conditions of

³⁹⁵ CJEU Case C-66/18 Judgment of the Court of 06.10.2020 Commission v. Hungary, ECLI:EU:C:2020:792, paras. 56-

³⁹⁶ CJEU Case C-66/18, Opinion of Advocate General Kokott of 05.03.2020 Commission v. Hungary, ECLI:EU:C:2020:172, para. 82

³⁹⁷ CJEU Case C-66/18 Judgment of the Court of 06.10.2020 Commission v. Hungary, ECLI:EU:C:2020:792, paras. 69-

³⁹⁸ Ibid. paras. 74-75

³⁹⁹ Ibid. paras. 85-86

⁴⁰⁰ Ibid. para. 109

⁴⁰¹ Ibid. para. 110

⁴⁰² Ibid. para. 112

⁴⁰³ Ibid. paras. 113-114

competition in favor of Hungarian institutions⁴⁰⁴. Subsequently the Court examined whether the national measure was justifiable under the Article XIV exception of the GATS, which allowed members to provide restricting measures in order to safeguard public order and safety and prevent fraudulent practices, as long as they are not imposed arbitrarily or lead to unjustifiable discrimination between countries⁴⁰⁵. On that note, the Court held that Hungary failed to put forward any arguments to substantiate the claim that the lack of such a measure would cause a genuine and sufficiently serious threat to their interests⁴⁰⁶. Similarly, the AG noted in their Opinion, that the specific requirement, which demanded the central government to be the signatory of the international treaty in cases of federal third states was even more arbitrary considering it would be very unlikely to happen⁴⁰⁷Furthermore, it stated that the political power of the Hungarian authorities under those circumstances constituted a means of arbitrary discrimination⁴⁰⁸.

As far as the second requirement of the Hungarian law is concerned, the Court noted that it modified the conditions of competition in favor of Hungarian institutions⁴⁰⁹. Once more, it stated that the justification provided by Hungary on the grounds of protection of public order and prevention of fraudulent practices were insufficient and therefore they failed to fulfill their commitments under Article XVII of the GATS⁴¹⁰. Next, the Court examined the possibility of infringement of the fundamental freedoms of the internal market by the disputed national measure. It held that it constituted an unjustified restriction on both the freedom of establishment and the freedom to provide services of Article 16 of Directive 2006/123⁴¹¹.

Furthermore, the Commission based its infringement on an alleged breach of Articles 13, 14(3) and 16 of the Charter. On the applicability of the Charter, the Advocate General had pointed out in her Opinion that according to Article 51(1) of the Charter and in the light of the fact that the individual commitments under the GATS were obligations of the Union under international law, the EU institutions were bound by the Charter, whereas MSs were obligated to comply only when implementing EU law. However, this responsibility of the MSs did not go as far as meaning that measures adopted within their field of competence in the education sector have in general to be assessed in relation to the fundamental rights of the EU⁴¹². This shall be the case only when there are particular obligations imposed by EU law. Consequently, because the Hungarian legislation is not compatible with the duty of national treatment imposed by Article XVII of the GATS, the Charter should be considered applicable⁴¹³. The Court further added, on the applicability of the Charter, that the restrictions imposed on the fundamental freedoms of the internal market by the national measures, which Hungary claimed to be justified by overriding reasons in the public interest recognised by the EU, shall imply the implementation of EU law, hence applicability of the Charter⁴¹⁴.

In examining the possible breach of academic freedom protected under Article 13 of the Charter, the Court, as did the AG before, in the light of the jurisprudence of the ECtHR, it saw a

⁴

⁴⁰⁴ Ibid. paras 120-121

⁴⁰⁵ Ibid. para. 4

⁴⁰⁶ Ibid. para. 131

⁴⁰⁷ CJEU Case C-66/18, Opinion of Advocate General Kokott of 05.03.2020 Commission v. Hungary,

ECLI:EU:C:2020:172, para. 120

⁴⁰⁸ CJEU Case C-66/18 Judgment of the Court of 06.10.2020 Commission v. Hungary, ECLI:EU:C:2020:792, para. 136

⁴⁰⁹ Ibid. para. 147

⁴¹⁰ Ibid. paras. 154-156

⁴¹¹ Ibid. paras 190, 207

⁴¹² CJEU Case C-66/18, Opinion of Advocate General Kokott of 05.03.2020 Commission v. Hungary,

ECLI:EU:C:2020:172, para. 129

⁴¹³ Ibid.

⁴¹⁴ CJEU Case C-66/18 Judgment of the Court of 06.10.2020 Commission v. Hungary, ECLI:EU:C:2020:792, para. 214

relation of this right to the freedom of expression, especially in the field of research⁴¹⁵. What is more, the Court pointed out that academic freedom is not to be read strictly, as the researcher's freedom to express their views, but it should include an institutional and organizational dimension to it relating to the autonomy of educational institutions of this kind⁴¹⁶. The Court held that the measures adopted by Hungary were capable of limiting the freedom of foreign higher education institutions by preventing them from having the necessary infrastructure for conducting their scientific research and educational activities⁴¹⁷. For similar reasons Article 14(3) regarding the freedom to found educational establishments and Article 16 protecting the freedom to conduct a business were considered by the Court to be limited by the Hungarian legislation. Article 52(1) of the Charter provides that limitations on the rights and freedoms of the Charter could only be justified when they are provided by law and are respecting the essence of the rights and the principle of proportionality. However as it was shown above, the measures adopted by Hungary did not pass the proportionality test and therefore could not be justified.

The judgment of the Court in this Case was again a 'victory' for both the Commission and the Central European University. However, it was too late as by the time Hungary was condemned of not complying with EU law the University had already moved to Vienna obeying the Hungarian law⁴¹⁸. More importantly, the return of the university in Budapest is unlikely, considering the costs of relocation⁴¹⁹. Thus, it is evident that the effectiveness of the infringement procedures is limited by the length and duration of the procedure, considering that the Commission did not waste time in initiating the procedure⁴²⁰.

The results were similar in another highly debated case concerning the Hungarian law restricting the financing of NGOs⁴²¹. This legislation labeled "Transparency Law" was presented as aiming to ensure the transparency of civil organisations who received donations from abroad. It demanded that they register with the Hungarian courts as 'organisations in receipt of support from abroad' if they received foreign donations above a minimal amount. Furthermore, they had to indicate the names of donors whose support exceeded the sum of HUF 500.000 (€ 1.400) and the exact amount of the donation. Then they were obligated to publish that information on a freely accessible electronic platform. The civil organisations concerned must also state, on their homepage and in all their publications that they are an 'organisation in receipt from abroad'. The Commission brought forward a case for an infringement of Article 63 TFEU concerning the free movement of capital and Articles 7, 8 and 12 of the Charter, regarding the right to respect for private and family life, the right to the protection of personal data and the right to freedom of association.

The Court held that the transactions covered by the 'Transparency law" fell within the scope of Article 63 TFEU, specifically within the notion of movement of capital⁴²². It further declared that it was a restrictive measure of discriminatory character since it established a difference in treatment between domestic and cross-border movement of capital (considering that the two situations were alike) and it was able to deter natural or legal persons residing in other MSs from providing financial

⁴¹⁵ Ibid. para. 225

⁴¹⁶ Ibid. para. 227

⁴¹⁷ Ibid. para. 228

⁴¹⁸ Scheppele, K. L., Kochenov, D. and Grabowska-Moroz, B. 2020. "EU Values Are Law, after All: Enforcing EU Values through Systemic Infringement Actions by the European Commission and the Member States of the European Union", Yearbook of European Law, Vol. 39, No. 1. Available at:

https://academic.oup.com/yel/article/doi/10.1093/yel/yeaa012/6064852?login=true p. 48

⁴¹⁹ Ibid.

 $^{^{420}}$ The Commission launched the procedure three weeks after the adoption of the law. See supra note 333 at p. 6

⁴²¹ CJEU Case C-78/18, Judgment of the Court of 18.06.2020 Commission v. Hungary, ECLI:EU:C:2020:476

⁴²² Ibid. paras. 50-51

support to these organisations ⁴²³. More specifically the registering and publicity requirements singled out organisations receiving support from other MSs or third states and it made them subject to penalties were they not to comply⁴²⁴. Furthermore, the measures generated a climate of distrust regarding those associations⁴²⁵. The provision concerning disclosure of information in relation to persons offering a donation, which exceeds the set limit, is a further deterring factor. In consequence, the Court held that the obligations of registration declaration and publication and the according penalties provided for their non-compliance were infringing primary EU law that is Article 63 TFEU⁴²⁶.

Furthermore, the Court investigated the possibility of a justification of this restriction, which in theory could be found in an increased necessity for transparency as an overriding reason in the public interest⁴²⁷. Nevertheless, Hungary, who had the burden of proof of the proportionality of the measure and of the public interest it was serving, was unable to provide specific arguments to support validity of the measure, especially since it applied indiscriminately to all donations exceeding a certain threshold instead of targeting those, which may have a significant influence on public life and public debate⁴²⁸.

Accordingly, the Court examined the applicability of the exemption of Article 65(1)(b) TFEU according to which "the provisions of Article 63 shall be without prejudice to the right of Member States to take all requisite measures to prevent infringements of national law and regulations, in particular in the field of taxation and the prudential supervision of financial institutions, or to lay down procedures for the declaration of capital movements for purposes of administrative or statistical information, or to take measures which are justified on grounds of public policy or public security". The Court held that deviations from the general rule of Article 63 TFEU might rely on grounds of public policy or public security in fields where EU law is not harmonized and cannot ensure their protection especially as regards the fight against money laundering the financing of terrorism and organised crime 429. Still, these exemptions may not be relied upon unless there is a genuine, present and sufficiently serious threat to a fundamental interest in society, something that Hungary failed to prove. Therefore, the CJEU concluded that Hungary did not fulfill its obligations under Article 63 TFEU⁴³⁰.

In what concerns the infringement of the fundamental rights of the Charter, the Court held that the right to freedom of association of Article 12 thereof is essential to the functioning of a democratic and pluralist society and that the Transparency Law rendered the action of associations protected by that right more difficult⁴³¹. Similarly, the right to respect for private and family life protected under Article 7 of the Charter was limited by the obligations of declaration and publication of the national law, as was the right of Article 8(1) concerning the right to protection of personal data (which is closely related to that of Article 7 of the Charter)⁴³². Moreover, the Court noted that the limitations of the Transparency Law were not justified by the general interests Hungary relied upon, on the basis of the principle of proportionality set out in Article 52 of the Charter⁴³³.

11

⁴²³ Ibid. para. 57

⁴²⁴ Ibid. para. 58

⁴²⁵ Ibid.

⁴²⁶ Ibid. para. 65

⁴²⁷ Ibid. para. 78

⁴²⁸ Ibid. paras. 81,82, 86

⁴²⁹ Ibid. paras. 88, 89

⁴³⁰ Ibid. paras. 91, 93, 96

⁴³¹ Ibid. paras. 112, 115

⁴³² Ibid. paras. 132, 134

⁴³³ Ibid. paras. 139-141

However, even though the Commission won again, many prominent NGOs were essentially forced out of the country by the time the ECJ delivered its judgment⁴³⁴. Another restriction upon civil society was the so-called 'Stop Soros" legislation, which imposed a 25% tax on donations from organisations 'supporting illegal migration' and criminalized assistance to persons seeking asylum, including legal help, with a prison sentence of up to a year⁴³⁵. The Commission brought an action for infringement against that law which is still pending before the CJEU. More specifically the national law provides the criminalization of the organizing activity designed to enable asylum proceedings to be brought by persons who do not meet the criteria for the granting of international protection established by national law. The AG has delivered their Opinion in which they conclude that the national measure is liable to constitute an obstacle to the exercise of the rights guaranteed by EU law in relation to assistance for applicants for international protection⁴³⁶. It has been argued that the Commission could have brought an action on a systemic basis combining the three laws and avoided initiating multiple separate proceedings on a technical basis, which eventually allowed the Hungarian government to undermine the democratic foundations required by the Treaties⁴³⁷.

_

⁴³⁴ Scheppele, K. L., Kochenov, D. and Grabowska-Moroz, B. 2020. "EU Values Are Law, after All: Enforcing EU Values through Systemic Infringement Actions by the European Commission and the Member States of the European Union", *Yearbook of European Law*, Vol. 39, No. 1. Available at:

https://academic.oup.com/yel/article/doi/10.1093/yel/yeaa012/6064852?login=true p. 48

⁴³⁵ Ibid.

⁴³⁶ CJEU Case C-821/19, Opinion of Advocate General Rantos of 25.02.2021 *Commission v. Hungary*, ECLI:EU:C:2021:143, para 42

⁴³⁷ See supra note 433 at p. 49

Paragraph 2. The importance of the principle of judicial independence in the Case of Poland

The most important step in the case of Poland and in the enhancement of the role of the judicial instruments of the Union in reinforcing the rule of law in the EU happened in the Associação Sindical dos Juízes Portugueses Case⁴³⁸. In the context of EU financial assistance provided to Portugal, the Portuguese legislature introduced a temporary reduction in remuneration of persons working in Portuguese public administration including judges⁴³⁹. The ASJP challenged that measure on the basis of judicial independence enshrined not only in Portuguese but also in EU law as it is provided in Article 19(1) TEU and Article 47 of the Charter protecting the right to effective judicial protection and to a fair trial⁴⁴⁰. The issue was referred to the CJEU for a preliminary ruling according to the Art. 267 TFEU procedure.

The Court focused on the importance of the principle of judicial independence in the EU legal order, as specified in Art. 19(1) TEU, mainly through the independence of national courts and tribunals. It described this principle as giving concrete expression of the rule of law as stated in Art. 2 TEU, since it entrusts the responsibility for ensuring judicial review in the EU legal order not only to the CJEU but to national courts as well⁴⁴¹. Moreover, it noted that the mutual trust between MSs is based on the fundamental premise that they share common values on which the EU is founded and it highlighted the duty of sincere cooperation among MSs based on Article 4(3) TEU⁴⁴². Therefore, the Court ruled that national courts have a duty conferred by the Treaties to observe the effective application of EU law⁴⁴³. This led to a further conclusion according to which in order for EU law to produce its full effect and for private parties to benefit from the principle of effective judicial protection national courts have to be independent⁴⁴⁴.

The CJEU held that as national courts or tribunals within the meaning EU law are to be considered permanent, independent bodies, established by law, whose jurisdiction is compulsory, adjudicating, inter partes procedures and which are applying rules of law⁴⁴⁵. On that basis, the Court provided a set of criteria according to which national courts or tribunals are to review national measures, which may infringe the EU principle of judicial independence. More specifically it rule that they have to examine whether the measures in question are i) capable of affecting the independence of national judges ii) justified by an objective reason of public interest iii) proportionate iv) temporary v) specific to judges⁴⁴⁶. What is important to note is that the Court emphasized that the requirement of judicial independence, which it linked to Article 19 (1) TEU, is not limited at a Union level and does not concern only the Judges of the Union and Advocates-General, but also the national judges⁴⁴⁷.

As regards the scope of Article 19 TEU, the Court held that relates to 'the fields covered by Union law', irrespective of whether the Member States are implementing Union law, within the meaning of Article 51(1) of the Charter, hence the scope of application of Article 19(1) is different to

⁴³⁸ CJEU Case C-64/16, Judgment of the Court of 27.02.2018 Associação Sindical dos Juízes Portugueses v. Tribunal de Contas ECLI:EU:C:2018:117

⁴³⁹ Pech, L. and Platon, S. 2018. "Judicial independence under threat: The Court of Justice to the rescue in the ASJP case", *Common Market Law Review* Vol. 55, p. 1829

⁴⁴¹ CJEU Case C-64/16, Judgment of the Court of 27.02.2018 Associação Sindical dos Juízes Portugueses v. Tribunal de Contas ECLI:EU:C:2018:117 para. 32

⁴⁴² Ibid. para. 30

⁴⁴³ Ibid. para. 33

⁴⁴⁴ Ibid. para. 34, 37, 38, 41

⁴⁴⁵ Ibid. para. 38

⁴⁴⁶ Ibid. paras 46-51

⁴⁴⁷ Ibid. para. 42

that of Article 47 of the Charter⁴⁴⁸. Consequently, this ruling allows the possibility to allege violations of the principle of judicial independence by a national measure whose link with EU law is weak, or where the MS concerned was not implementing EU law in the sense of Art. 51 of the Charter and therefore it established a general obligation for MSs to ensure judicial independence⁴⁴⁹.

The importance of this judgment is found in the fact that it imposed an obligation to MS to observe the independence of their courts in order to give full effect to EU law. In a sense, it made the rule of law, viewed through the independence of the judiciary, an enforceable principle⁴⁵⁰. More importantly, it inspired the Commission to initiate infringement proceedings against Poland based on Article 19(1) TEU.

The Polish Supreme Court was simply another judicial institution to be compromised by the policies of the administration. As it has been mentioned, the national law concerning that court provided for the lowering of the age limit of its judges and gave the President of the Polish Republic the discretion to essentially reinstate the retired judges. As a result, 27 judges including the President of the Court were forced to leave office⁴⁵¹. Moreover, amendments to that law saw the number of judges in the Supreme Court increased and the procedure for their appointment to be influenced by the politically 'captured' National Council for the Judiciary, which was suspended from the European Network on Councils of the Judiciary for not being politically independent⁴⁵².

On that note, the Commission maintained that the Polish law lowering the retirement age for the judges of the Supreme Court infringed the principle of irremovability of judges whereas the granting to the President of the Republic the ability to extend the activity of judges that were about to retire was viewed as breaching the principle of judicial independence⁴⁵³. What was distinct about this infringement case was its practical effectiveness, which it owes to the utilization of the procedure of interim measures. In October 2018 the Vice-President of the Court granted interim measures suspending the relevant provisions of the national law and therefore guaranteeing that the judges would remain in their positions. The Order of the Court further required of Poland to refrain from adopting measures concerning the appointment of a new First President of the Supreme Court⁴⁵⁴. The Polish Government was unable to replace the judges; therefore it was possible that a judgment finding that they had left their posts prematurely would be enough to allow them to remain in office.

The Court in its Judgment in the Case of Independence of the Supreme Court practically repeated what had already established in the ASJP Case. It held that in the light of Article 49 TEU⁴⁵⁵, MSs have freely and voluntarily committed themselves to the common values of Article 2 TEU, to respect and promote them hence, the EU law is based on the fundamental premise that MSs share these values and each one of them trusts its counterparts to abide by them⁴⁵⁶. This premise is the

⁴⁴⁸ Ibid. para. 29

⁴⁴⁹ See supra note 437 at p. 1833

⁴⁵⁰ Scheppele, K. L., Kochenov, D. and Grabowska-Moroz, B. 2020. "EU Values Are Law, after All: Enforcing EU Values through Systemic Infringement Actions by the European Commission and the Member States of the European Union", *Yearbook of European Law*, Vol. 39, No. 1. Available at:

https://academic.oup.com/yel/article/doi/10.1093/yel/yeaa012/6064852?login=true p. 53

⁴⁵¹ Ibid. p. 55

⁴⁵² Ibid.

⁴⁵³ CJEU Case C-619/18, Judgment of the Court of 24.06.2019 *Commission v. Poland (Independence of the Supreme Court)*, ECLI:EU:C:2019:531 para. 63

⁴⁵⁴ CJEU Case C-619/18 R, Order of the Vice President of the Court of 19.10.2018 *Commission v. Poland (Independence of the Supreme Court)*, EU:C:2018:852

Article 49 TEU "Any European State which respects the values referred to in Article 2 and is committed to promoting them may apply to become a member of the Union."

⁴⁵⁶ CJEU Case C-619/18, Judgment of the Court of 24.06.2019 *Commission v. Poland (Independence of the Supreme Court)*, ECLI:EU:C:2019:531 para. 42

basis for the mutual trust among MSs that their court will uphold the values of the EU, including the rule of law and will implement EU law⁴⁵⁷. Accordingly, in the context of the preliminary procedure of Article 267 TFEU national courts play a part in establishing the autonomy and effectiveness of EU law⁴⁵⁸. In that frame, the Court repeated the ASJP case as regards the role of MSs in the upholding of the rule of law and of the principle of effective judicial protection by their national courts and tribunals⁴⁵⁹.

Moreover, the Court insisted on a recurring theme in its case law and EU law, according to which despite MS have competence in an area of law, they still have to comply with the obligations imposed by EU law. Consequently, although MSs have competence in the organization of their judiciary, however they have to comply with Article 19 (1) TEU and ensure that their courts and tribunals meet the requirements of effective judicial protection⁴⁶⁰. Nevertheless, the Court made it clear that requirement does not mean that the Union is claiming competence over this field⁴⁶¹. In the disputed Case, the Supreme Court was competent to rule on matters involving the application of EU law; hence, it had to maintain its independence⁴⁶².

Next, the Court presented the characteristics of judicial independence and made a distinction between its external and internal aspects. As it has been mentioned, the external aspect related to the autonomy of judges and the internal to their impartiality⁴⁶³. For these elements to be effective there need to be rules regarding the composition of judicial bodies, the length of service of judges and their dismissal. This is intended to be guaranteed by the principle of irremovability of judges among other things⁴⁶⁴. The Court then went on to examine the proportionality of the measures adopted by Poland, since they were considered prima facie incompatible with the principle of judicial independence. As far as the lowering of the retirement age is concerned, the CJEU held that the measure was not justified by a legitimate objective noting that there were serious doubts as to whether that reform was not aimed at side lining a specific group of judges of that court⁴⁶⁵. The Polish government presented the standardization of retirement age limits as a legitimate objective that the national measure sought to achieve, however the Court as it did in the Commission v. Hungary Case noted that "national provisions immediately and significantly lowering the age limit for compulsorily ceasing to serve as a judge, without introducing transitional measures of such a kind as to protect the legitimate expectations of the persons concerned who are in post upon the entry into force of those provisions, do not comply with the principle of proportionality".466.

As regards the discretionary power of the president of the Republic to decide whether to allow the judges of the Supreme Court to continue to carry out their duties once they have reached retirement age, according to the Polish government it constitutes a power derived from the prerogative to appoint judges conferred on him under the Constitution⁴⁶⁷. Thus, the main argument is that the President of the Polish Republic is the most fitting authority to protect the judiciary from interference by both the executive and legislative branches. Even though the decision to allow a judge of the Supreme Court to remain in their position is made under no procedural or substantive

⁴⁵⁷ Ibid.

⁴⁵⁸ Ibid. para. 45

⁴⁵⁹ Ibid. para. 47

⁴⁶⁰ Ibid. para. 52, 58

⁴⁶¹ Ibid.

⁴⁶² Ibid. paras. 56-59

⁴⁶³ Ibid. paras. 72-73

⁴⁶⁴ Ibid. para. 76

⁴⁶⁵ Ibid. para. 82

⁴⁶⁶ Ibid. para. 92

⁴⁶⁷ Ibid. para 103

guarantees and cannot be reviewed by a court⁴⁶⁸. Therefore, the Court was bound to rule that Poland breached Article 19(1) TFEU⁴⁶⁹. In its analysis, which led to this conclusion, the CJEU took note of the feeble guarantees provided by the national rule, especially as far as the prior involvement of the National Council for the Judiciary is concerned. On that note, it held that this body is not able to provide the President with objective information with regard to the exercise of their discretion to decide whether a judge of the Supreme Court may not be forcibly retired⁴⁷⁰.

The importance of this judgment can be traced in that it indirectly recognizes the systemic threat to the rule of law in Poland and it establishes a de facto precedent to retroactive lowering of the retirement age thus creating a deterring factor to any attempts in any MS to tamper with the independence of the judiciary⁴⁷¹. However, its practical effects were limited even if a significant number of Supreme Court judges had refused to unlawfully and forcibly retire and they were supported in that decision by both their Chief Justice and the interim measures of the CJEU⁴⁷². In addition, the Court did not address a significant concern raised by the Commission regarding the decision of the Polish President to increase the number of judges in the Supreme Court, something that would allow the Polish government to eventually capture it⁴⁷³. This question was to be answered in the preliminary request brought forward by that Court. Similarly, the Court was unable to address the lack of Constitutional review in Poland, considering that its Constitutional Tribunal had been restructured by the new legislature since 2016, and its credibility and independence were affected. This is problematic since this tribunal may be instumentalised by the Polish administration to avoid implementing legal obligations stemming from EU law, including non-compliance with judgments of the CJEU, and justify this behavior on constitutionality grounds⁴⁷⁴.

Another interesting issue addressed indirectly in this Case was the relationship between the mechanism of Article 7 TEU and the infringement procedure, in the context of upholding the rule of law in the EU. In his Opinion, AG Tanchev examined the argument concerning the nature of Article 7 TEU as a lex specialis in the monitoring and implementing EU values and for that reason having priority over the infringement procedure. Were that to be true, the Commission should not have initiated proceedings against Poland on the grounds that the preventive arm of the stricto sensu rule of law mechanism had been activated and the procedure was ongoing⁴⁷⁵. He rather considered that the Article 7(1) TEU and 258 TFEU are complementary⁴⁷⁶

An important point, which reappeared in the Independence of the Supreme Court case, was the relationship between Article 19(1) TEU and Article 47 of the Charter. AG Tanchev addressed this issue in his Opinion and specifically found that Poland failed to fulfill its obligations under Article 19(1) TEU while Article 47 of the Charter was not applicable in this case due to the limitations imposed by Article 51 thereof⁴⁷⁷. This problem comes up often in EU case law as regards the European Arrest Warrant (EAW). More specifically, in the LM preliminary request case

⁴⁶⁸ Ibid. para. 103

⁴⁶⁹ Ibid. para. 124

⁴⁷⁰ Ibid. para 117

⁴⁷¹ Pech, L. and Platon. S. 2019. The beginning of the end for Poland's so-called "judicial reforms"? Some thoughts on the ECJ ruling in Commission v. Poland (independence of the Supreme Court case). EU Law Analysis, available at: http://eulawanalysis.blogspot.com/2019/06/the-beginning-of-end-for-polands-so.html

⁴⁷² Ibid.

⁴⁷³ Ibid.

⁴⁷⁴ Ibid.

⁴⁷⁵ CJEU Case C-619/18, Opinion of Advocate General Tanchev of 11.04.2019 *Commission v. Poland (Independence of the Supreme Court)*, ECLI:EU:C:2019:325, para. 49
⁴⁷⁶ Ibid.

⁴⁷⁷ CJEU Case C-619/18, Opinion of Advocate General Tanchev of 11.04.2019 Commission v. Poland (Independence of the Supreme Court), ECLI:EU:C:2019:325, para. 67

(otherwise known as the Celmer judgment), the High Court of Ireland asked the CJEU whether the competent judicial authority is obliged to honor an EAW issued by Poland whose judicial independence is not guaranteed⁴⁷⁸. In its essence, the question was under which circumstances MSs might circumvent the principle of mutual trust, when the values of the EU are jeopardized. The Court held that the right to a fair trial of Article 47 of the Charter may be a 'device' for protecting other fundamental rights when they are vindicated in the course of litigation, however, it is also a means of guaranteeing the observance of the rule of law and of the principles of Art. 2 TEU⁴⁷⁹. Notwithstanding the fact that this judgment, much like the ASJP case, confirmed that judicial independence at a national level is not in its entirety left to the competence of the MSs, since its effects are mirrored in the EU legal order, it set the bar so high by demanding an assessment of the independence of the particular court in the particular proceeding that would hear the expedited person's case that postponing the surrender on the basis of inhuman treatment would be easier⁴⁸⁰.

Moreover, the Court revisited the reform of the Polish judicial system in the infringement proceedings concerning its Ordinary Courts. The aforementioned national law of July 2017 provided for a lowering of the retirement age of judges of the ordinary courts of Poland from 67 to 60 for female judges and 65 for male judges. The Commission brought an action for infringement under 258 TFEU against Poland with respect to the obligations arising from Article 157 TFEU⁴⁸¹ and Directive 2006/54⁴⁸². Firstly, the Court ruled that the national measure fell within the scope of both Article 157 TFEU and the Directive⁴⁸³. It stated, that the difference as regards the time when the retiring persons will have access to the advantages provided for by the pension schemes constituted a direct discrimination based on sex⁴⁸⁴. The Polish government put forward the argument that it constituted a positive discrimination measure in compliance with Article 157(4) TFEU. However, the Court replied that according to settled case law such a presumption cannot be accepted, considering that the national law did not seek to outbalance the disadvantages female judges are exposed to in their professional lives and were not a remedy to such problems⁴⁸⁵.

The Polish law also allowed the Minister for Justice to decide whether or not to permit judges of the ordinary courts to continue to carry out their duties beyond the new retirement age. Since it had the same motif as the law on the Polish Supreme Court, for which the CJEU had already ruled, the latter repeated its previous judgment. The Court held that the ordinary courts could be called to implement and interpret EU law and therefore they were covered by the scope of Article 19(1) TEU⁴⁸⁶. Accordingly, these courts have to independent within the meaning of the principle of judicial independence as interpreted by the CJEU⁴⁸⁷. The Court held that the fact that an institutional

478 CIEU Casa C 216/18 DDI

⁴⁷⁸ CJEU Case C-216/18 PPU, Judgment of the Court of 25.07.2018 *Minister for Justice and Equality (Deficiencies in the System of Justice)*, ECLI:EU:C:2018:586 para. 25

⁴⁷⁹ Ibid. para. 48

⁴⁸⁰ Ibid. paras. 52, 68, 73, 74

⁴⁸¹ Article 157 (1) Each Member State shall ensure that the principle of equal pay for male and female workers for equal work or work of equal value is applied. (2) For the purpose of this Article, 'pay' means the ordinary basic or minimum wage or salary and any other consideration, whether in cash or in kind, which the worker receives directly or indirectly, in respect of his employment, from his employer. Equal pay without discrimination based on sex means: (a) that pay for the same work at piece rates shall be calculated on the basis of the same unit of measurement; (b) that pay for work at time rates shall be the same for the same job.

⁴⁸² Directive 2006/54/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 July 2006 on the implementation of the principle of equal opportunities and equal treatment of men and women in matters of employment and occupation ⁴⁸³ CJEU Case C-192/18, Judgment of the Court of 05.11.2019 Commission v. Poland (Independence of Ordinary Courts), ECLI:EU:C:2019:924 paras. 60, 73

⁴⁸⁴ Ibid. para. 78

⁴⁸⁵ Ibid. paras. 79-82

⁴⁸⁶ Ibid. para. 104

⁴⁸⁷ Ibid. paras. 105, 108

instrument, such as the Minister for Justice, is entrusted with the power to decide whether or not to grant an extension to the period of judicial activity beyond the normal retirement age is, not sufficient in itself to conclude that the principle of independence has been undermined⁴⁸⁸. Moreover, it ruled that the procedural and substantial guarantees surrounding the decision-making powers of the Minister were not such as to dissolve the doubts concerning the independence of the judges⁴⁸⁹. The criteria on which the decision is to be based were too vague and unverifiable, while it does not need to state reasons it is not reviewable by a court and the length of the wait period for judges until it is delivered falls within the discretion of the Minister⁴⁹⁰.

In what concerns the principle of irremovability of judges, the Court repeated the ruling of the Supreme Court Case. This principle requires that judges remain in post provided that they have not reached the obligatory retirement age or until the expiry of their mandate, where that mandate is for a fixed term⁴⁹¹. Exceptions could only be allowed in order to protect a legitimate aim and subject to the principle of proportionality⁴⁹². Therefore, the combination of the measure of lowering the retirement age and of the discretion of the Minister in deciding whether to keep some judges or let them go cannot comply with the principle of proportionality⁴⁹³.

Furthermore, in the A.K. and Others Case, the Court was able to provide an answer to the preliminary question set forth by Polish Supreme Court, which concerned the independence of its Disciplinary Chamber. Three Polish judges of the Supreme Administrative Court and of the Supreme Court relied on an alleged infringement of the principle of equal treatment with respect to discrimination based on age in employment to challenge their retirement based on the 2017 law on the Supreme Court. Repeating its previous case law, the Court held that both Article 47 of the Charter and Article 19(1) TEU were applicable on the basis of the implementation of Directive 2000/78⁴⁹⁴. The Court again noted that the independence of the courts forms part of the right to effective judicial protection which is of cardinal importance in ensuring the protection of all rights individuals derive from EU law and of the values of the Union enshrined in Art. 2 TEU and specifically of the rule of law⁴⁹⁵. Moreover, it highlighted the importance of the principle of separation of powers in the context of the rule of law and noted that the independence of the judiciary is to be perceived in relation to the executive and legislative powers⁴⁹⁶.

As regards the independence of the Disciplinary Chamber the Court stated that the mere fact that the judges of this chamber were appointed by the President of the Republic does not in itself give rise to a relationship of subordination or to doubts about its impartiality as long as when they are appointed they are free from influence⁴⁹⁷. The prior participation of the National Council for the Judiciary in this selection of judges, which consists of proposing judicial appointments is in theory able to control the President's discretion, provided though that this body is observing independence guarantees⁴⁹⁸. Therefore, the referring court is to evaluate the circumstances under which the NCJ members are appointed and the way this body ensures the independence of courts⁴⁹⁹. The Court

4

⁴⁸⁸ Ibid. para. 119

⁴⁸⁹ Ibid. para. 120

⁴⁹⁰ Ibid. para. 122, 123

⁴⁹¹ Ibid. para. 113

⁴⁹² Ibid.

⁴⁹³ Ibid. para. 130

⁴⁹⁴ CJEU Joined Cases C-585/18, C-624/18 and C-625/18, Judgment of the Court of 19.11.2019 A.K. and Others (Independence of the Disciplinary Chamber of the Supreme Court), ECLI:EU:C:2019:982, paras. 81, 82

⁴⁹⁵ Ibid. para. 120

⁴⁹⁶ Ibid. para 124

⁴⁹⁷ Ibid. para. 133

⁴⁹⁸ Ibid. para. 137, 138

⁴⁹⁹ Ibid. para. 140

underlined that notice should be taken of the scope of the judicial review over the propositions of the NCJ considering that the President's appointment decisions are not amenable to such review⁵⁰⁰.

Next, the Court examined the specific characteristics of the Disciplinary Chamber. Considering that it had previously ruled on the incompatibility of provisions of the Polish law on the Supreme Court with Article 19(1) TEU, it noted that the Disciplinary Chamber was granted exclusive jurisdiction to rule on cases of retiring judges of the Supreme Court and that it had a high degree of autonomy in doing so. Moreover, it pointed out that these factors taken in isolation would not necessarily be able to interfere with its independence whereas their combination would of the CJEU ruled that it is for the referring court to determine the independence and impartiality of the Disciplinary Chamber. If these principles are deemed to be violated, then the primacy of EU law requires it not to apply the national rule, which awards exclusive jurisdiction to that court to rule on matters of the retirement of the Supreme Court judges 502.

It is worth mentioning that as of 27 October 2021 Poland is faced with interim measures imposing a daily penalty payment of € 1.000.000 essentially for not complying with the findings of the judgment concerning the Disciplinary Chamber of the Supreme Court, since the Commission had launched an infringement procedure on that basis and an interim order had been issued by the Vice-President of the Court⁵⁰³. This penalty came shortly after the Polish Constitutional Tribunal ruled against the primacy of EU law⁵⁰⁴.

_

⁵⁰⁰ Ibid. para 145

⁵⁰¹ Ibid. paras. 147-152

⁵⁰² Ibid. paras. 160-161

⁵⁰³ CJEU Press Release No 192/21, Luxembourg, 27 October 2021, Order of the Vice-President of the Court in Case C-204/21 R Commission v Poland, available at: https://curia.europa.eu/jcms/upload/docs/application/pdf/2021-10/cp210192en.pdf

Deutsche Welle, 07.10.2021. "Poland's top court rules against primacy of EU law", available at: https://www.dw.com/en/polands-top-court-rules-against-primacy-of-eu-law/a-59440843

Paragraph 3. The way forward

Even though both Hungary and Poland are subject to the procedure of Article 7(1) TEU and to a number of infringement procedures, which address their systemic issues in different ways, they still manage to promote their illiberal agenda. Most recently, they have introduced laws, which discriminate against persons of the LGBTIQ community.

In January 2021, the Hungarian Consumer Protection Authority obliged a publisher of a children's book, which featured LGBTIQ characters to include a disclaimer in the book that it depicted 'behavior deviating from traditional gender roles' 505. This was viewed by the Commission as a restriction to the right of freedom of expression and of non-discrimination as enshrined in Articles 11 and 21 of the Charter respectively 506. Moreover, it constituted a breach of Directive 2005/29/EC concerning unfair business-to-consumer commercial practices in the internal market 507. The Commission sent a letter of formal notice to Hungary claiming that this requirement was discriminatory on the basis of sexual orientation and imposed an unjustified restriction. Hungary on its part was unable to give grounds for its limitation on fundamental rights or to substantiate its claim over the negative effects of exposure to LGBTIQ content on children⁵⁰⁸.

Furthermore, Hungary adopted a new law in June 2021 to limit the access to content, which propagates 'a divergence from self-identity corresponds to sex at birth, sex change or homosexuality' for individuals under 18⁵⁰⁹. Notwithstanding that, the aim pursued by this legislation is the protection of minors, which is something that the EU protects, the reasons why the exposure to that content would be detrimental for minors have not been proven by Hungary⁵¹⁰. The Commission established a number of inconsistencies of that law as regards compliance with EU law. Firstly, it noted a breach of the Audiovisual Media Services Directive⁵¹¹ with respect to standards for audiovisual content and the free provision of cross-border audiovisual services, considering that the restrictions imposed by Hungary on the basis of sexual orientation were unjustified and disproportionate⁵¹². Then it brought forward the matter of compliance of the national law with the e-commerce Directive⁵¹³ and the country of origin principle, in that it prohibits the provision of services from other MSs, which

⁵⁰⁷ Ibid.

Directive 2005/29/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 May 2005 concerning unfair business-toconsumer commercial practices in the internal market and amending Council Directive 84/450/EEC, Directives 97/7/EC, 98/27/EC and 2002/65/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council and Regulation (EC) No 2006/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council (Unfair Commercial Practices Directive) (Text with EEA relevance) Text with EEA relevance and Directive (EU) 2019/2161 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019 amending Council Directive 93/13/EEC and Directives 98/6/EC, 2005/29/EC and 2011/83/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards the better enforcement and modernisation of Union consumer protection rules (Text with EEA relevance)

⁵⁰⁵ European Commission Press Release, 15 July 2021, "EU founding values: Commission starts legal action against Hungary and Poland for violations of fundamental rights of LGBTIQ people", available at: $\frac{https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_21_3668}{506}$ Ibid.

⁵⁰⁸ European Commission Press Release, 15 July 2021, "EU founding values: Commission starts legal action against Hungary and Poland for violations of fundamental rights of LGBTIQ people", available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip 21 3668 ⁵⁰⁹ Ibid.

⁵¹⁰ Ibid.

⁵¹¹ Directive 2010/13/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 10 March 2010 on the coordination of certain provisions laid down by law, regulation or administrative action in Member States concerning the provision of audiovisual media services (Audiovisual Media Services Directive) (Text with EEA relevance)

⁵¹³ Directive 2000/31/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2000 on certain legal aspects of information society services, in particular electronic commerce, in the Internal Market ('Directive on electronic commerce')

display different sexual orientations⁵¹⁴. Similarly, it unjustifiably restricted the cross-border information society services⁵¹⁵. Next, the Commission challenged the Hungarian law on the grounds that it failed to inform it in advance as it was obligated under the Single Market Transparency Directive (Directive 2015/1535)⁵¹⁶. Then, it went on to the infringements of primary EU law and of the fundamental economic freedoms, claiming that the national measure was breaching the freedom to provide services (Article 56 TFEU) and the free movement of goods (Article 34 TFEU) for the reason that it failed to demonstrate that the restrictions were justified non-discriminatory and proportionate⁵¹⁷. On that note, the Commission argued that Hungary was breaching fundamental rights protected by the Charter, which is applicable in so far as Hungary is implementing EU law. More specifically it stated that Article 8 of the Charter concerning data protection was violated by some of the provisions of the national law, as well as Article 1 protecting human dignity, Article 7 regarding the freedom of expression, Article 11 on the respect for private life and Article 21 on the right to non-discrimination. Interestingly enough, the Commission has referred to the values of Article 2 TEU, which it finds to be violate, considering the gravity of the infringements of EU law by the contested national measure⁵¹⁸.

In the case of Poland, it had been noted since 2019 that several municipalities and regions had adopted resolutions claiming to establish 'LGBTIQ-ideology free zones' The Commission considered that they might be breaching EU law regarding non-discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation and sought to assess them. However, Poland did not provide the information the Commission had requested Therefore, the Commission had to conclude that Polish authorities were obstructing the Commission from exercising the powers the Treaties have vested it with thus failing to observe their obligation of sincere cooperation under Article 4(3) TEU⁵²¹. Hence, the Commission sent a letter of formal notice to Poland.

The Commission did not depart from its technical approach to the infringement procedure and based most of its reasoning on EU secondary law and on the fundamental freedoms of the internal market. It does not take the systemic infringement route, however, the fact that it referred to a breach of Article 2 TEU based on the severity of the infringements of the rights of the Charter, is an important step in enforcing that provision, while at the same time it risks being interpreted on the basis of Article 51 of the Charter thus limiting its scope of application. Therefore, it remains to be seen how the Court will approach these proceedings.

Theoretically, in attempting to find MS liability under Article 2 TEU, it may also be argued that it is possible to link the restoring of the rule of law with the principle of solidarity, considering that it was highly emphasized in the Lisbon Treaty and enhanced by the CJEU case law. This is to be

⁵¹⁴ See supra note no. 506

Article 2(a) of Directive 2000/31/EC "For the purpose of this Directive, the following terms shall bear the following meanings: a) information society services: services within the meaning of Article 1(2) of Directive 98/34/EC as amended by Directive 98/48/EC"

Article 1(1)(b) of Directive (EU) 2015/1535 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 9 September 2015 laying down a procedure for the provision of information in the field of technical regulations and of rules on Information Society services (codifying Directive 98/48/EC) "service means any Information Society service, that is to say, any service normally provided for remuneration, at a distance, by electronic means and at the individual request of a recipient of services"

⁵¹⁶ According to this EU legislation, MSs' authorities have to inform the European Commission of any draft technical regulations on products and information society services before they are adopted in national law.

⁵¹⁷ See supra note 506

⁵¹⁸ Ibid.

⁵¹⁹ Ibid.

⁵²⁰ Ibid.

⁵²¹ Ibid.

considered since in a case of systematic breach of EU values "self-healing" of the deviating MS is most likely implausible therefore, 'external' assistance in the form of intervention of the EU with the cooperation of MSs or of the MSs using means of the Union is to be viewed as a gesture of solidarity⁵²².

On that note, it is worth examining the possibilities a direct state v. state action based on Article 259 TFEU may offer in enforcing the values of Article 2 TEU. This provision has been mostly ignored by commentators and scarcely been used. One of the reasons behind this is its use in the past. MSs have employed Article 259 TFEU attempting to achieve national political goals rather than the enforcement of EU law. This was clearly demonstrated in the Hungary v. Slovakia Case in which free movement of persons was invoked by Hungary when Slovakia refused entry to the Hungarian president under sensitive political circumstances⁵²³. Nevertheless, this provision is structured on the presumption that MSs have a shared interest in ensuring compliance with EU law among them and aims at exactly giving them the ability to bring their peers before the CJEU when they failed to fulfill their obligations under the Treaties⁵²⁴.

Another reason behind the general rejection of this Article is its placement in the Treaties and its relationship towards Article 258 TFEU. According to Article 259(2) TFEU "before a Member State brings an action against another Member State for an alleged infringement of an obligation under the Treaties, it shall bring the matter before the Commission". This procedure therefore is not entirely up to the MS to bring about, as it includes an institutional involvement through the reasoned opinion of the Commission, similarly to the Art. 258 TFEU procedure. In most cases the MS will not have to initiate the 259 TFEU procedure as the Commission will most likely take over through an infringement action, however, it cannot be pressured into submitting a reasoned opinion, considering as it has been mentioned above that it enjoys a wide margin of discretion in this aspect. It is understood that the Commission will not, and rightly so, initiate proceedings solely based on a national government's political aspirations and interests especially when the allegations against the receiving MS are not true⁵²⁵. Therefore, it seems that Article 259 TFEU is in a sort of auxiliary place in the EU rule of law enforcement scheme. Nevertheless, in the case of values enforcement, one should keep in mind that it is possible that direct state v. state actions may fulfill the gap caused by the Commission's reluctance to employ the infringement procedure for this purpose. The fact that the values of Article 2 TEU are presented as shared constitutional values among the MSs' legal orders (indicating that the institutions are not the principal actor in enforcing EU values) and the political character of Article 7 TEU, viewed as the stricto sensu rule of law mechanism add to this argument 526.

make-it-a-viable-rule-of-law-enforcement-tool/p. 12

⁵²² Konstantinides, T. 2017. The Rule of Law in the European Union; The Internal Dimension. Portland: Hart Publishing, p. 155
523 CJEU 364/10, Judgment of the Court 16.10.2012, Hungary v Slovak Republic, ECLI:EU:C:2012:630
The Crop for the Reinvention of Article 259 TFEU

⁵²⁴ Kochenov, D. 2015. Biting Intergovernmentalism: The Case for the Reinvention of Article 259 TFEU to Make It a Viable Rule of Law Enforcement Tool, Jean Monnet Working Paper 11/15, available at: https://jeanmonnetprogram.org/paper/biting-intergovernmentalism-the-case-for-the-reinvention-of-article-259-tfeu-to-

⁵²⁵ Ibid.

⁵²⁶ Ibid. p. 15

Moreover, it has been argued that this procedure is somewhat precarious in a sense that it challenges the relationships between the MSs. This is disproved by the ample litigation in the context of the CoE where largely similar values have been at stake and direct state v. state action has been used (albeit in extreme circumstances), demonstrating that this concept is not all catastrophic for intereuropean relations. Considering the difficulties of setting in motion the Article 7 TEU mechanism and the limited initiatives of the Commission based on Article 258 TFEU, it is possible to view Article 259 TFEU as another option in implementing the rule of law in the EU, in a way that does not threaten the principle of conferral (as it has been argued in the case of the infringement procedure). Nevertheless, such a possibility should be handled with caution and not exceed the limits of EU law, within the supranational sphere and not adhering to intergovernmentalism, as it happened in the aforementioned case of Austria⁵²⁷. On the contrary, it has been suggested that a peer review mechanism or a 'horizontal Solange' scheme, which would allow MSs to impose sanctions not in the context of EU law but rather outside it, would be most effective⁵²⁸. At any case, the infamous letter of 6 March 2013 sent by four Foreign Affairs Ministers (of Germany, the Netherlands, Finland and Denmark) to the President of the Commission is able to show that some MSs are more eager to fight for the implementation of EU values than others considering also that actions brought by several states are not per se precluded by Art. 259 TFEU. In that letter, they proposed the creation of a mechanism preceding the Art. 7 TEU procedure, based on the prominent role of the Commission which shall be able to conclude binding agreements with the MS concerned in order to resolve the situation, prior to which a consultation with that MS would be held⁵²⁹. However, that proposal would require a Treaty hence, was amendment it not realized.

_

⁵²⁷ Ibid. p. 17

⁵²⁸ Argalias, P. 2018. The EU Mechanisms for Safeguarding the Rule of Law in the Member States. In: Chrysomallis, M. D. (edit.) *The Principle of the Rule of Law in the Legal Order of the European Union*. Nomiki Bibliothiki: Athens, p. 98 ⁵²⁹ Kumin, A. J. 2016. Global Activities and Current Initiatives in the Union to Strengthen the Rule of Law – A State of Play, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe: From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation. Portland: Hart Publishing. p. 216

Conclusion

The CJEU led by the Commission's infringement actions was able to address the rule of law issues in Hungary and Poland however somewhat ineffectively. The limitations of the scheme of the procedure of Art. 258 TFEU allowed these MSs to continue the restructuring of their constitutions and judicial systems establishing an illiberal governance pattern and essentially overturning the rulings of the CJEU. Nevertheless, it was the Court of Justice, who made an important step in rediscovering the restrictions of addressing matters, which fall within the competence of the MSs and which are close to their sovereignty, in the context of EU law. This is further proof of the 'ever closer' Union and of the interdependence built in the frame of the Union. The CJEU used the principle of judicial independence in order to get through to the rule of law. It based its reasoning on the fact that the national judge is also a European judge therefore is responsible to implement and interpret EU law and for that reason, the Union may intervene in the organisation of the judiciary of a MS. The inability of a MS to guarantee the protection of the interests of the Union and of its citizens allows the EU to step in fields that are traditionally considered to be at the core of the state. Still, the Commission has not been 'brave' enough to bring that issue forward in a more direct way, using Article 2 TEU as a basis for the litigation. The latest developments in Hungary and Poland make them fitting for such a procedure.

Conclusions

It is evident that the distinction highlighted in this dissertation between the stricto and lato sensu of the rule of law mechanism of the Union is deeply rooted in the historic evolution of the Union.

The EU steadily moved from an economic Union between European States to a supranational sui generis organisation which allowed a close cooperation and finally (albeit partial) integration of the legal orders of its MSs, based on their common constitutional traditions and societal and legal values. However, the eastward (post-communist) enlargement of the Union caused some turmoil as the targeted states and legal orders were not in tune with what the original states considered their institutional basis. In order to protect that perception of the EU they introduced a mechanism to combat MSs' behaviors that depart from the rule of law of the EU. It is this part where things get more complex. There is a will within the EU to control the governance choices of its MSs, which was reflected in the Treaty and the Art. 7 TEU mechanism. However, the high procedural and substantive standards of this procedure make it hard to be activated and turn it dependent on the political willingness of the institutions vested with the power to trigger it.

As a result, when illiberalism, nationalism and Euroscepticism came to surface the main tool the EU had created to combat those situations was acutely ineffective. This led the Court of Justice to reinvent the provisions of the Treaties, as it has done in the past, in order to control the damage. The classic judicial procedures provided by the Treaties, intended to protect EU law and the interests of the persons stemming from it, were used in order to 'interfere' with fields close to what is traditionally perceived as national sovereignty, like the structure of the judiciary. In a balancing act, on the edge of EU competence, the CJEU has been able to connect the EU rule of law, perceived through the principle of legality and the judicial review of the acts of its institutions, with the national rule of law. In other words, it was able to use an instrument intended to safeguard the compliance with EU law to impose restrictions on MSs who deviate from the basics of western liberal democracies and therefore break the orthodox borders between the national and supranational legal order. One could see an analogy between the values of the EU mirrored in the national values and the other way round. However, the multiplicity of national legal orders and the respective interpretations and contents of the shared values, in the context of the EU, disrupt this analogy.

Nevertheless, the progressive jurisprudence of the CJEU has not proved to be adequate in restraining the undemocratic, at large, route some MSs have taken. They have been able to get away with not conforming to the judgments of the Court and have only been prevented by specific and targeted interim measures of the Court. Therefore, the Union has altered its approach and recently came up with a new Regulation in order to make the financing of MSs by the Union conditional upon their compliance to the rule of law. This seems the most pragmatic of perspectives and in theory is likely to be the most effective. Even though the situation in some MSs continues to deteriorate and challenge the Union, this mechanism, which is neither based on Art. 7 TEU nor on 260 TFEU and as such does not involve neither the Court nor the Council (at least not in the same way Art. 7 does) cannot yet be implemented as the intention to link the economic constitution of the Union to its legal and political values has been questioned before the Court by the MS which were likely to be the first targets of its implementation.

The stricto sensu rule of law mechanism in all its expressions, both soft and hard law, which and intended to prevent a derailing of the values of the EU and the effects that would have in the internal market was unable to do exactly that. Similarly, the mechanisms developed by the Treaties to ensure compliance with EU law in a wider sense, which had to be broadened in order for the judge of the Union to give legal enforceability to the values of the Union have not been as successful. These results could hence be attributed to the perhaps new and underdeveloped political reflexes of the EU and the respectively formed common European democratic conscience and the still existing limits to the competence of the Union. However, the developments in this area are all the more worrying in a way that questions the effectiveness of EU law in protecting its citizens and the power of the Union to impose the democratic and legal standards it prides itself to be a guardian of.

 ${\bf Tables}$ Infringement Proceedings before the CJEU 2012-2016 530

	2012		2013		2014		2015		2016	
	Infringement declared	Dismissed	Infringement declared	Dismissed	Infringement declared	Dismissed	Infringement declared	Dismissed	Infringement declared	Dismissed
Belgium	5	1	2	1	4		2		1	
Bulgaria					1	1	2		1	
Czech Republic	1		2	2					1	
Denmark			1	1	1		1			
Germany	1	2		2	3	1	3		1	
Estonia	1									
Ireland	2		3	1				1		
Greece	5		2	1	4		3		4	
Spain	3		6		6				3	
France	4		5	3	1		4		1	
Croatia										
Italy	3		7	1	6		2		1	
Cyprus	2		1						1	
Latvia							1			
Lithuania					1					
Luxembourg			1	1			2		1	
Hungary	1		1		2				1	
Malta										1
Netherlands	3	1	2	2		1			1	1
Austria	3			1						1
Poland	3		4	2	4		3	1	2	
Portugal	5			1	3				6	
Romania									1	
Slovenia	1		1				1			
Slovakia		1	1					2		
Finland	1			2						
Sweden	1		1	1	1		1			
United Kingdom	2			1	4		1	1	1	1
Total	47	5	40	23	41	3	26	5	27	4

-

⁵³⁰ Court of Justice of the European Union Annual Report 2016 Judicial Activity, p. 99, available at: https://curia.europa.eu/jcms/upload/docs/application/pdf/2017-03/ra_jur_2016_en_web.pdf

Infringement proceedings before the CJEU 2016-2020⁵³¹

	2016		2017		2018		2019		2020	
	Infringement declared	Dismissed								
Belgium	1		1		2		1		3	
Bulgaria	1		1		1				1	
Czech Republic	1				2			1		
Denmark						1				
Germany	1		4		2	1	3			1
Estonia										
Ireland			1		1		2		2	
Greece	4		5		4		2		2	
Spain	3		2		3		1	1	2	
France	1				1		1			
Croatia							1			1
Italy	1				2		5	1	3	
Cyprus	1								1	
Latvia							1			
Lithuania										
Luxembourg	1		1							
Hungary	1		1		1		1		4	
Malta		1			1					
Netherlands	1	1					1			
Austria		1			1	1	1		2	
Poland	2				4		3		1	
Portugal	6		2				1			1
Romania	1				1				2	
Slovenia			1		1				1	
Slovakia					1					
Finland									1	
Sweden										
United Kingdom	1	1	1		2		1		1	
Total	27	4	20		30	3	25	3	26	3

_

⁵³¹ Court of Justice of the European Union Annual Report 2020 Judicial Activity, p. 218, available at: https://curia.europa.eu/jcms/upload/docs/application/pdf/2021-04/ra_jud_2020_en.pdf

Bibliography

Bibliography in Greek

Argalias, P. 2018. The EU Mechanisms for Safeguarding the Rule of Law in the Member States. In: Chrysomallis, M. D. (edit.) *The Principle of the Rule of Law in the Legal Order of the European Union*. Athens: Nomiki Bibliothiki

Christianos, V., Papadopoulou, R. E., Perakis, M. 2021. *Introduction to European Union Law*, 2nd edition. Athens: Nomiki Bibliothiki

Foucault, M. 2012. *The Birth of Biopolitics: Lectures at the College de France* (1978—1979). Athens: Plethron.

Sachpekidou, E. 2021. European Law, 3rd edition. Athens: Sakkoulas

Bibliography in English

Literature

Adam, S. 2019. Judicial Independence as a Functional and Constitutional Instrument for Upholding the Rule of Law in the European Union. In: Craig, P et al. *Rule of Law in Europe Perspectives from Practitioners and Academics*. European Judicial Training Network. Available at: https://www.ejtn.eu/News/Rule-of-Law-in-Europe-Perspectives-from-Practitioners-and-Academics1/pp. 15-42

Badó, A. and Bóka, J. 2016. Access to Justice and Judicial Independence: Is there a Role for the EU?. In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) *Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe: From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation*. Portland: Hart Publishing. pp. 46-60

Bugarič, B. 2016. Protecting Democracy inside the EU: On Article 7 TEU and the Hungarian Turn to Authoritarianism, In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) *Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union*. Cambridge University Press. pp. 82-101

Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. 2016. Reinforcement of the Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union: Key Options, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) *Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe: From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation*. Portland: Hart Publishing. pp. 173-195

Craig, P. 2019. Definition and Conceptualisation of the Rule of Law and the Role of Judicial Independence therein. In: Craig, P. et al. *Rule of Law in Europe Perspectives from Practitioners and Academics*. European Judicial Training Network. Available at: https://www.ejtn.eu/News/Rule-of-Law-in-Europe--Perspectives-from-Practitioners-and-Academics1/ pp. 1-14

Hillion, C. 2016. Overseeing the Rule of Law in the EU Legal Mandate and Means. In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) *Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union*. Cambridge University Press. pp. 59-81

Kumin, A. J. 2016. Global Activities and Current Initiatives in the Union to Strengthen the Rule of Law – A State of Play, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) *Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe: From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation*. Portland: Hart Publishing pp. 46-60

Lenaerts, K. 2019. Overview of the Case Law of the Court of Justice of the European Union with Respect to the Rule of Law. In: Craig, P et al. *Rule of Law in Europe Perspectives from Practitioners and Academics*. European Judicial Training Network. Available at: https://www.ejtn.eu/News/Rule-of-Law-in-Europe--Perspectives-from-Practitioners-and-Academics1/ pp. 70-79

Lichtenberger, E. 2016. The Rule of Law in European Policy: A Parliamentarian's View, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) *Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe: From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation*. Portland: Hart Publishing. pp. 252-264

Palombella, G. 2016. Beyond Legality – Before Democracy: Rule of Law Caveats in the EU Two-Level System, In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) *Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union*. Cambridge University Press. pp. 36-58

Pech, L. 2003. Rule of law in France. In: Peenerboom, R. Asian Discourses of Rule of Law: Theories and implementation of rule of law in twelve Asian countries, France and the U.S. London: Routledge

Scheppele, K. L. 2016. Enforcing the Basic Principles of EU Law through Systemic Infringement Actions, In: Closa, C. and Kochenov, D. (edit.) *Reinforcing Rule of Law Oversight in the European Union*. Cambridge University Press. pp. 107-132

Schroeder, W. 2016. The European Union and the Rule of Law – State of Affairs and Ways of Strengthening, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) *Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe: From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation*. Portland: Hart Publishing. pp. 3-34

Tzortzi, V. et al. 2020. Mutual Trust in Times of Crises of EU Values; State of Play and Possible Next Steps. Athens-Thessaloniki: Sakkoulas Publications

Von Danwitz, T. 2016. The Rule of Law in the Recent Jurisprudence of the ECJ, In: Schroeder, W. (edit.) *Strengthening the Rule of Law in Europe: From a Common Concept to Mechanisms of Implementation*. Portland: Hart Publishing. pp. 155-169

Articles

Burin, F. S. 1966. "Executive power and the Rule of Law in the Fifth French Republic", *Social Research*. Vol. 33, No. 3: pp. 407-438

Chachko, E. 2019. "Foreign affairs in court: Lessons from CJEU Targeted Sanctions Jurisprudence", *Yale Journal of International Law.* Vol. 44. No. 1, pp. 1-52

De Burca, G. (2004). "Beyond the Charter: How Enlargement Has Enlarged the Human Rights Policy of the European Union", *Fordham International Law Journal*. Vol 27, No 2: pp. 679-714.

De Búrca, G. 2018. "Is EU Supranational Governance a Challenge to Liberal Constitutionalism?", *The University of Chicago Law Review*. Vol. 85, No. 2: pp. 337-368

"Editorial Comments: Hungary's new constitutional order and 'European unity". 2012. *Common Market Law Review*. Vol. 49 Issue 3, pp. 871 – 883 available at:

https://kluwerlawonline.com/journalarticle/Common+Market+Law+Review/49.3/CO LA2012033

Kochenov, D. and Pech, L. 2015. "Monitoring and Enforcement of the Rule of Law in the EU: Rhetoric and Reality", *European Constitutional Law Review*. Vol. 11: pp 512 - 540

Letourneur, M. and Drago, R. 1958. "The Rule of Law as Understood in France", *The American Journal Of Comparative Law.* Vol. 7 No. 2: pp. 147-177

Pech, L. and Scheppele, K. L. 2017. "Illiberalism Within: Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU", *Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies*. Vol. 19: pp. 3 - 47: available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3009280

Pech, L. and Platon, S. 2018. "Judicial independence under threat: The Court of Justice to the rescue in the ASJP case", *Common Market Law Review*. Vol. 55: 1827–1854

Scheppele, K. L., Kochenov, D. and Grabowska-Moroz, B. 2020. "EU Values Are Law, after All: Enforcing EU Values through Systemic Infringement Actions by the European Commission and the Member States of the European Union", *Yearbook of European Law*. Vol. 39, No. 1: pp. 3-121 Available at:

https://academic.oup.com/yel/article/doi/10.1093/yel/yeaa012/6064852?login=true

Research Papers

Andersen, S. 2011. "Non-Binding Enforcement of EU Law: Interpretation or Centralisation and Norm and Norm Assimilation?" Paper to be presented at EUSA Twelfth Biennial International Conference, Boston, Massachusetts, March 3-5, 2011, available at: http://aei.pitt.edu/52089/

De Schutter, O. 2017. Infringement Proceedings as a Tool for the Enforcement of Fundamental Rights in the European Union. Open Society European Policy Institute, available at: https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/publications/infringement-proceedings-tool-enforcement-fundamental-rights-european-union

Dumbrovski, T. 2018. Beyond Voting Rights Suspension: Tailored Sanctions as Democracy Catalyst under Article 7 TEU, European University Institute Robert Schuman Centre for Advanced Studies, Working Paper 2018/12, available at: https://cadmus.eui.eu/handle/1814/52925

Halmai, G. 2018. The possibility and desirability of economic sanction: Rule of law conditionality requirements against illiberal EU Member States. European University Institute Department of Law, EUI Working Paper LAW 2018/06, available at: https://me.eui.eu/gabor-halmai/wp-content/uploads/sites/385/2018/06/Halmai-2018-Hague_Journal_on_the_Rule_of_Law.pdf

Kierst, N. 2021. "Rule of Law Conditionality: The Long Awaited Step Towards a Solution of the Rule of Law Crisis in the EU?", European Papers. Vol. 6 No. 1, available at: https://www.europeanpapers.eu/en/europeanforum/rule-law-conditionality-long-awaited-step-towards-solution-rule-law-crisis

Kochenov, D. 2015. Biting Intergovernmentalism: The Case for the Reinvention of Article 259 TFEU to Make It a Viable Rule of Law Enforcement Tool, Jean Monnet Working Paper 11/15, available at: https://jeanmonnetprogram.org/paper/biting-intergovernmentalism-the-case-for-the-reinvention-of-article-259-tfeu-to-make-it-a-viable-rule-of-law-enforcement-tool/

Maurice, E. 2021. Protecting Checks and Balances to Save the Rule of Law. Fondation Robert Schuman, Policy Paper, European Issues no 590, available at: https://www.robert-schuman.eu/en/doc/questions-d-europe/qe-590-en.pdf

Pech, L. 2009. The Rule of Law as a Constitutional Principle of the European Union. Jean Monnet Working Paper 04/09. Available at:

https://jeanmonnetprogram.org/paper/the-rule-of-law-as-a-constitutional-principle-of-the-european-union/

Sadurski, W. 2010. Adding a Bite to a Bark? A Story of Article 7, the EU Enlargement and Jörg Haider. Sydney Law School, Legal Studies Research Paper No. 10/01, available at: Social Science Research Network Electronic Library http://ssrn.com/abstract=1531393

Vachudova, M. and Spendzharova, A. 2012. "The EU's Cooperation and Verification Mechanism: Fighting Corruption in Bulgaria and Romania after EU accession",

European Policy Analysis. Issue 2012:1, Swedish Institute for European Policy Studies, available at: https://www.sieps.se/en/publications/2012/the-eus-cooperation-and-verification-mechanism-fighting-corruption-in-bulgaria-and-romania-after-eu-accession-20121epa/

Electronic Bibliography

Deutsche Welle, 07.10.2021. "Poland's top court rules against primacy of EU law", available at: https://www.dw.com/en/polands-top-court-rules-against-primacy-of-eu-law/a-59440843

Michelot, M. 2019. "The "Article 7" Proceedings against Poland and Hungary: What Concrete Effects?". Notre Europe Institut Jacques Delors, Europeum Institute for European Policy, available at: https://institutdelors.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/190415-EN-Etatdedroit.pdf

Pech, L. and Platon. S. 2019. "The beginning of the end for Poland's so-called "judicial reforms"? Some thoughts on the ECJ ruling in Commission v. Poland (Independence of the Supreme Court case)". *EU Law Analysis*, available at: http://eulawanalysis.blogspot.com/2019/06/the-beginning-of-end-for-polands-so.html

Viktor Orbán's speech at the 28th Bálványos Summer Open University and Student Camp, 22 July 2017, Tusnádfürdő (Băile Tuşnad, Romania), available at: https://visegradpost.com/en/2017/07/24/full-speech-of-v-orban-will-europe-belong-to-europeans/

Wahl, T. 2020. "Rule of Law Developments in Hungary", eucrim 19 May, available at: https://eucrim.eu/news/rule-law-developments-hungary/

Documents of the Institutions of the European Union

CJEU Press Release No 192/21, Luxembourg, 27 October 2021, Order of the Vice-President of the Court in Case C-204/21 R Commission v Poland, available at: https://curia.europa.eu/jcms/upload/docs/application/pdf/2021-10/cp210192en.pdf

Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament on Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union, Respect for and promotion of the values on which the Union is based, COM(2003) 606 final, Brussels, 15.10.2003, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A52003DC0606

Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council, Brussels, 19.3.2014 COM(2014) 158 final/2, A new EU Framework to strengthen the Rule of Law, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A52014DC0158

Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, Brussels 17.07.2019, COM(2019) 343 final, Strengthening the Rule of Law within the Union; A Blueprint for Action, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=COM%3A2019%3A343%3AFIN

Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of Regions, Brussels, 30.9.2020 COM(2020) 580 final, 2020 Rule of Law Report; The rule of law situation in the European Union, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0580

Conceil de l' Union Europeenne Bruxelles, le 1er février 2001, 12458/00 LIMITE PV/CONS 61 SOC 363, 2296ème session du Conseil (Emploi et politique sociale), tenue à Luxembourg, le 17 octobre 2000 available at:

https://data.consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST-12458-2000-INIT/fr/pdf

Conclusions of the Presidency - Copenhagen, June 21-22 1993, no 7 Relations with the countries of Central and Eastern Europe, available at:

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/summits/copenhagen/default_en.htm

Council of the European Union, Opinion of the Legal Service on the Commission's Communication on a new EU framework to strengthen the Rule of Law: compatibility

with the Treaties, Brussels 27.05.2014, Doc 10296/14, available at: https://data.consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST-10296-2014-INIT/en/pdf

Council of the European Union, Brussels, 9 July 2021 (OR. en) 10246/21, LIMITE JAI 793 FREMP 197 POLGEN 122 AG 57, Note From General Secretariat of the Council On 9 July 2021 To Delegations Subject: Rule of Law in Poland - Article 7(1) TEU Reasoned Proposal - Report on the hearing held by the Council on 22 June 2021 available at: https://www.statewatch.org/media/2618/eu-rule-of-law-council-poland-outcome-hearing-22-6-21-10246-21.pdf

Court of Justice of the European Union, Annual Report 2020, Judicial Activity, available at: https://curia.europa.eu/jcms/jcms/Jo2 7000/en/

European Commission, Brussels, 20.12.2017 COM(2017) 835 final 2017/0360 (NLE) Reasoned Proposal in Accordance with Article 7(1) of the Treaty of the European Union Regarding the Rule of Law in Poland, Proposal for a Council Decision on the determination of a clear risk of a serious breach by the Republic of Poland of the rule of law, available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex:52017PC0835

European Commission Press Release, 15 July 2021, "EU founding values: Commission starts legal action against Hungary and Poland for violations of fundamental rights of LGBTIQ people", available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip 21 3668

European Council Conclusions of 17-21 July 2020, Special Meeting of the European Council, available at: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/media/45109/210720-euco-final-conclusions-en.pdf

European Parliament Legislative Resolution on the Commission communication on Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union: Respect for and promotion of the values on which the Union is based (COM(2003) 606 – C5-0594/2003 – 2003/2249(INI)), P5_TA(2004)0309, no G (2), p. 2 available at:

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/sides/getDoc.do?reference=P5-TA-2004-0309&type=TA&language=EN&redirect

European Parliament, Report on the Commission communication on Article 7 of the Treaty on European Union: Respect for and promotion of the values on which the

Union is based (COM(2003) 606 – C5-0594/2003 – 2003/2249(INI)) Committee on Constitutional Affairs Rapporteur: Johannes Voggenhuber, 1 April 2004, available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/sides/getDoc.do?reference=A5-2004-0227&type=REPORT&language=EN&redirect

European Parliament Report A6-0224/2008 of 4.6.2008 on the role of the national judge in the European judicial system (2007/2027(INI)) Committee on Legal Affairs Rapporteur: Diana Wallis, available at:

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/A-6-2008-0224_EN.html

European Parliament Resolution on the Result of the Legislative Elections in Austria and the Proposal to Form a Coalition Government Between the ÖVP (Austrian People's Party) and the FPÖ (Austrian Freedom Party), Thursday 3 February 2000, B5-0101, 0102, 0103, 0106 and 0107/2000, Official Journal of the European Communities, available at: https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/41c6cef0-0425-4117-9134-190c9d12dcb0

European Parliament Resolution of 3 July 2013 on the situation of fundamental rights: standards and practices in Hungary (pursuant to the European Parliament resolution of 16 February 2012) (2012/2130(INI)), available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-7-2013-0315 EN.html

European Parliament resolution of 16 December 2015 on the situation in Hungary (2015/2935(RSP)) (2017/C 399/13), available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=CELEX%3A52015IP0461

European Parliament Resolution of 25 October 2016 with recommendations to the Commission on the establishment of an EU mechanism on democracy, the rule of law and fundamental rights, available at:

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-8-2016-0409_EN.html

European Parliament Resolution of 12 September 2018 on a proposal calling on the Council to determine, pursuant to Article 7(1) of the Treaty on European Union, the existence of a clear risk of a serious breach by Hungary of the values on which the Union is founded (2017/2131(INL)), P8_TA(2018)0340, available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-8-2018-0340_EN.html

European Parliament Resolution of 14 November 2018 on the need for a comprehensive EU mechanism for the protection of democracy, the rule of law and fundamental rights, available at:

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-8-2018-0456 EN.html

European Parliament resolution of 7 October 2020 on the establishment of an EU Mechanism on Democracy, the Rule of Law and Fundamental Rights, available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-9-2020-0251 EN.html

European Parliament Think Tank, Briefing of 02.06.2021 available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/thinktank/en/document.html?reference=EPRS_BRI(2 021)690520

Note from the Presidency to the Council "Ensuring Respect for the Rule of Law", 14 November, 2014, available at:

https://data.consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST%2015206%202014%20INIT/EN/p df

Poptcheva, E. M. 2016. 922 Understanding the EU Rule of Law Mechanisms, Briefing of January 2016, European Parliamentary Research, Members' Research Service, available at:

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2016/573922/EPRS_BRI%282 016%29573922_EN.pdf

Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on the protection of the Union's budget in case of generalised deficiencies as regards the rule of law in the Member States, Brussels,2.5.2018 COM(2018) 324 final 2018/0136(COD), available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52018PC0324Reding, V., Vice-President of the European Commission, EU Justice Commissioner, A new Rule of Law initiative, Press Conference, European Parliament, Strasbourg, 11 March 2014, available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/SPEECH 14 202

Secrétariat général du Conseil de l'Union européenne (Politique de l'Information, transparence et relations publiques), Conférence intergouvernementale en vue de la révision des traités – Semestre de la Présidence irlandaise (juillet à décembre 1996) : recueil de textes, Bruxelles, février 1996. Available at:

Legislation

Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union

Council Directive 76/207/EEC of 9 February 1976 on the implementation of the principle of equal treatment for men and women as regards access to employment, vocational training and promotion, and working conditions

Council Directive 2000/78/EC of 27 November 2000 establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation

Council Regulation (EC) 168/2007 of 15 February 2007 establishing a European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights

Directive 2000/31/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2000 on certain legal aspects of information society services, in particular electronic commerce, in the Internal Market ('Directive on electronic commerce')

Directive 2005/29/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 May 2005 concerning unfair business-to-consumer commercial practices in the internal market and amending Council Directive 84/450/EEC, Directives 97/7/EC, 98/27/EC and 2002/65/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council and Regulation (EC) No 2006/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council (Unfair Commercial Practices Directive)

Directive 2006/54/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 July 2006 on the implementation of the principle of equal opportunities and equal treatment of men and women in matters of employment and occupation

Directive 2010/13/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 10 March 2010 on the coordination of certain provisions laid down by law, regulation or administrative action in Member States concerning the provision of audiovisual media services (Audiovisual Media Services Directive) (Text with EEA relevance)

Directive (EU) 2015/1535 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 9
September 2015 laying down a procedure for the provision of information in the field of technical regulations and of rules on Information Society services (codifying Directive 98/48/EC) "service means any Information Society service, that is to say, any service normally provided for remuneration, at a distance, by electronic means and at the individual request of a recipient of services"

Directive (EU) 2019/2161 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019 amending Council Directive 93/13/EEC and Directives 98/6/EC, 2005/29/EC and 2011/83/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards the better enforcement and modernisation of Union consumer protection rules

Nemzeti felsőoktatásról szóló 2011. évi CCIV. törvény módosításáról szóló 2017. évi XXV. törvény (Law No XXV of 2017, amending Law No CCIV of 2011 on national higher education)

Regulation (EC) No 810/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 July 2009 establishing a Community Code on Visas

Regulation 2020/2092 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2020 on a general regime of conditionality for the protection of the Union budget

Rules of Procedure of the European Parliament

Treaty establishing the European Community

Treaty establishing the European Economic Community

Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union

Treaty of the European Union

Case law

CJEU Case C-157/21, Action brought on 11 March 2021 — Republic of Poland v European Parliament and Council of the European Union, available at: https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A62021CN0157&qid=1635955694731

CJEU Case C-156/21 Action brought on 11 March 2021 — *Hungary v European Parliament and Council of the European Union*, available at: https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A62021CN0156&qid=1635955619616

CJEU Case 101/78, Judgment of the Court of 13.02.1979, *Granaria BV v Hoofdproduktschap voor Akkerbouwprodukten*, ECLI:EU:C:1979:38, para. 5

CJEU Case 294/83, Judgment of the Court 23.04.1986, *Parti écologiste 'Les Verts' v. European Parliament*, ECLI:EU:C:1986:166, para. 23

CJEU Case 222/84, Judgment of the Court of 15.05.1986, *Marguerite Johnston v Chief Constable of the Royal Ulster Constabulary*, ECLI:EU:C:1986:206

CJEU joined Cases C-6/90 and C-9/90 Judgment of the Court of 19.11.1991, *Andrea Francovich and Danila Bonifaci and others v Italian Republic*, ECLI:EU:C:1991:428

CJEU Case C-210/91, Judgment of the Court of 16.12.1992, *Commission of the European Communities v Hellenic Republic*, ECLI:EU:C:1992:525

CJEU Joined Cases C-402/05 P and C-415/05 P, Judgment of the Court 03.09.2008, Kadi and Al Barakaat International Foundation v Council and Commission, ECLI:EU:C:2008:46, paras. 81, 281, 285, 316

CJEU 364/10, Judgment of the Court 16.10.2012, *Hungary v Slovak Republic*, ECLI:EU:C:2012:630

CJEU Case C-286/12, Judgment of the Court of 06.11.2012 *Commission v. Hungary*, ECLI:EU:C:2012:687, para. 24

CJEU Case C-288/12, Judgment of 08.04.2014 *Commission v Hungary*, ECLI:EU:C:2014:237, para. 54

CJEU C-689/13, Judgment of the Court 5.4.2016, *Puligienica Facility Esco SpA* (*PFE*) v Airgest SpA, ECLI:EU:C:2016:199

CJEU Case C-64/16, Judgment of the Court of 27.02.2018 Associação Sindical dos Juízes Portugueses v. Tribunal de Contas ECLI:EU:C:2018:117

CJEU Case-403/16, Judgment of the Court of 13.12.2017, Soufiane El Hassani v Minister Spraw Zagranicznych, ECLI:EU:C:2017:960

CJEU Case C-66/18 Judgment of the Court of 06.10.2020 *Commission v. Hungary*, ECLI:EU:C:2020:792, paras. 56-57

CJEU Case C-78/18, Judgment of the Court of 18.06.2020 *Commission v. Hungary*, ECLI:EU:C:2020:476

CJEU Case C-192/18, Judgment of the Court of 05.11.2019 *Commission v. Poland* (Independence of Ordinary Courts), ECLI:EU:C:2019:924

CJEU Case C-216/18 PPU, Judgment of the Court of 25.07.2018 Minister for Justice and Equality (Deficiencies in the System of Justice), ECLI:EU:C:2018:586

CJEU Joined Cases C-585/18, C-624/18 and C-625/18, Judgment of the Court of 19.11.2019 A.K. and Others (Independence of the Disciplinary Chamber of the Supreme Court), ECLI:EU:C:2019:982

CJEU Case C-619/18, Judgment of the Court of 24.06.2019 *Commission v. Poland* (*Independence of the Supreme Court*), ECLI:EU:C:2019:531

CJEU Case C-650/18, Judgment of the Court of 03.06.2021 *Hungary v. European Parliament*, ECLI:EU:C:2021:426

CJEU Opinion 2/94, Opinion of the Court of 28.03.1996, Accession by the Community to the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, ECLI:EU:C:1996:140

CJEU, Opinion 2/13, Opinion of the Court of 6.2.2014, Draft international agreement — Accession of the European Union to the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms — Compatibility of the draft agreement with the EU and FEU Treaties, ECLI:EU:C:2014:2454

CJEU Case C-66/18, Opinion of Advocate General Kokott of 05.03.2020 *Commission* v. *Hungary*, ECLI:EU:C:2020:172,

CJEU Case C-619/18, Opinion of Advocate General Tanchev of 11.04.2019

Commission v. Poland (Independence of the Supreme Court), ECLI:EU:C:2019:325

CJEU Case C-821/19, Opinion of Advocate General Rantos of 25.02.2021 *Commission v. Hungary*, ECLI:EU:C:2021:143

CJEU Case C-619/18 R, Order of the Vice President of the Court of 19.10.2018 *Commission v. Poland (Independence of the Supreme Court*), EU:C:2018:852

CJEU Case C-204/21 Order of the Vice-President of the Court of 27.10.2021 *Commission v. Poland*, ECLI:EU:C:2021:878

Court of First Instance T-337/03, Order of the Court of 02.04.2004, *Bertelli Gálvez v. Commission*, ECLI:EU:T:2004:106